TITANIUM-CATALYZED ONE-POT MULTICOMPONENT COUPLING REACTIONS FOR DIRECT ACCESS TO HETEROCYCLES

By

Amila Abishake Dissanayake

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Chemistry--Doctor of Philosophy

2013

ABSTRACT

TITANIUM-CATALYZED ONE-POT MULTICOMPONENT COUPLING REACTIONS FOR DIRECT ACCESS TO HETEROCYCLES

By

Amila Abishake Dissanayake

Titanium-catalyzed multicomponent reactions have been utilized in the synthesis of various heterocycles and natural products. In this research further applications of titanium-catalyzed multicomponent reactions towards the synthesis of nitrogen containing heterocycles are investigated.

The first part of the thesis discusses the development of novel titanium complexes bearing the 2-(2 -pyridyl)-3,5-dimethylpyrrole ancillary ligands. This novel titanium catalyst demonstrates the single step synthesis of 1,3-disubstituted pyrazoles can be prepared in a one-pot fashion from terminal alkyne, isonitrile, and monosubstituted hydrazines (Chapter 2).

Titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling of an alkyne, isonitrile, and amine can be used to generate tautomers of 1,3-diimines. These diimines produced in situ undergo cyclization with hydroxylamine hydrochloride, glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride and malononitrile in a one-pot procedure to provide isoxazoles (Chapter 3), pyrrole-2-carboxylates (Chapter 4) and aminopyridines (Chapter 5) respectively. Finally substituted quinolines from the acid mediated cyclizations of diimines have also been synthesized. For their biological activity and inhibitions of the 20S proteasome of these substituted quinolines are currently under investigation (Chapter 6).

Copyright by AMILA ABISHAKE DISSANAYAKE 2013 I dedicate this dissertation to my loving parents, Mrs. Anoma Dissanayake and Mr. Lionel Dissanayake for their continuous love and encouragement, and my dearly wife Dr. Hashini Galhena Dissanayake for her patience, sacrifice and the support

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to specially acknowledge my major advisor Professor Aaron Lynn Odom, for all his support and guidance during my stay at Michigan State University. I would like to thank Michigan State University for their education and financial support over the years, and also for the graduate school for the thesis completion fellowship.

Secondly I would like to thank my advisory committee members Professor William D. Wulff, my second reader, Professor Jetze J. Tepe and Professor James K. McCusker for being a wealth information as well as guidance throughout my graduate career and wonderful research discussions. Also special thanks for Professor Tepe's group for the collaborative project.

I would also like to acknowledge my past and present group members: Nick deserves special thanks for being such a wonderful friend and colleague for last 3 years.

My sincere appreciation goes to several wonderful people who work at Department of Chemistry making my graduate life delightful. Thank you Mr. Paul Reed, Mr. Chris Preffer (Computer facility) for being patient with me. Many thanks go to Dr. Daniel Homes, Mr. Kermit Johnson (NMR facility) and Dr. Richard J. Staples for their help in running various NMR experiments and solving crystal structures. I am thankful to all my teaches at University of Colombo; specially Professor Dilip de Silva and Professor Dayal P. de Costa for education and giving me many opportunities to grow as a scientist. Lastly, I would like to express my deepest sense of gratitude to my father, my mother and my wife for all their sacrifice, love, support and faith they put on me which helped me to succeed in every aspects of life.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	IX
LIST OF FIGURES	XI
LIST OF SCHEMES	XII
KEY OF ABBREVIATIONS	XV

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION TO MULTICOMPONENT COUPLING REACTIONS	1
1.1 Introduction to multicomponent coupling reactions	1
1.2 Transition metal catalyzed multicomponent coupling reactions	5
1.3 Odom group chemistry and diversity oriented synthesis	8
1.4 Diversity oriented synthesis (DOS) via multicomponent coupling reactions	13
REFERENCES	16

CHAPTER 2. SINGLE-STEP SYNTHESIS OF PYRAZOLES USING TITANIUM

CATALYSIS	
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Results and Discussion	
2.3 Conclusion	
2.4 Experimental	
REFERENCES	

CHAPTER 3. REGIOSELECTIVE CONVERSION OF ALKYNES TO 4-SUBSTITUTED	
AND 3,4-DISUBSTITUTED ISOXAZOLES USING TITANIUM-CATALYZED	
MULTICOMPONENT COUPLING REACTIONS	61
3.1 Introduction	61
3.2 Results and Discussion	65
3.3 Conclusion	77
3.4 Experimental	78
REFERENCES	92

CHAPTER 4. TITANIUM-CATALYZED MULTICOMPONENT COUPLING REACTION	\mathbf{V}
FOR THE SYNTHESIS OF 4-SUBSTITUTED AND 4,5-DISUBSTITUTED PYRROLE-2-	-
CARBOXYLATES	96
4.1 Introduction	96
4.2 Results and Discussion	. 100
4.3 Conclusion	. 110
4.4 Experimental	. 111

IZC INCES

CHAPTER 6. SUBSTITUTED QUINOLINES AS NON-COMPETETIVE INHIBITION OF

ΓΗΕ HUMAN PROTEASOME	
6.1 Introduction	
6.2 Results and Discussion	
6.3 Conclusion	
6.4 Experimental	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Examples of pyrazoles syntheses using phenylhydrazine and a variety of alkynes 24
Table 2.2: Examples of pyrazoles syntheses using hex-1-yne and a variety of hydrazines 29
Table 3.1: Examples of isoxazoles syntheses using hydroxylamine hydrochloride with different terminal alkynes 70
Table 3.2: Effect of R^1 on the isomer ratio in the synthesis of 4-phenyl-3-methylisoxazole 73
Table 3.3: Solvent effects on the isomer ratio in the synthesis of 4-phenyl-3-methylisoxazole 75
Table 3.4: Examples of isoxazoles syntheses using hydroxylamine hydrochloride with different internal alkynes 76
Table 4.1: Examples of pyrrole-2-carboxylates syntheses using glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride with different terminal alkynes 102
Table 4.2: Examples of pyrrole-2-carboxylates syntheses using glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride with different internal alkynes 106
Table 4.3: Scaleing up of ethyl 4-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate
Table 5.1: Optimization study for the synthesis of 1a in protic solvents 142
Table 5.2: Optimization study for the synthesis of 1a using various organic bases
Table 5.3: Optimization study for the synthesis of 1a 145
Table 5.4: Examples of substituted 2-amino-3-cyanopyridine syntheses using 1-phenylpropyneand a variety of primary aryl and alkyl amines
Table 5.5: Examples of substituted 2-amino-3-cyanopyridine syntheses using aniline with other alkynes 151
Table 5.6: Optimization study for the synthesis of 1b. 153
Table 5.7: Examples of substituted 2-amino-3-cyanopyridine syntheses using various amines and with various alkynes 155
Table 5.8: Reaction conditions to convert 1-(<i>tert</i> -butyl)-2-imino-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3- carbonitrile (2b) to 2-(<i>tert</i> -butylamino)-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (2a)
Table 6.1: Examples of quinoline syntheses 210

Table 6.2: Structure and IC ₅₀ values of substituted	quinolines214
---	---------------

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: General aspects of the ideal synthesis	1
Figure 1.2: Diversity of transition-metal based reactions	5
Figure 2.1: Bioactive substituted pyrazoles	24
Figure 2.2: Structure of Ti(NMe ₂) ₂ (pypyr) ₂ by X-ray diffraction	29
Figure 3.1: Structures of bioactive isoxazoles	61
Figure 4.1: Pyrrole containing natural products	96
Figure 4.2: Substituted pyrrole containing drugs	97
Figure 4.3: Structure of ethyl 5-methyl-4-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate by X-ray diffra	action 105
Figure 5.1: Bioactive substitited 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines	135
Figure 5.2: Structure of 6-methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile by X-ray diffra (1a)	action 140
Figure 5.3: Structure of 1-(<i>tert</i> -butyl)-2-imino-4-methyl-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3- carbonitrile by X-ray diffraction (1b)	141
Figure 6.1: Structures of bioactive quinolines	204
Figure 6.2: Structures of non-competitive proteasome inhibitors	207
Figure 6.3: Structure of substituted quinolines	212

LIST OF SCHEMES

Scheme 1.1: Strecker reaction	3
Scheme 1.2: Ugi 4-component reaction	4
Scheme 1.3: Palladium-catalyzed 3-component syntheses of N-cyanoindoles	5
Scheme 1.4: Palladium catalyzed 3-component syntheses of indoles	5
Scheme 1.5: Palladium-catalyzed 3-component syntheses of ketimines	5
Scheme 1.6: Titanium-catalyzed hydroamonation and iminoamination	8
Scheme 1.7: Proposed mechanism for the titanium catalyzed hydroamination and iminoamination of alkynes	9
Scheme 1.8: Heterocycles from titanium-catalyzed multicomponent reactions	11
Scheme 1.9: Applications of titanium-catalyzed multicomponent reactions in this work	12
Scheme 1.10: Scaffold diversity via titanium-catalyzed multicomponent reactions	14
Scheme 2.1: Palladium-catalyzed 3-component coupling for pyrazole synthesis	24
Scheme 2.2: One-pot palladium catalyzed 4-component synthesis of pyrazoles	28
Scheme 2.3: Titanium-catalyzed one-pot synthesis of pyrazoles	25
Scheme 2.4: Synthesis of withasomnine	25
Scheme 2.5: Titanium-catalyzed iminohydrazination	26
Scheme 2.6: Synthesis of Hpypyr and Ti(NMe ₂) ₂ (pypyr) ₂	27
Scheme 2.7: Optimized titanium-catalyzed one step synthesis of pyrazoles	28
Scheme 2.8: Proposed catalytic cycle for the synthesis of pyrazoles	30
Scheme 3.1: Typical synthesis of isoxazoles	62
Scheme 3.2: Microwave-assisted multicomponent synthesis of isoxazoles	63
Scheme 3.3: One-pot palladium catalyzed 4-component synthesis of isoxazoles	64

Scheme 3.4: Synthesis of H ₂ dpma, H ₂ dpm, Ti(NMe ₂) ₂ (dpma) (1), and Ti(NMe ₂) ₂ (dpm) (2)	. 66
Scheme 3.5: Titanium catalyzed 3-component iminoamination of alkynes	. 67
Scheme 3.6: Proposed mechanism for titanium-catalyzed iminoamination of alkynes	. 68
Scheme 3.7: Regioselectivity in alkyne addition	. 68
Scheme 3.8: General scheme for one-pot synthesis of 4-substituted isoxazoles	. 69
Scheme 4.1: Ruthenium-catalyzed 3-component synthesis of substituted pyroles	. 98
Scheme 4.2: Pd-catalyzed synthesis of substituted pyrroles by 3-component synthesis	. 98
Scheme 4.3: One-pot titanium catalyzed 4-component synthesis of 2,3-diaminopyrroles	. 99
Scheme 4.4: General scheme for one-pot synthesis of pyrrole-2-carboxylates	100
Scheme 4.5: synthesis of ethyl 4-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate	107
Scheme 5.1: Microwave-assisted 3-component synthesis of substituted 2-amino-3-cyano- pyridines	136
Scheme 5.2: Microwave-assisted synthesis of 4-component substituted 2-amino-3-cyano- pyridines	136
Scheme 5.3: N-Arylation of 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines using copper(I) catalyst	137
Scheme 5.4: Substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines from 2 <i>H</i> -pyran-2-ones	137
Scheme 5.5: Reaction of 3CC with malononitrile	139
Scheme 5.6: Optimized reaction conditions for synthesis of substituted 2-amino-3-cyano- pyridine derivatives	146
Scheme 5.7: Optimized reaction conditions for synthesis of substituted 1,2-dihydropyridine derivatives	154
Scheme 5.8: Proposed mechanism for substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine synthesis	156
Scheme 5.9: amino-pyridine and imino-pyridines from multicomponent coupling reaction	157
Scheme 5.10: One pot synthesis of 6-methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile	160
Scheme 5.11: One pot synthesis of 5-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-((3,5-dimethylphenyl)amino)-6- methylnicotinonitrile	161

Scheme 5.12: Derivatives from substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridins	161
Scheme 6.1: Quinoline synthesis using titanium-catalyzed multicomponent coupling	205
Scheme 6.2: Possible mechanisms for quinoline synthesis	208
Scheme 6.3: Synthesis of 4-(3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-methylquinolin-6-yl)morpholine (AD1 and 3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-methyl-6-(piperidin-1-yl)quinoline (AD121)	20) 217

KEY OF ABBREVIATIONS

dpma	<i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -di(pyrrolyl-α-methyl)- <i>N</i> -methylamine
dpm	5,5-dimethyldipyrrolylmethane
GC/FID	Gas Chromotography Flame Ionization Detector
TFA	trifluoroacetic acid
THF	tetrahydrofuran
RT	room temperature
EtOAc	ethyl acetate
3CC	three-component coupling
Bn	benzyl
DMF	N,N-dimethyl formamide
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
M.p.	melting point

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION TO MULTICOMPONENT COUPLING REACTIONS

1.1 Introduction to multicomponent coupling reactions

In organic synthesis, individual bonds are formed in a stepwise process. This process often involves isolation, purification of synthetic intermediates and modification of reaction conditions for the next synthetic steps. However, in ideal cases, synthetic target molecules are prepared from readily available materials in one simple, safe, resource-efficient and environmentally friendly operation, which proceeds quickly, and in quantitative yields (**Figure 1.1**).¹



Figure 1.1 General aspects of the ideal synthesis

Over the past decades, it has been the aim of many groups to fulfill the requirements of the ideal synthesis by discovery and development of multistep, single operation processes for the construction of complex molecular scaffolds in simple manner. Multicomponent coupling reactions, are defined as "reactions in which more than two starting compounds react to form a product in such a way that the majority of the atoms of the starting material can be found in the product".²

Multicomponent coupling reactions are classified in to three main categories,

- **Type I** : In this category starting material, intermediates and products are always in a mobile equilibrium, in most cases the products occur as mixtures with the intermediates or starting materials (yields can vary from 0 to 100%).
- **Type II** : In this category, elementary reactions are in equilibrium, and the last step is an irreversible reaction. An advantage of this type of reaction is the irreversible step shifts the reaction to the products side. Isocyanide-based MCRs often fall into this category due to irreversible oxidation of C^{II} to C^{IV}.
- **Type III**: When all the elementary sequences of the MCR are irreversible they fall in to type III category. Major driving forces of the irreversibility of the elementary reactions are attributed to the thermodynamic factors. Many biochemical pathways in living cells fall into the type III category.

Multicomponent reactions can also subcategorized in to two major classes based in starting materials used in the reaction.³

- 1. isocyanide-based multicomponent coupling reactions
- 2. nonisocyanide-based multicomponent coupling reactions

The first multicomponent coupling reaction was reported by Strecker in 1850 by the reaction of aldehydes with ammonia and cyanides to generate α -aminonitriles (**Scheme 1.1**).⁴ After this report several name multicomponent reaction were developed by Biginelli (1891),⁵ Hantzsch (1881),⁶ Asinger (1958),⁷ and Mannich (1912).⁸ These new reactions led to easy access to a variety of heterocycles in very few steps for medicinal and pharmaceutical research.⁹

$$R^{1}CHO + KCN + NH_{4}OAc \longrightarrow R^{1} R^{1} R^{1}$$

Scheme 1.1 Strecker reaction

The first isocyanide-based multicomponent coupling reaction was reported by Passerini in 1921 by the reaction of carbonyl, acid and an isonitrile to generate α -hydroxy carboxamides.¹⁰ In 1959, Ivar Ugi further improved the Passerini reaction by replacement of the carbonyl functionality with an aldehyde (or ketone) and primary amine (**Scheme 1.2**).¹¹ Due to the high

exploratorary power of the Ugi 4CC reaction, currently it's the most famous and widely used multicomponent coupling reaction in the drug discovery and other applications.¹²

Scheme 1.2 Ugi 4-component reaction

1.2 Transition metal-catalyzed multicomponent coupling reactions

Transition-metal catalyzed reactions provide unique and potentially useful reaction types such as ligand substitution, oxidative addition/reductive elimination, migratory insertion, cycloaddition, and nucleophilic/electrophilic attack on ligands which cannot be accessed via traditional organic methodologies (**Figure 1.2**).¹³ Therefore, the diverse reactivity of transition metal-catalyzed reactions results in unique and predictable reaction methodologies for organic and organometallic chemistry.



Figure 1.2 Diversity of transition-metal based reactions

Over the past decade numerous transition metal-catalyzed reactions were developed using of palladium,¹⁴ rhodium,¹⁵ copper,¹⁶ titanium,¹⁷ nickel,¹⁸ cobalt,¹⁹ zirconium,²⁰ scandium,²¹ hafnium,²² bismith,²³ samarium,²⁴ silver²⁵ and other precious metals.²⁶ The other major advantage of transition metal-catalyzed reactions is the control of substitution pattern,

stereochemistry and skeleton of the expected product by varying the transition metal or the ligands around the metal. ^{27,28}



Scheme 1.3 Palladium-catalyzed 3-component syntheses of N-cyanoindoles

In 2001, Yamamoto and co-worker developed a palladium-mediated cyclization of 2alkynylisocyanobenzenes with allyl methyl carbonate and trimethylsilylazide to generate Ncyanoindoles in good yields.²⁹ According to the authors, the reaction proceeds via a π allylpalladium carbodiimide complex followed by isomerization to π -allylpalladium cyanamide complex (**Scheme 1.3**).



Scheme 1.4 Palladium catalyzed 3-component syntheses of indoles

In 2002, Takahashi and co-workers reported the synthesis of substituted indoles via palladium-catalyzed multicomponent coupling from o-alkenylphenylisonitriles, aryl iodides, and secondary amines in poor to moderate yields (**Scheme 1.4**).³⁰



Scheme 1.5 Palladium-catalyzed 3-component syntheses of ketimines

Migita and co-workers (1986) also reporetd palladium-catalyzed iminocarbonylative cross-coupling reaction between 9-alkyl-9-BBN derivatives, *tert*-butylisocyanide, and arylhalides gives access to ketimine intermediates (**Scheme 1.5**).³¹ Upon hydrolysis of these intermediates, alkyl and aryl ketones can be generated. This observation was further developed by Whitby and co-workers to generate aromatic and heteroaromatic amidines.³²

Apart from the above palladium-catalyzed isocyanide-based multicomponent coupling examples, our research group is engaged in titanium-catalyzed isocyanide-based multicomponent coupling reactions.

1.3 Odom group chemistry and diversity oriented synthesis (DOS)

Hydroamination is the addition of amine N-H functional group to an unsaturated carboncarbon bond in either an intramolecular or intermolecular fashion.³⁴ This process is 100% atom economical and generates imines from alkynes or amines from alkenes respectively. Our research group is the first to demonstrate the catalytic hydroamination of alkynes with primary amines from commercially available Ti(NMe₂)₄ (**Scheme 1.6**). Even though the reaction was surprisingly fast, many substrates result in mixtures of Markovnikov and anti-Markovnikov products. This was overcome by incorporation of pyrrolyl-based ancillary ligands such as H_2 dpma (*N*,*N*-di(pyrrolyl- α -methyl)-*N*-methylamine) and H₂dpm (5,5-dimethyldipyrrolylmethane) (more details in Chapter 3).³⁵



Scheme 1.6 Titanium-catalyzed hydroamonation (top) and iminoamination (bottom)

The proposed mechanism for the above catalytic hydroamination is shown in **Scheme 1.7** (left). The dimethylamido ligands in the titanium precatalyst (**A**) are protolytically removed by

the primary amine substrate to generate titanium imido complexes (**B**) which can undergo [2 + 2]-cycloaddition with alkynes resulting an azatitanacyclobutene intermediate (**C**). Protonolysis of the metallacycle (**C**) is believed to form the intermediate (**D**), which is converted back to the titanium imido (**B**) with release of the hydroamination product (**E**).³⁶ Later on, catalytic hydroamination was extended to a multicomponent coupling reaction by incorporation of isonitriles to generate tautomers of 1,3-diimines (α , β -unsaturated- β -iminoamines).³⁷



Scheme 1.7 Proposed mechanism for the titanium catalyzed hydroamination (left) and iminoamination (right) of alkynes

The multicomponent reaction used in this study is a formal alkyne iminoamination, addition of an iminyl and amine across the triple bond (**Scheme 1.7**). The proposed mechanism for the reaction is shown in **Scheme 1.7**. The titanium was introduced as a dimethylamidocontaining precatalyst (**A**), the dimethylamido ligands are protolytically removed by the primary amine substrate to generate titanium imido complexes (**F**) which can undergo [2 + 2]cycloaddition with alkynes. The resulting azatitanacyclobutenes (**G**) undergo 1,1-insertion of isonitriles to generate 5-membered metallacycles (**G**). The 5-membered metallacycles are protolytically converted back to titanium imido complex by primary amines with concomitant release of the iminoamination products (**I**).

Our group has reported utilization of 1,3-diimines from titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling to generate various heterocycles. These diimines produced in situ undergo cyclization with hydrazine and amidine derivatives in a one-pot procedure to provide pyrazoles³⁸ and pyrimidines³⁹ respectively. The acid-mediated cyclizations of diimines have also been investigated and a variety of quinolines, benzoquinolines and other heterocyclic compounds were prepared in one-pot procedures (**Scheme 1.8**).⁴⁰ These new one-pot multicomponent coupling methodologies have been applied to the synthesis of natural products such as withasomnine and angustureine.



Scheme 1.8 Heterocycles from titanium-catalyzed multicomponent reactions

In this work tautomers of 1,3-diimines generated via titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling of an alkyne, isonitrile, and primary amine were converted to various heterocycles. These diimines produced in situ undergo cyclization with hydroxylamine hydrochloride, glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride and malononitrile in a one-pot procedure to provide isoxazoles (Chapter 3),⁴¹ pyrrole-2-carboxylates (Chapter 4) and 2-amino-3-cyanopyridines (Chapter 5), respectively (**Scheme 1.9**).



Scheme 1.9 Applications of titanium-catalyzed multicomponent reactions in this work

1.4 Diversity oriented synthesis (DOS) via multicomponent coupling reactions

Diversity oriented synthesis continues to grow as an important aspect in synthetic organic chemistry and biological chemistry towards discovery of biologically active molecules.⁴² The major aim of the DOS is to prepare a very large number of small molecules with different substitution patterns, stereochemistry and skeletons simultaneously from common substrates in as few steps as possible. Molecular diversity can be distinguished by three fundamental levels of diversity,

- 1) Appendage diversity
- 2) Stereochemical diversity
- 3) Scaffold diversity

Appendage diversity involves introduction of different appendages (functional groups) to a common molecular skeleton. Since all the compounds have the same molecular skeleton, this limits the broader aspects of diversity. Secondly, stereochemical diversity involves the generation of as many stereoisomers as possible of the same molecule. This can be achieved by chiral starting materials or changing the stereochemistry of the catalysis.⁴³



Scheme 1.10 Scaffold diversity via titanium-catalyzed multicomponent reactions

Finally scaffold diversity is the most important approach in diversity oriented synthesis. This can be easily achieved by the generation of a collection of compounds with different molecular skeletons (scaffolds). Diverse molecular scaffolds can be generated by changing the reagents added to a common substrate (reagent-based approach)⁴⁴ or by use of different starting materials containing suitable pre-encoded skeletal information under similar reaction conditions to obtain different skeletal outcomes (substrate-based approach).⁴⁵

Research from this work and previous work demonstrates that diverse molecular scaffold such as quinolines, pyrazoles, pyramidines, aminopyridines and pyrroles bearing similar appendages can be synthesized via our chemistry (**Scheme 1.10**). This can be easily achieved by post condensation of titanium-catalyzed multicomponent coupling product with appropriate reaction conditions. This elaborates the versatility of the titanium-catalyzed multicomponent coupling reactions towards synthesis of various heterocyclic scaffolds in simple one-pot procedures.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- (a) Bienaymé, H.; Hulme, C.; Oddon, G.; Schmitt, P. Chem. Eur. J. 2000, 6, 3321. (b) Orru, R. V. A.; de Greef, M. Synthesis 2003, 1471. (c) Tempest, P. A. Curr. Opin. Drug Discovery Dev. 2005, 8, 776. (d) Dömling, A. Chem. Rev. 2006, 106, 17. (e) Tietze, L. F. Chem. Rev.1996, 96, 115.
- 2. Dömling, A.; Ugi, I. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 3168.
- 3. (a) Liu, J. F.; Ye, P.; Zhang, B.; Bi, G.; Sargent, K.; Yu, L.; Yohannes, D.; Baldino, C. M. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 6339. (b) Liu, J.F.; Kaselj, M.; Isome, Y.; Chapnick, J.; Zhang, B.; Bi, G.; Yohannes, D.; Yu, L.; Baldino, C. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 10488. (c) Liu, J.F.; Ye, P.; Sprague, K.; Sargent, K.; Yohannes, D.; Baldino, C.M.; Wilson, C.J.; Ng, S.C. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3363. (d) Mont, N.; Mehta, V.P.; Appukkuttan, P.; Beryozina, T.; Toppet, S.; Van Hecke, K.; Van Meervelt, L.; Voet, A.; DeMaeyer, M.; Van der Eycken, E. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 7509. (e) Sunderhaus, J.D.; Dockendorff, C.; Masrtin, S.F. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4223. (f) Le Bas, M.D.H.; O'Shea, F. J. Comb. Chem. 2005, 7, 947. (g) Tu, S.; Jiang, B.; Zhang, Y.; Jia, R.; Zhang, J.; Yao, C.; Shi, F.Org. Biomol. Chem., 2007, 5, 355. (h) Cui, S.L.; Lin, X.F.; Wang, Y.G. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 2866. (i) Ye, P.; Sargent, K.; Stewart, E.; Liu, J. F.; Yohannes, D.; Yu, L. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 3137. (j) Gelens, E.; De Kanter, F.J.J.; Schmitz, R.F.; Sliedregt, L.A.J.M.; Van Steen, B.J.; Kruse, C.G.; Leurs, R.; Groen, M.B.; Orru, R.V.A. Mol. *Divers.* 2006, 10, 17. (k) Werner, S.; Nielson, S.D.; Wipf, P.; Turner, D.M.; chambers, P.G.; Geib, S.J.; Curran, D.P.; Zhang, W. J. Comb. Chem. 2009, 11, 452. (1) Sakhno, Y.I.; Desenko, S.M.; Shishkina, S.V.; Shishkin, O.V.; Sysoyev, D.O.; Groth, U.; Kappe, O.C.; Chebanov, V.A. Tetrahedron 2008, 64, 11041. (m) Ohta, Y.; Oishi, S.; Fujii, N.; Ohno, H. Org. Lett. 2009, 11, 1979. (n) Jensen, A.A.; Erichsen, M.N.; Nielsen, C.W.; Stensbol, T.B.; Kehler, J.; Bunch, L. J. Med. Chem. 2009, 52, 912. (o) Surpur, M.P.; Kshirsagar, S.; Samant, S.D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2009, 50, 719. (p) Sridhar, M.; Ramanaiah, B. C.; Narsaiah, C.; Mahesh, B.; Kumaraswamy, M.; Mallu, K. K. R.; Ankathi, V. M.; Rao, P. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2009, 50, 3897. (g) Evdokimov, N. M.; Kireev, A. S.; Yakovenko, A. A.; Antipin, M. Y.; Magedov, I. V.; Kornienko, A. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 3443. (r) Zhou, J. F.; Song, Y. Z.; Lv, J. S.; Gong, G. X.; Tu, S. Synth. Commun. 2009, 39, 1443. (s) Zhu, S. L.; Zhao, K.; Su, X. M.; Ji, S. J. 2009, 39, 1355. (t) Hatamjafari, F. Svnth. Commun. 2006, 36, 3563. (u) Tu, S. J.; Cao, X. D.; Hao, W. J.; Zhang, X. H.; Yan, S.; Wu, S. S.; Han, Z. G.; Shi, F. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2009, 7, 557. (v) Hao, W.J.; Jiang, B.; Tu, S.J.; Wu, S.S.; Han, Z.G.; Cao, X.D.; Zhang, X.H.; Yan, S.; Shi, F. J. Comb. Chem. 2009, 11, 310. (w) Wen, L. R.; Sun, J. H.; Li, M.; Sun, E. T.; Zhang, S. S. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 1852. (x) Jimenez-Alonso, S.; Chavez, H.; Estevez-Braun, A.; Ravelo, A. G.; Feresin, G.; Tapia, A. Tetrahedron 2008, 64, 8938. (y) Defant, A.; Guella, G.; Mancini, I. Synth. Commun. 2008, 38, 3003.
- 4. (a) Strecker, A, Ann. Chem. 1850, 75, 27. (b) Strecker, A. Ann. Chem. Pharm. 1854, 91, 349.

- (a) Biginelli, P. Chem. Ber. 1891, 24, 1317. (b) Biginelli, P. Chem. Ber. 1891, 24, 2962.
 (c) Kappe, C. O. Tetrahedron, 1993, 49, 6937.
- 6. Hantzsch, A. Chem. Ber. 1881, 14, 1637.
- 7. Asinger, F.; Thiel, M. Angewandte Chemie, 1958, 70, 667.
- 8. Mannich, C.; Krösche, W. Archiv der Pharmazie, 1912, 250, 647.
- 9. (a) Davood, A.; Mansouri, N.; Dehpour, A. R. Arch Pharm Chem Life Sci, 2006, 339, 299. (b) Altenbach R .J.; Brune M. E.; Buckner S. A. J. Med. Chem, 2006, 49, 6869. (c) Roh E. J.; Keller, J. M.; Olah, Z. Bioorg. Med. Chem, 2008, 16, 9349. (d) Kumar, A.; Maurya, R. A.; Sharma, S. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2010, 45, 501. (e) Tanifum E. A.; Kots, A. Y.; Choi, B. K. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett, 2009, 19, 3067. (f) Sabnis, R. W.; Rangnekar, D. W.; Sonawane, N. D. J. Heterocycl. Chem, 1999, 36, 333. (g) Romagnoli, R.; Baraldi, P. G.; Carrion, M. D. J. Med. Chem, 2007, 50, 2273. (h) Briel, D.; Rybak, A.; Kronbach, C.; Unverferth, K. Eur. J. Med. Chem, 2010, 45, 69. (i) Ferguson, G. N.; Valant, C.; Horne, J. J. Med. Chem, 2008, 51, 6165. (j) Pizzirani, D.; Roberti, M.; Recanatini, M. Tetrahedron Lett, 2007, 48, 7120. (k) Pizzirani, D.; Roberti, M.; Grimaudo, S. J. Med. Chem, 2009, 52, 6936. (1) Jime'nez-Alonso, S.; Pe'rez-Lomas, A. L.; Este'vez-Braun, A. J. Med. Chem, 2008, 51, 7132. (m) Jime'nez-Alonso, S.; Orellana, H. C.; Este'vez-Braun, A. J. Med. Chem, 2008, 51, 6761. (n) Misra, M.; Pandey, S. K.; Pandey, V. P. Bioorg. Med. Chem, 2009, 17, 625. (o) Kumar, D.; Reddy, V. B.; Sharad, S. Eur. J. Med. Chem, 2009, 44, 3805. (p) Jensen, A. A.; Erichsen, M. N.; Nielsen, C. W. J. Med. Chem, 2009, 52, 912. (q) Magedov, I. V.; Manpadi, M.; Ogasawara, M. A. J. Med. Chem, 2008, 51, 2561. (r) Magedov I. V.: Luchetti, G.; Evdokimov, N. M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2008. 18, 1392. (s) Shi, F.; Li, C.; Xia, M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett, 2009, 19, 5565. (t) Mason, H. J.; Wu, X.; Schmitt, R. Tetrahedron. Lett, 2001, 42, 8931. (u) Yu, G.; Mason, H.; Wu, X. J. Med. Chem, 2003, 46, 457. (v) Kouznetsov, V. V.; Puentes, C. O.; Boho'rquez, A. P. P. Lett. Org. Chem, 2006, 3, 300. (w) Kouznetsov, V. V. Tetrahedron, 2009, 65, 2721. (x) Tarrago, T.; Masdeu, C.; Go'mez, E. Chem. Med. Chem, 2008, 3, 1558. (y) Zarghi, A.; Ghodsi, R.; Azizi, E. Bioorg. Med. Chem, 2009, 17, 5312. (z) Kumar, R. S.; Rajesh, S. M.; Perumal, S. Eur. J. Med. Chem, 2010, 45, 411.
- 10. Passerini, M.; Simone, L. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1921, 51, 126.
- 11. Ugi, I.; Meyr, R.; Fetzer, U.; Steinbrückner, C. Angew. Chem, 1959, 71 (11), 386.
- (a) Scheuer, P. J., Acc. Chem. Res. 1992, 25, 433. (b) Chang, C. W. J., Scheuer, P. J., Top. Curr. Chem. 1993, 167, 33. (c) Marconi, G. G., Molloy, B. B., Nagarajan, R., Martin J. R., Deeter, J. B., Okolowitz, J. L., J. Antibiot. 1978, 31, 27. (d) Baldwin, J. E., Baansai, H. S., Chondrogianni, H. S., Field, L. D., Taha, A. A., Thaller, V. (e) Brewer, D., Taylor, A., Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 1931. (f) Bornemann, V., Patterson, G. M. L., Moore, R. E., J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 2339. (g) Itoh, J., Takeuchi, Y., Gomi, S., Inouye, S., Mikawa, Yoshikawa, T., N., Okhishi, H., J. Antibiot. 1990, 43, 456. (h) Ugi, I., Angew. Chem. 1962, 74, 9. (i) Ugi, I., Steinbrückner, C., Chem. Ber. 1961, 94. (j)

Bowers, M. M., Caroll, P., Joullié, M. M., J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. I 1989, 857. (k)
Dömling, A., Ugi, I., Angew. Chem. 2000, 112, 3300. (l) Ugi, I., Dömling, A., Hörl, W., Endeavour 1994, 18, 115. (m) Bossio, R., Marcaccini, S., Pepino, R., Liebigs Ann. Chem.
1990, 935. (n) Marcaccini, S., Paoli, P., Papaleo, P., Pepino, R., Liebigs Ann. Chem.
1991, 843; (o) Marcaccini, S., Pepino, R., Torroba, T., Synthesis 1993, 7. (p) Papaleo, P., Pepino, R., J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1994, 31, 297. (q)Bossio, R., Marcaccini, S., Pepino, R., Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 2325. (r) Bossio, R., Marcos, C. F., Marcaccini, S., Pepino, R., Synthesis 1997, 1389. (s) Dömling, A., Ugi, I., Angew. Chem. 1993, 105, 634. (t)
Kolb, J., Beck, B., Dömling, A., Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 34, 6897.

- 13. Crabtree, R. H. *The Organometallic Chemistry of Transition Metals*, 4th ed., Wiley-Interscience, New York, **2005**.
- 14. (a) Dhawan, R.; Arndtsen, B. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2004, 126, 468. (b) Arndtsen, B. A. Chem. Eur. J., 2009, 15, 302.
- (a) Galliford, C. V.; Scheidt, K. A. J. Org. Chem., 2007, 72, 1811. (b) Kawashima, K.;
 Hiromoto, M.; Hayashi, K.; Kakehi, A.; Shiro, M.; Noguchi, M. Tetrahedron Lett., 2007, 48, 941. (c) Nair, V.; Vinod, A. U.; Rajesh, C. J. Org. Chem., 2001, 66, 4427.
- 16. Han, Y.; Xie, Y. X.; Zhao, L. B.; Fan, M. J.; Liang, Y. M. Synthesis, 2008, 1, 87.
- 17. Dou, G.; Shi, C.; Shi, D. J. Comb. Chem, 2008, 10, 810.
- 18. (a) Ikeda, S.; Sato, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1994**, 116, 5975. (b) Ikeda, S.; Yamamoto, H.; Kondo, K; Sato, Y. Organometallics. **1995**, 14, 5015.
- (a) Gibson, S. E.; Stevenazzi, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 1800. (b) Brummond, K. M.; Kent, J. L. Tetrahedron, 2000, 56, 3263.
- 20. Goldberg, S. D.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 807.
- 21. Akiyama, T.; Iwai, J. Synlett, 1998, 273.
- 22. Kobayashi, S.; Iwamoto, S.; Nagayama, S. Synlett, 1997, 1099.
- 23. (a) Choudary, B. M.; Chidara, S.; Sekhar, Ch. V. R. Synlett, 2002, 1694. (b) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Krishnam Raju, A. Synthesis, 2003, 883.
- 24. Shiraishi, H.; Nishitani, T.; Sakaguchi, S.; Ishii, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 6234.
- 25. (a) Bon, R. S.; Orru, R. V. A. J. Org. Chem, 2005, 70, 3542. (b) Elders, N.; Orru, R. V. A. J. Org. Chem, 2007, 72, 6135.
- 26. Cadierno, V.; Gimeno, J.; Nebra, N. Chem. Eur. J, 2007, 13, 9973.

- 27. (a) Ackermann, L. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 439. (b) Vieira, T. O.; Alper, H. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 485. (c) Balme, G.; Bouyssi, D.; Montiero, N. Pure. App. Chem. 2006, 78, 231. (d) Beller, M.; Eckert, M.; Moradi, W.; Neumann, H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 1454. (e) Aschwanden, P.; Stephenson, C. R. J.; Carreira, E. M. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 2437. (f) Bae, I.; Han, H.; Chang, S.; J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 2038. (g) Cote, A.; Charette, A. B. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 10864. (h) Xu, H. W.; Li, G. Y.; Wong, M. K.; Che, C. M.; Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5349. (i) Church, T. L.; Byrne, C. M.; Lobkovsky, E. B.; Coates, G. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 8156. (j) Nuske, H.; Kozhushhov, S. I.; Noltemeyer, M.; Es-Sayed, M.; de Meijere, A. Chem. Eur. J. 2002, 8, 2350. (k) Wang, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Chen, Z.; Mi, A.; Hu, W.; Doyle, M. P. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3923. (1) Kerr, D. J.; Willis, A. C.; Flynn, B. L. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 457. (m) Whiting, M.; Fokin, V. V. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 3157. (n) Henderson, J. L.; Edwards, A. S.; Greaney, M. F. Org. Lett. **2007**, 9, 5589. (o) Dondas, H. A.; Fishwick, C. W. G.; Gai, X.; Grigg, R.; Kilner, C.; Dumrongchai, N.; Kongkathip, B.; Kongkathip, N.; Polysuk, C.; Sridharan, V. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 7570. (p) Arefalk, A.; Marhed, M.; Hallberg, A. J. Org. Chem. **2005**, 70, 938. (q) Shintani, R.; Yamagami, T.; Hayashi, T. Org. Lett. **2006**, 8, 4799. (r) Ikeda, S. I.; Cui, D. M.; Sato, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 4712. (s) Tonogaki, K.; Itami, K.; Yoshida, J. I. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 1419. (t) Ng, S. S.; Jamison, T. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 14194. (u) Gommermann, N.; Knochel, P. Chem. Eur. J. 2006, 12, 4380. (v) Liu, Z.; Larock, R. C.; Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 2535. (w) Nitsudo, K.; Thansandote, P.; Wilhelm, T.; Mariampillai, B.; Lautens, M. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3939. (x) Wei, C.; Li, Z.; Li, C. J. Synlett, 2004, 9, 1472. (y) McCormick, M. M.; Duong, H. A.; Zuo, G.; Louie, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 5030. (z) B. Yan, B.; Liu, Y. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4323.
- 28. (a) Lu, B. Z.; Zhao, W.; Wei, H. X.; Dufour, M.; Farian, V.; Senanayake, C. H. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3271. (b) Guo, H.; Qian, R.; Liao, Y.; Ma, S.; Guo, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 13060. (c) C. D. Hopkins, C.D.; Malinakova, H. C. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 597. (d) Knapton, D. J.; Meyer, T. Y. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 785. (e) Shibata, K.; Satoh, T.; Miura, M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 1781. (f) Montgomery, J. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 457. (g) Mohamed, M. S.; Kobayashi, K.; Mori, A. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 4487. (h) DSouza, D. M.; Muller, T. J. J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2007, 36, 1095. (i) Cao, C.; Shi, Y.; Odom, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 2880. (j) Ohno, H.; Ohta, Y.; Oishi, S.; Fujii, N. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 2295. (k) Abbiati, G.; Arcadi, A.; Canevari, V.; Capezzuto, L.; Rossi, E. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 6454. (1) Galliford, C. V.; Scheidt, K. A. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 1811. (m) Andreana, P. R.; Liu, C. C.; Schreiber, S. L. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4231. (n) Oisaki, K.; Zhao, D.; Kanai, M.; Shibasaki, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 7439. (o) Akullian, L. C.; Snapper, M. L.; Hoveyda, A. H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 4244 (p) Kimura, M.; Kojima, K.; Tatsuyama, Y.; Tamaru, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 6332. (q) Trost, B. M.; Pinkerton, A. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 7376. (r) Chen, Y. K.; Walsh, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 3702. (s) Wender, P. A.; Garnber, G. G.; Hubbard, R. D.; Pham, S. M.; Zhang, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 2836. (t) Gao, K.; Wu, J. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 8611. (u) Yamamoto, Y.; Ishii, J.; Nishiyama, H.; Itoh, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 9625. (v) D. Ramon, D.; Yus, M.; Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 1602. (w) Hulin, B.; Newton, L. S.; Cabral, S.; Walker, A. J.; Bordner, J. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4343. (x) T. Dahl, T.; Tornoe, C. W.; Andersen, B. B.;

Nielsen, P.; Jorgensen, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 1726. (y) Pinto, A.; Neuville, L.; Zhu, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 3291.

- 29. (a) Kamijo, S.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 9453. (b) Kamijo, S.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 11940.
- 30. Onitsuka, K.; Suzuki, S.; Takahashi, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 6197.
- 31. Kosugi, M.; Ogata, T.; Tamura, H.; Sano, H.; Migita, T. Chem. Lett. 1986, 1197.
- 32. Saluste, C. G.; Whitby, R. J.; Furber, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 4157.
- (a) Muller, T. E.; Hultzsch, K. C.; Yus, M.; Foubelo, F.; Tada, M. Chem. Rev. 2008, 108, 3795. (b) Severin, R.; Doye, S. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2007, 36, 1407. (c) Odom, A. L. Dalton Trans. 2005, 225. (d) Muller, T. E.; Beller, M. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 675.
- 34. (a) Cao, C.; Shi, Y.; Odom, A. L. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 2853. (b) Cao, C.; Li, Y.; Shi, Y.; Odom, A. L. Chem. Commun. 2004, 2002. (c) Shi, Y.; Hall, C.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Cao, C.; Odom, A. L. Chem. Commun. 2003, 586.
- 35. (d) Shi, Y.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Odom, A. L. Organometallics. 2001, 20, 3967. (e) Li, Y.; Turnas, A.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Odom, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 6298. (f) Harris, S. A.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Odom, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1987.
- 36. (g) Cao, C.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Odom, A. L. Organometallics. 2001, 20, 5011. (h) Shi, Y.; Hall, C.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Cao, C.; Odom, A. L. Chem. Commun. 2003, 586.
- 37. Cao, C.; Shi, Y.; Odom, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 2880.
- Majumder S.; Gipson, K. R.; Staples, R. J.; Odom, A. L. Advanced Synthesis and Catalysis, 2009, 351, 2013.
- 39. Majumder, S.; Odom, A. L. Tetrahedron, 2010, 66, 3152.
- 40. Majumder, S.; Gipson, K. R.; Odom, A. L. Organic Letters, 2009, 11, 4720.
- 41. Dissanayake, A. A.; Odom, A. L. Tetrahedron, 2012, 68, 807.
- (a) Burke, M. D.; Schreiber, S. L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 46. (b) Schreiber, S. L. Nature 2009, 457, 153. (c) Spandl, R. J.; Bender, A.; Spring, D. R. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2008, 6, 1149. (d) Cordier, C.; Morton, D. Murrison, S.; Nelson, A.; O'Leary-Steele, C.; Nat. Prod. Rep. 2008, 25, 719. (e) Burke, M. D.; Berger, E. M.; Schreiber, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 14095. (f) Spring, D. R. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2003, 1, 3867. (g) Tan, D. S. Nat. Chem. Biol. 2005, 1, 74. (h) Spandl, R. J.; Bender, A.; Spring, D. R. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2008, 6, 1149. (i) Horton, D. A.; Bourne, G. T.; Smythe, M. L. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 893. (j) Costantino, L.; Barlocco, D. Curr. Med. Chem. 2006, 13,
65. (k) Gracias, V.; Darczak, D.; Gasiecki, A. F.; Djuric, S. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 9053. (1) Nielsen, T. E.; Schreiber, S. L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 48. (m) Comer, E.; Rohan, E.; Deng, L.; Porco, J. A. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 2123. (n) Sunderhaus, J. D.; Dockendorff, C.; Martin, S.F. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4223. (o) Uchida, T.; Rodriquez, M.; Schreiber S. L. Org. Lett. 2009, 11, 1559. (p) Neumann, H.; von Wangelin, A. J.; Gordes, D.; Spannenberg, A.; Beller, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 8398. 34. (q) Stribing, D.; Neumann, H.; Klaus, S.; Hubner, S.; Beller, M. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 11333. (r) Stribing, D.; Neumann, H.; Klaus, S.; Hubner, S.; Beller, M. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 11345. (s) von Wangelin, A. J.; Neumann, H.; Gordes, D.; Hubner, S.; Wendler, C.; Klaus, S.; Strubing, D.; Spannenberg, A.; Jiao, H.; El Firdoussi, L.; Thurow, K.; Stoll, N.; Beller, M. Synthesis 2005, 2029. (t) van Leusen, A. M.; Wilderman, J.; Oldenzeil, O. H. J. Org. Chem. 1977, 42, 1153. (u) Beebe, X.; Gracias, V.; Djuric, S. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 3225. (v) Gracias, V.; Gasiecki, A. F.; Djuric, S. W. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3183. (w) Gracias, V.; Gasiecki, A. F.; Djuric, S. W. Tetrahedron Lett. **2005**, 46, 9049. (x) Sunderhaus, J. D.; Dockendorff, C. Martin, S. F. Org. Lett. **2007**, 9, 4233. (y) Habib-Zahmani, H.; Viala, J.; Hacini, S.; Rodriguez, J. Synlett 2007, 1037. (z) El Kaim, L.; Grimaud, L.; Oble, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 7961.

- 43. (a) El Kaim, L.; Grimaud, L.; Oble, J. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 5835. (b) El Kaim, L.; Gizzi, M.; Grimaud, L. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 3417. (c) Lu, K.; Luo, T.; Xiang, Z.; You, Z.; Fathi, R.; Chen, J.; Yang, Z. J. Comb. Chem. 2005, 7, 958. (d) Lee, D.; Sello, J. K.; Schreiber, S. L. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 709. (e) Gamez-Montano, R.; Gonza'lez-Zamora, E.; Potier, P.; Zhu, J. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 6351.
- 44. (a) Lee, D.; Sello, J.; Schreiber, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 10648. (b) Burke, M. D.; Berger, E. M.; Schreiber, S. L. Science 2003, 302, 613. (c) Wyatt, E. E.; Fergus, S.; Galloway, W.; Bender, A.; Fox, D. J.; Plowright, A. T.; Jessiman, A. S.; Welch, M.; Spring, D. R. Chem. Commun. 2006, 3296. (d) Comer, E.; Rohan, E.; Deng, L.; Porco, Jr. A. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 2123. (e) Kumagai, N.; Muncipinto, G.; Schreiber, S. L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 3635.
- 45. (a) Anfinsen, C. B. Science 1973, 181, 223. (b) Dandapani, S.; Duduta, M.; Panek, J. S.; Porco Jr, J. A. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 3849. (c) Spiegel, D. A.; Schroeder, F. C.; Duvall, J. R.; Schreiber, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 14766.

CHAPTER 2. SINGLE-STEP SYNTHESIS OF PYRAZOLES USING TITANIUM CATALYSIS

2.1 Introduction

Pyrazoles are five-membered heterocycles consisting of a doubly unsaturated ring containing two adjacent nitrogen atoms.¹ These pyrazole core structures have attracted considerable attention in numerous applications over the past decade. A wide range of bioactivities such as anti-microbial,² anti-cancer,³ anti-inflammatory,⁴ anti-depressant,⁵ anti-convulsant,⁶ anti-hyperglycemic,⁷ anti-pyretic,⁸ anti-bacterial,⁹ anti-fungal activities,¹⁰ CNS regulants,¹¹ sedative-hypnotic activity,¹² and selective enzyme inhibitory activities¹³ are found in pyrazole core structures (**Figure 2.1**). Furthermore pyrazoles are also found as ligands for transition metal-catalyzed reactions,¹⁴ building blocks in heterocyclic synthesis,¹⁵ optical brighteners,¹⁶ UV stabilizers,¹⁷ photoinduced electron-transfer systems,¹⁸ and units in supramolecular entities.¹⁹

Classical methods for the synthesis of substituted pyrazole involve construction of two C-N bonds by cyclocondensation of hydrazines with 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds, or their 1,3-dielectrophile equivalent reagents or construction of one C-N and C-C bond by intermolecular [3+2] cycloaddition of 1,3-dipoles to dipolarophiles.²⁰ The disadvantage of these methods are the lack of availability of the 1,3-dielectrophilic and 1,3-dipole building blocks and that unsymmetrical starting materials often result in a mixture of regioisomeric pyrazoles in poor yields.



Figure 2.1 Bioactive substituted pyrazoles

In recent years, transition metal-catalyzed multicomponent one-pot reactions have attracted great interest in the synthesis of heterocyclic scaffolds in a small number of steps. This is a powerful tool for the construction of diverse chemical libraries of "drug-like' molecules in a short period of time by simply varying the reacting components.²¹ In 2008, Jiang and co-workers²² as well as Muller and co-workers²³ independently reported palladium-catalyzed 3-component coupling of acid chloride, terminal alkyne, and hydrazine to afford 1,3,5-trisubstituted pyrazoles in good yields (**Scheme 2.1**).



Scheme 2.1 Palladium-catalyzed 3-component coupling for pyrazole synthesis

A novel synthesis of 1,3,5-trisubstituted pyrazoles using palladium-catalyzed 4component coupling of terminal alkyne, monosubstituted hydrazine, and aryl halide in presence of carbon monoxide was recently independently reported by the Mori group²⁴ and the Stonehouse group²⁵ (Scheme 2.2).

Ar^{-I} +
$$R^{1}$$
 + R^{1} + R^{1}

Scheme 2.2 One-pot palladium catalyzed 4-component synthesis of pyrazoles

In 2009 our group demonstrated that a variety of different pyrazoles can be prepared in a one-pot, 4-component fashion (**Scheme 2.3**).²⁶ This methodology uses a titanium-catalyzed catalyzed 3-component coupling of an alkyne, isonitrile, and primary amine to generate unsymmetrical 1,3-diimine tautomers followed by cyclo-condensation with commercially available hydrazines to afford 1,4,5-trisubstituted pyrazoles in moderate yields. This 4-component one-pot methodology was applied in the synthesis of natural product withasomnine in 24% overall yield from commercially available 4-pentyn-1-ol (**Scheme 2.4**).

$$\begin{array}{c} R^{2} = -R^{3} \\ + \\ R^{1}NH_{2} \end{array} \xrightarrow{10 \text{ mol}\% \text{ Catalyst}}_{toluene, 100 \ ^{\circ}C} \begin{bmatrix} R^{4}(H)N \\ R^{1}N \\ R^{2} \\ R^{2} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{R^{5}NHNH_{2}}_{pyridine, 150 \ ^{\circ}C} \xrightarrow{R_{2}}_{R_{1}} \xrightarrow{R_{2}}_{N_{5}} \\ R^{5} \\ R^{5} \\ R^{5} \end{array}$$

Scheme 2.3 Titanium-catalyzed one-pot synthesis of pyrazoles

In this study reported in this thesis, we demonstrate that 1,3-disubstituted pyrazoles can be prepared in a one-pot fashion in a single step. The methodology uses a novel titaniumcatalyzed 3-component coupling of terminal alkynes, isonitriles, and monosubstituted hydrazines to generate unsymmetrical 1,3-diimines, α , β -unsaturated β -iminoamines, which undergoes intermolecular cyclization, which results in substituted pyrazole products upon loss of a primary amine.²⁷



Scheme 2.4 Synthesis of withasomnine

2.2 Results and Discussion

Our group demonstrated iminohydrazination of alkynes, isonitriles, and hydrazines to genate 1,3-iminohydrazones via titanium-catalysts in 2005.^{26(b)} Unfortunately, that catalysis was limited to 1,1-disubstituted hydrazines as starting materials. The cause of the inactivity in some of the previous catalytic systems was the protolytic removal of all the ancillary ligands by more aggressive monsubstituted hydrazines (**Scheme 2.5**). The loss of the ancillaries likely leads to inactive bridged hydrazido complexes. These observations interest us to design and development of novel catalytic architecture for iminohydrazination of alkynes using monosubstitured hydrazines.

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \text{Ti}(dap)_2(\text{NMe}_2)_2 & & \text{or} & & R^1 \\ \text{H}_2\text{N}-N & + & R^2 = -R^3 & + & C \equiv \text{N}-R^4 & & & & & \\ \hline & & & & & & \\ R^2 & & & & & \\ \hline & & & & & & \\ R^2 & & & & & \\ R^3 & & & & \\ R^3 & & & & \\ R^3 & & \\ R^3$$

Scheme 2.5 Titanium-catalyzed iminohydrazination

For this study, we employed pyridylpyrrole-based catalysts.²⁷ These catalysts use ligand architectures synthesized in a single step from commercially available acetylacetone and 2-aminomethylpyridine. The 2-(2'-pyridyl)-3,5-dimethylpyrrole²⁹ (Hpypyr) ligands can be introduced on the titanium in good yields by reaction with commercially available $Ti(NMe_2)_4$ (Scheme 2.6). The catalyst described for this novel 3-component coupling reaction was

 $Ti(NMe_2)_2(pypyr)_2$ (1) (Figure 2.2), which efficiently catalyzes the multicomponent coupling of terminal alkynes, isonitriles, and monosubstituted hydrazine to generate 1,3-iminohydrazones, which subsequently undergoes cyclization to provide pyrazoles in a single step.



Scheme 2.6 Synthesis of Hpypyr and $Ti(NMe_2)_2(pypyr)_2(1)^{27}$

The structure of this catalyst (**Figure 2.2**) was obtained from X-ray diffraction of the pseudo-octahedral complex **1**. The more strongly donating dimethylamido ligands are *trans* to the neutral pyridine donors, placing the pyrrolyl ligands mutually *trans*. As is typical, the Ti–

N(pyrrolyl) distances average 2.111(1) Å, significantly longer than the Ti–NMe₂ bonds, 1.910(2) Å. The Ti–N(pyridyl) distances average 2.260(2) Å.



Figure 2.2 Structure of $Ti(NMe_2)_2(pypyr)_2$ (1) by X-ray diffraction²⁷ For interpretation of the references to color in this and all other figures, the reader is referred to the electronic version of this dissertation

Selected distances (Å) Ti(1)-N(5) 1.9081(15), Ti(1)-N(6) 1.9111(15), Ti(1)-N(3) 2.1025(14), Ti(1)-N(2) 2.1195(14), Ti(1)-N(1) 2.2559(14), Ti(1)-N(4) 2.2634(15). Selected angles (°) N(5)-Ti(1)-N(6) 104.45(6), N(5)-Ti(1)-N(3) 94.75(6), N(6)-Ti(1)-N(3) 98.76(6), N(5)-Ti(1)-N(2) 98.96(6), N(6)-Ti(1)-N(2) 95.51(6), N(3)-Ti(1)-N(2) 157.07(6), N(5)-Ti(1)-N(1)162.73(6)



Scheme 2.7. Optimized titanium-catalyzed one step synthesis of pyrazoles

In screening isonitriles, we used the coupling between phenylacetylene, phenylhydrazine, and CNR^3 catalyzed by 1. The isonitriles investigated had $R^3 = tert$ -butyl,2,6-dimethylphenyl, cyclohexyl, and *n*-butyl. While cyclohexylisonitrile gave relatively clean reactions, reactions employing 2,6-dimethylphenylisonitrile and *n*-butylisonitrile resulted in a myriad of unidentified products. On the other hand, the reaction with *tert*-butylisonitrile was relatively clean but did not proceed with as good conversions as the slightly smaller cyclohexyl derivative. Thus cyclohexyl isonitrile was used in all subsequent reactions.



Scheme 2.8 Proposed catalytic cycle for the synthesis of pyrazoles

The proposed catalytic cycle for the titanium-catalyzed multicomponent coupling reaction is shown in **Scheme 2.8**. The dimethylamido ligands are protolytically removed by the monosubstituted hydrazine to generate titanium hydrazido(2–) complex **A**. The hydrazido(2–) complex **A** could then undergo [2 + 2]-cycloaddition with the alkyne to give intermediate **B**, Isonitrile can under go 1,1-insertion into the Ti–C bond in **B** to give the 5-membered metallacycle **C**. Hydrazine protonolysis of metallacycle **C** would give **D**; Proton migration from the hydrazido in **D** could liberate imine **E** (1,3-diimines or α,β -unsaturated- β -iminoamines) which would undergo intermolecular cyclization to afford the pyrazole product with loss of H₂NR³.

The regioselectivity of the reactions are such that a single observable isomer is generated. For the substrates examined in this study, 1,3-disubstituted pyrazoles were the products. In other words, the favored product isomer is derived from [2 + 2]-cycloaddition to place the larger group on the alkyne (R²) away from the metal center in metallacyclobutene **B** (Scheme 2.8).

The general procedure involves the addition of hydrazine (1 mmol), alkyne (1 mmol), isonitrile (1.5 mmol), to a 40 mL pressure tube containing catalyst **1** (15 mol%), in 2 mL of toluene to a under nitrogen, which was sealed and heated at 100 $^{\circ}$ C for 36 h with stirring. Once the multicomponent coupling reaction was complete, The products were purified by column chromatography on neutral alumina.

Entr y	Hydrazene	Alkyne	Product	Isolate d yieds
a	NHNH ₂		N-Ph	66% ^a
b	NHNH ₂		OTBS	71% ^a
с	NHNH ₂		N ^N -Ph	55% ^a
d	NHNH ₂		N ^N -Ph	48% ^a
e	NHNH ₂		N'N-Ph	46% ^a
f	NHNH ₂	`o-{	O-N'N-Ph	60% ^a
g	NHNH ₂	BnO-	BnO N.Ph	49% ^a
h	NHNH ₂	Br	Br N'N-Ph	60% ^a
i	NHNH ₂	Ph ₂ N-	Ph ₂ N N-Ph	47% ^a

Table 2.1 Examples of pyrazoles syntheses using phenylhydrazine and a variety of alkynes (Scheme 2.7)²⁷

Table 2.1 (cont'd)



^a Reactions carried out with phenylhydrazine, alkyne, and cyclohexylisonitrile in a 1:1:1.5 ratio with 15 mol % catalyst (1) at 100 $^{\circ}$ C for 36 h.

Some applications of the methodology are shown in Tables 2.1 and 2.2. For this initial study, we chose to look at the multicomponent coupling product of various terminal alkynes, phenylhydrazine, and cyclohexylisonitrile, which generated 1,3-disubstituted pyrazoles 2a-j in one-pot. In the second stage of the study (**Table 2.2**), a selection of different monosubstituted phenylhydrazines with hex-1-yne and cyclohexylisonitrile were examined, which generated 1,3-disubstituted pyrazoles 2k-o.

Entry	Hydrazene	Alkyne	Product	Isolated yieds
k	Br	≡-Bu ⁿ	Bu ⁿ N Br	52% ^a
1		<u></u> —Ви ⁿ	BunNN	62% ^a
m		<u></u> —ви ⁿ	Bu ⁿ N	57% ^a
n	MeO-	≡−Bu ⁿ	Bu ⁿ N OMe	70% ^a
0	CI CI	≡−Bu ⁿ	Bu ⁿ N Cl	45% ^a

Table 2.2 Examples of pyrazoles syntheses using hex-1-yne and a variety of hydrazines(Scheme 2.7)

^a Reactions carried out with hydrazine, hex-1-yne, and cyclohexylisonitrile in a 1:1:1.5 ratio with 15 mol % catalyst (1) at 100 °C for 36 h.

2.3 Conclusion

A novel titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling of a monosubstuted hydrazine, a terminal alkyne, and cyclohexylisonitrile provides 1,3-disubstituted pyrazoles in a one-pot procedure. This new procedure has significant flexibility in the types of pyrazoles that can be accessed. The yields are generally modest, but the products are readily isolated by column chromatography in moderate yields.

The reaction has several points to allow optimization for a specific target of interest. For example, the catalyst architectures themselves are also quite flexible and could be optimized for specific products. In fact, it was found that multicomponent coupling reaction is very much slower for internal alkynes due to steric bulk of the methyl groups in the pyridylpyrrole ligands. Further Improvements in ligand design to expand the substrate scope and reduce heating times are currently under investigation.

2.4 Experimental

General procedure for Pyrazole Synthesis: All manipulations of air sensitive compounds were carried out in an MBraun drybox under a purified nitrogen atmosphere. Toluene was purified by sparging with dry N₂ and removing water by running through activated alumina systems purchased from Solv-Tek. ¹H and ¹³C spectra were recorded on Varian VXR-500 spectrometers. Melting points were measured on a Mel-Temp II apparatus with a mercury thermometer and are uncalibrated. 2-(3,5-dimethyl-1H-pyrrol-2-yl)pyridine²⁹ and cyclohexylisonitrile³⁰ were made according to the literature procedures. Alkynes were purchased either from Aldrich or from GFS chemicals and were distilled from CaO under dry nitrogen. Phenylhydrazine was purchased from Aldrich, dried over KOH, and distilled under dry nitrogen. (4-bromophenyl)hydrazine, (4-(4-methoxyphenyl)hydrazine, iodophenyl)hydrazine, *p*-tolylhydrazine, and (3, 5dichlorophenyl)hydrazine were made using the typical literature procedure.³¹ Neutral alumina was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Co. and used as received. Hexanes and EtOAc was purchased from Mallinckrodt chemicals and used as received. Anhydrous NH₂NH₂ was prepared using the literature procedure.³²

Preparation and characterization of titanium-catalyst (1)



Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (1):²⁷ A schlink flask (250 mL) loaded with Ti(NMe₂)₄ in toluene (6 mL) (2.11 g, 9.4 mmol) and cooled inside the cold-well in a dry box. To this solution was added a cold solution of 2-(3,5-dimethyl-1H-pyrrol-2-yl)pyridine (3.23 g, 18.8 mmol) in 8 mL of toluene. The resulting solution allowed to warm up to room temperature and stirred at 60 °C for 48 h. The reaction mixture was cooled to room temperature and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The resulting red solid was crystallized from ether/pentane solution mixture (3.92 g, 7.8 mmol) to give catalyst (1) in 84% yield. M.p.: 199-201 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.36 (6 H, s, CH₃), 2.57 (6 H, s, CH₃), 3.19 (12 H, s, N(CH₃)₂), 6.0 (2 H, s, 4-CH pyrrole), 6.43-6.46 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 6.99-7.01 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.19-7.21 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.27-7.31 (2 H, m, Ar-H), ¹³C {¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 14.65, 16.04, 47.66, 113.37, 116.01,116.50, 122.03, 132.53, 136.78, 140.92, 146.79, 154.06. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 65.42; % H, 7.23; %N, 17.42; expected: %C, 65.27; %H, 7.16; %N, 17.56. Further characterized by X-ray diffraction studies.

Preparation and Characterization of Compounds in Table 2.1



3-butyl-1-phenyl-pyrazole (Table 2.1, entry a):²⁷ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with phenylhydrazine (108 mg, 1 mmol), hex-1-yne (82 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 µL, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (132 mg, 66%) as a yellow oil.^{33 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 0.94 (3 H, t, J = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.39-1.43 (2 H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.64-1.69 (2 H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 2.71 (2 H, t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 6.23-6.24 (1 H, d, *J* = 2 Hz, 4-CH-pyrazole), 7.18-7.23 (1 H, m, Ar-H), 7.38-7.41 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.62-7.64 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.79-7.78 (1 H, d, J = 2 Hz, 5-CH-pyrazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 13.89, 22.49, 28.10, 31.78, 106.39, 118.86, 125.82, 127.11, 129.29, 140.28, 155.37. MS(EI): *m/z* 200 (M⁺).

Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 78.01; % H, 8.13; %N, 13.86; expected: %C, 77.96; %H, 8.05; %N, 13.99.



3-(3-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)propyl)-1-phenyl-pyrazole (Table 2.1, entry b):²⁷ In a N_2 filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with phenylhydrazine (108 mg, 1 mmol), tert-butyldimethyl(pent-4-ynyloxy)silane (198 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 µL, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (224 mg, 71%) as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 0.04 (6 H, s, Si-CH₃), 0.88 (9 H, s, Si-CMe₂CH₃), 1.90-1.93 (2 H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂OTBS), 2.75-2.78 (2 H, t, J = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂OTBS), 3.68-3.71 (2 H, t, *J* = 6 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂OTBS), 6.24-6.25 (1 H, d, *J* = 2 Hz, 4-CH pyrazole), 7.22-7.24 (1 H, m, Ar-H), 7.38-7.42 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.62-7.64 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.79-7.80 (1 H, d, J = 2 Hz, 5-CH pyrazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 1.01, 18.36, 24.73, 25.27, 25.94, 32.56, 62.64, 106.54, 118.86, 125.88, 127.18, 127.44, 129.32, 154.81.

MS(EI): *m/z* 316 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 68.41; % H, 8.86; %N, 8.48; expected: %C, 68.30; %H, 8.92; %N, 8.55.



3-cyclohexenyl-1-phenyl-pyrazole (Table 2.1, entry b):²⁷ In a N_2 filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with phenylhydrazine (108 mg, 1 mmol), 1ethynylcyclohex-1-ene (106 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 µL, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (123 mg, 55%) as a yellow oil.³⁴ ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.63-1.67 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.72-1.77 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.17-2.21 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.49-2.53 (2 H, m, CH_2), 6.35-6.37 (1 H, m, CH), 6.46-6.47 (1 H, d, J = 2 Hz, 4-CH-pyrazole), 7.18-7.36 (1 H, m, Ar-H), 7.37-7.41 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.64-7.66 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.79-7.80 (1 H, d, J = 2 Hz, 5-CH-pyrazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 22.32, 22.60, 25.54, 25.85, 103.79, 118.78, 125.33, 125.85, 127.19, 129.29, 130.56, 140.33, 154.97. MS(EI): *m/z* 224 (M⁺).

Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 80.44; % H, 7.11; %N, 12.57; expected: %C, 80.32; %H, 7.17; %N, 12.49.



1,3-diphenyl-pyrazole (Table 2.1, entry d): ²⁷ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with phenylhydrazine (108 mg, 1 mmol), phenylacetylene (102 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 μ L, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes:ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (105 mg, 48%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 83-84 °C (Lit M.p.: 84-86 °C).^{35 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 6.76-6.77 (1 H, d, *J* = 2 Hz, 4-C*H*-pyrazole), 7.26-7.29 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.31-7.34 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.40-7.47 (4 H, m, Ar-H), 7.75-7.77 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.90-7.92 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.93-7.94 (1 H, d, *J* = 2, Hz, 5-C*H*-pyrazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 104.97, 105.04, 119.03, 125.84, 126.31, 127.92, 128.41, 128.63, 133.13, 140.24, 152.92. MS(EI): *m/z* 220 (M⁺).

Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 81.70; % H, 5.54; %N, 12.76; expected: %C, 81.79; %H, 5.49; %N, 12.72.



1-phenyl-3-p-tolyl-pyrazole (Table 2.1, entry e): ²⁷ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with phenylhydrazine (108 mg, 1 mmol), 1-ethynyl-4-methylbenzene (116 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 μ L, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes:ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (107 mg, 46%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 92-94 °C (Lit M.p.: 95.5-96 °C). ³⁶ ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.43 (3 H, s, CH₃), 6.78-6.79 (1 H, d, J = 4 Hz, 4-CH pyrazole), 7.27-7.32 (3 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.47-7.52 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.79-7.87 (4 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.97-7.98 (1 H, d, J = 4 Hz, 5-CH pyrazole). ¹³C {¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.29, 104.82,

118.97, 125.51, 125.70, 126.18, 127.85, 129.32, 129.37, 130.30, 137.78, 152.96. MS(EI): *m/z* 234 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 81.96; % H, 6.05; %N, 11.99; expected: %C, 82.02; %H, 6.02; %N, 11.96.



1-phenyl-4-(4-methoxyphenyl)pyrazole (Table 2.1, entry f): ²⁷ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with phenylhydrazine (108 mg, 1 mmol), 4- methoxyphenylacetylene (132 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 μ L, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes:ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (150 mg, 60%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 100-102 °C (Lit M.p.: 103-104 °C).^{37 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 3.84 (3 H, s, OCH₃), 6.68-6.69 (1 H, d, J = 2.5 Hz, 4-CH pyrazole), 6.94-6.96 (2 H, d, J = 12 Hz, Ar-H), 7.24-7.27 (1 H, m, Ar-

H), 7.42-7.46 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.74-7.75 (2 H, d, J = 8.5 Hz, Ar-*H*), 7.82-7.85 (2 H, d, *J* = 12 Hz, Ar-*H*), 7.91-7.92 (1 H, d, J = 2.5 Hz, 5-*CH* pyrazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 55.32, 104.57, 114.03, 118.95, 125.89, 126.16, 127.09, 127.88, 129.38, 140.24, 152.75, 159.59. MS(EI): *m/z* 250 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 76.72; % H, 5.58; %N, 11.23; expected: %C, 76.78; %H, 5.54; %N, 11.19.



3-(4-(benzyloxy)phenyl)-1-phenyl-pyrazole (Table 2.1, entry g): ²⁷ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with phenylhydrazine (108 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(benzyloxy)-4-ethynylbenzene (208 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 μ L, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes:ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (122 mg, 49%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 116-118 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 5.13 (2 H, s, CH₂), 6.68-6.69 (1 H, d, J = 2.5 Hz, 4-CH

pyrazole), 7.03-7.04 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.26-7.28 (1 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.33-7.37 (1 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.37-7.43 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.43-7.46 (4 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.74-7.76 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.82-7.85 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.91-7.92 (1 H, d, J = 2.5 Hz, 5-C*H* pyrazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 70.02, 104.58, 114.99, 118.92, 126.15, 127.10, 127.49, 127.88, 127.96, 128.57, 129.37, 136.92, 140.20, 152.69, 158.79. MS(EI): *m/z* 326 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found (Expected): %C, (80.96) 80.82; %H, (5.56) 5.72; %N, (8.58) 8.66. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 80.89; % H, 5.59; %N, 8.62; expected: %C, 80.96; %H, 5.56; %N, 8.58.



3-(4-bromophenyl)-1-phenyl-pyrazole (Table 2.1, entry h): ²⁷ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with phenylhydrazine (108 mg, 1 mmol), 1-bromo-4-ethynylbenzene (181 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 μ L, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes:ethyl acetate 9:1, which

afforded the desired compound (179 mg, 60%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 124-126 °C (Lit M.p.: 128 °C).^{38 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 6.73-6.74 (1 H, d, J = 2.5 Hz, 4-C*H* pyrazole), 7.24-7.27 (1 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.44-7.47 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.53-7.54 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.73-7.78 (4 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.93-7.94 (1 H, d, J = 2.5 Hz, 5-C*H* pyrazole). ¹³C {¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 104.95, 114.06, 119.08, 125.96, 126.52, 127.35, 127.91, 128.18, 129.13, 129.45, 131.75. MS(EI): *m/z* 299 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 59.84; % H, 3.62; %N, 9.51; expected: %C, 60.22; %H, 3.71; %N, 9.36.



N,N-diphenyl-4-(1-phenyl-pyrazol-3-yl)aniline (Table 2.1, entry i):²⁷ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with phenylhydrazine (108 mg, 1 mmol), 4-ethynyl-N,N-diphenylaniline (269 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 μ L, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was

hexanes:ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (182 mg, 47%) as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 6.63-6.64 (1 H, d, J = 2.5 Hz, 4-C*H* pyrazole), 6.94-6.97 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.05-7.07 (6 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.17-7.21 (7 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.37-7.39 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.67-7.71 (4 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.86-7.87 (1 H, d, J = 2.5 Hz, 5-C*H* pyrazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 104.74, 114.07, 118.90, 122.87, 123.88, 124.35, 125.97, 127.38, 127.92, 129.24, 129.39, 139.27, 140.22, 147.64, 152.70. MS(EI): *m/z* 387 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 83.74; % H, 5.32; %N, 10.94; expected: %C, 83.69; %H, 5.46; %N, 10.85.



1-phenyl-3-((trimethylsilyl)methyl)-pyrazole (Table 2.1, entry j): ²⁷ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with phenylhydrazine (108 mg, 1 mmol), trimethyl(prop-2-ynyl)silane (112 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 μ L, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes:ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (172 mg, 75%) as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 0.07 (9H, s, Si-CH₃), 2.15 (2 H, 2, CH₂), 6.09-6.10 (1 H, d, J = 2 Hz, 4-C*H* pyrazole), 7.18-7.23 (1 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.37-7.41 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.61-7.64 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.75-7.76 (1 H, d, J = 2 Hz, 5-C*H* pyrazole). ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): -1.65, 18.44, 106.84, 118.52, 125.48, 126.92, 129.24, 129.45, 140.29, 152.63. MS(EI): *m/z* 230 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 67.54; % H, 7.79; %N, 12.33; expected: %C, 67.77; %H, 7.88; %N, 12.16.

Preparation and Characterization of Compounds in Table 2.2



1-(4-bromophenyl)-3-butyl-pyrazole (Table 2.2, entry k): ²⁷ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with (4-bromophenyl)hydrazine (187 mg, 1 mmol), hex-1-yne (82 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 µL, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (145 mg, 52%) as a brown oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 0.94 (3 H, t, J = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.38-1.42 (2 H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.64-1.69 (2 H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 2.68 (2 H, t, J = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 6.24-6.25 (1 H, d, J = 2 Hz, 4-CH-pyrazole), 7.51-7.53 (4 H, m, Ar-H), 7.75-7.76 (1 H, d, J = 2 Hz, 5-CH-pyrazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz):13.90, 22.49, 28.07, 29.69, 31.69, 106.92, 11.87, 120.20, 127.03, 132.32, 139.26, 155.78. MS(EI): *m/z* 279 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 56.04; %H, 5.63; %N, 10.18; expected: %C, 55.93; %H, 5.72; %N, 10.03.



3-butyl-1-(4-iodophenyl)-pyrazole (Table 2.2, entry l):²⁷ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with (4-iodophenyl)hydrazine (234 mg, 1 mmol), hex-1-yne (82 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 µL, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (202 mg, 62%) as a brown oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 0.93 (3 H, t, J = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.36-1.43 (2 H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.62-1.69 (2 H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 2.68 (2 H, t, J = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 6.24-6.25 (1 H, d, J = 2.5 Hz, 4-CH-pyrazole), 7.39-7.42 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.69-7.71 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.76-7.77 (1 H, d, J = 2.5 Hz, 5-CH-pyrazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 13.90, 22.49, 28.07, 29.69, 89.62,

106.96, 120.45, 126.95, 138.26, 139.92, 155.82. MS(EI): *m/z* 326 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 47.58; % H, 4.73; %N, 8.72; expected: %C, 47.87; %H, 4.64; %N, 8.59.



3-butyl-1-p-tolyl-pyrazole (Table 2.2, entry m):²⁷ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with p-tolylhydrazine (122 mg, 1 mmol), hex-1-yne (82 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 µL, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (122 mg, 57%) as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 0.93 (3 H, t, J = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.36-1.43 (2 H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.62-1.69 (2 H, m. CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 2.35 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.70 (2 H, t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 6.21-6.22 (1 H, d, J = 2.5 Hz, 4-CH-pyrazole), 7.18-7.20 (2 H, d, J = 8.5 Hz, Ar-H), 7.50-7.52 (2 H, d, J = 8.5 Hz, Ar-H), 7.74-7.75 (1 H, d, J = 2.5 Hz, 5-CH-pyrazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125

MHz): 13.19, 20.86, 22.52, 28.10, 31.85, 106.05, 118.86, 127.08, 129.80, 135.56, 138.05, 155.06. MS(EI): *m/z* 214 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 78.23; % H, 8.64; %N, 13.13; expected: %C, 76.46; %H, 8.47; %N, 13.07.



3-butyl-1-(4-methoxyphenyl)-pyrazole (Table 2.2, entry n): ²⁷ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with (4-methoxyphenyl)hydrazine (138 mg, 1 mmol), hex-1-yne (82 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 μ L, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes:ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (161 mg, 70%) as a brown oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 0.93 (3 H, t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₃CH₃), 1.39-1.41 (2 H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.62-1.69 (2 H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 2.69 (2 H, t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 3.81 (3 H, s, OCH₃), 6.20-6.21 (1 H, d, *J* = 2.5 Hz, 4-CH-pyrazole), 6.91-6.93 (2 H, d, J = 9 Hz, Ar-H), 7.51-7.53 (2

H, d, J = 9 Hz, Ar-H), 7.74-7.75 (1 H, d, *J* = 2.5 Hz, 5-*CH*-pyrazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 13.93, 22.53, 28.07, 31.89, 55.54, 105.88, 114.41, 120.63, 127.26, 154.92, 157.84. MS(EI): *m/z* 230 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 73.19; % H, 7.62; %N, 12.30; expected: %C, 73.01; %H, 7.88; %N, 12.16.



3-butyl-1-(3,5-dichlorophenyl)-pyrazole (Table 2.2, entry o):²⁷ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing Ti(NMe₂)₂(pypyr)₂ (71.7 mg, 0.15 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with (3,5-dichlorophenyl)hydrazine (177 mg, 1 mmol), hex-1-yne (82 mg, 1 mmol), and cyclohexylisonitrile (186 μ L, 1.5 mmol), The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 36 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes:ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (121 mg, 45%) as a brown oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 0.93 (3 H, t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.36-1.41 (2 H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.62-1.66 (2 H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 2.69 (2 H, t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 6.24-6.25 (1 H, d, *J* = 2 Hz, 4-CH-pyrazole), 7.15-7.16 (1 H, m, Ar-H), 7.54-7.55 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.72-7.73 (1 H, d, *J* =

2 Hz, 5-*CH*-pyrazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 13.84, 22.41, 27.98, 31.48, 107.56, 116.82, 125.36, 127.06, 135.65, 141.51, 156.29. MS(EI): *m/z* 269 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 58.19; % H, 5.11; %N, 10.69; expected: %C, 58.01; %H, 5.24; %N, 10.41.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- (a) Gandhale, D. N.; Patil, A. S.; Awate, B. G.; Naik, L. M. *Pesticides*, **1982**, 16, 27. (b) Elguero, J.; Goya, P.; Jagerovic, N.; Silva, A. M. S. *Targets in Heterocyclic Systems– Chemistry and Properties*, **2002**, 6, 52. (c) Elguero, J. *Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry I*, Katritzky, A. R.; Rees, C.W. Pergamon Press, Oxford, **1984**. Vol. 5, 167. (d) Elguero, J. *Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II*, Katritzky, A. R.; Rees, C. W.; Scriven, E. F. Pergamon Press, Oxford, **1996**. Vol. 3, 1 (e) Zificsak, C. A.; Hlasta, D. J. *Tetrahedron*, **2004**, 60, 8991. (f) Haino, T.; Tanaka, M.; Ikeda, K.; Kubo, K.; Mori, A.; Fukazawa, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett*. **2004**, 45, 2277.
- 2. Boyne, M.; Stratton, C.; Johnson, F.; Tonge, P. ACS Chem. Biol. 2006, 1, 43.
- 3. Magedov, I. V.; Manpadi, M.; Van slambrouck, S.; Steelant, W. F. A.; Rozhkova, E.; Przheval'skii, N. M.; Rogelj, S.; Kornienko, A. *J. Med. Chem.* **2007**, 50, 5183.
- 4. Rovnyak, G. C.; Millonig, R. C.; Schwartz, J.; Shu, V. J. Med. Chem. 1982, 25, 1482.
- (a) Palaska, E.; Aytemir, M.; Uzbay, I. T.; Erol, D. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 2001, 36, 539.
 (b) Rajendra, P. Y.; Lakshmana, R. A.; Prasoona, L.; Murali, K.; Ravi, K. P. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2005, 15, 5030.
- (a) Ozdemir, Z.; Kandilici, B.; Gumusel, B.; Calis, U.; Bilgin, A. *Eur. J.Med. Chem.* 2007, 42, 373. (b) Ruhogluo, O.; Ozdemir, Z.; Calis, U.; Gumusel, B.; Bilgin, A. A. *Arzneimittelforschung.* 2005, 55, 431.
- Hees, K. L.; Fitzgerald, J. J.; Steiner, K. E.; Mattes, J. F.; Mihan, B.; Tosi, T.; Mondoro, D.; McCaleb, M. L. J. *Med. Chem.*, **1996**, 39, 3920.
- 8. Sener, A.; Kasımogulları, R.; Sener, M. K.; Bildirici, I.; Akcamur, Y. J. Heterocyclic Chem, 2002, 39, 869.
- Liu, X. H.; Cui, P.; Song, B. A.; Bhadury, P. S.; Zhu, H. L.; Wang, S. F. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2008, 16, 4075.
- 10. Akbas, E.; Berber, I. Eur J Med Chem, 2005, 40, 401.
- 11. Schmidt, P.; Eichenberger, K.; Wilhelm, M. Angew. Chem., 1961, 73, 15.
- Penning, T. D.; Talley, J. J.; Bertenshaw, S. R.; Carter, J. S.; Collins, P. W.; Docter, S.; Graneto, M. J.; Lee, L. F.; Malecha, J. W.; Miyashiro, J. M.; Rogers, R. S.; Rogier, D. J.; Yu, S. S.; Anderson, G. D.; Burton, E. G.; Cogburn, J. N.; Gregory, S. A.; Koboldt, C.
M.; Perkins, W. E.; Seibert, K.; Veenhuizen, A. W.; Zhang, Y. Y.; Isakson, P. C. J. Med. Chem. 1997, 40, 1347.

- 13. Wachter, G. A.; Hartmann, R. W.; Sergejew, T.; Grun, G. L.; Ledergerber. D. J. Med. Chem. 1996, 39, 834.
- 14. (a) Singer, R. A.; Caron, S.; McDermott, R. E.; Arpin, P.; Do, N. M. Synthesis, 2003, 1727. (b) Singer, R. A.; Dore, M.; Sieser, J. E.; Berliner, M. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 3727. (c) Kowalcyk, R.; Skarzewski, J. Tetrahedron, 2005, 61, 623. (d) Ojwach, S. O.; Darkwa, J. Inorg.Chim. Acta, 2011, 363, 1947.
- 15. (a) Harb, A. F.; Abbas, A. H. H.; Mostafa, F. H. Chem. Pap. 2005, 59, 187. (b) Harb, A. F.; Abbas, A. H. H.; Mostafa, F. H. J. Iranian Chem. Soc. 2005, 2, 115.
- 16. (a) Wang, X.; Li, W.; Zhang, X. H.; Liu, D. Z.; Zhou, X. Q. Dyes Pigm. 2005, 64, 141.
 (b) Kanetkar, V. R.; Shankarling, G.; Malanker, J. Colourage 1998, 45, 35. (c) Naik, S. N.; Puro, S. S.; Colourage 1995, 42, 56. (d) Hemingway, E. Rep. Prog. Appl. Chem. 1969, 54, 150. (e) Dolars, A.; Schellhammer, C. W.; Schroeder, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1975, 14, 665.
- Catalan, J.; Fabero, F.; Claramunt, R. M.; Santa Maria, M. D.; Foces-Foces, M. C.; Hernandez Cano, F.; Martinez-Ripoll, M.; Elguero, J.; Sastre, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 5039.
- (a) Karatsu, T.; Shiochi, N.; Aono, T.; Miyagawa, N.; Kitamura, A. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2003, 76, 1227. (b) Yen, Y. P.; Huang, T. M.; Tseng, Y. P.; Lin, H. Y.; Lai, C. C.; J. Chin. Chem Soc. 2004, 51, 393.
- (a) Sachse, A.; Penkova, L.; Noel, G.; Dechert, S.; Varzatskii, O. A.; Fritsky, I. O.; Meyer, F. Synthesis 2008, 800. (b) Maeda, H.; Ito, Y.; Kusunose, Y.; Nakanishi, T.; *Chem. Commun.* 2007, 1136. (c) Gemming, S.; Schreiber, M.; Thiel, W.; Heine, T.; Seifert, G.; Avelino de Abreu, H.; Duarte, H. A. J. Lumin. 2004, 109, 143.
- (a) Stanovnik, B.; Svete, J.; Neier, R. Methods of Organic Transformations, Georg Thieme, Stuttgart, Germany, 2002. Vol. 12, 15. (b) Yet, L. In Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry III. Katritzky, A. R.; Ramsden, C. A.; Scriven, E. F. V.; Taylor, R. J. K.; Eds.; Elsevier: Oxford, U.K., 2008; Vol. 4, 1.
- (a) Zhu J.; Bienayme, H. *Multicomponent Reactions*, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2005. (b) Domling, A. *Chem. Rev.*, 2006, 106, 17. (c) Domling, A.; Ugi, I. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2000, 39, 3168. (d) Tietze, L. F.; Brasche, G.; Gericke, K. M. *Domino Reactions in Organic Synthesis*, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2006. (e) Tietze, L. F.; Beifuss, U. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.*, 1993, 32, 131. (f) Tietze, L. F. *Chem. Rev.*, 1996, 96, 115. (g) Arya, P.; Chou, D. T. H.; Baek, M. G. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2001, 40, 339. (h) Burke, M. D.; Berge, E. M.; Schreiber, S. L. *Science*, 2003, 302, 613. (i) Cox, B.; Denyer, J. C.; Binnie, A.; Donnelly, M. C.; Evans, B.; Green, D. V. S.; Lewis, J. A.; Mander, T. H.;

Merritt, A. T.; Valler, M. J.; Watson, S. P. Prog. Med. Chem., 2000, 37, 83. (j)
Schreiber, S. L. Science, 2000, 287, 1964. (k) Schreiber, S. L.; Burke, M. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 46. (l) Armstrong, R. W.; Combs, A. P.; Tempest, P. A.; Brown, S. D.; Keating, T. A. Acc. Chem. Res. 1996, 29, 123. (m) Bienayme, H.; Hulme, C.; Oddon, G.; Schmitt, P. Chem. Eur. J., 2000, 6, 3321. (n) Posner, G. H. Chem. Rev., 1986, 86, 831. (o) Weber, L.; Illgen, K.; Almstetter, M. Synlett, 1999, 366. (p) Zhu, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 1133. (q) Kobayashi, S. Chem. Soc. Rev., 1999, 28, 1. (r) Zeni G.; Larock, R. C. Chem. Rev., 2004, 104, 2285. (s) Nakamura, I.; Yamamoto, Y. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 2127. (t) Lie, J. J.; Gribble, G. W. Palladium in Heterocyclic Chemistry, Pergamon Press, New York, 2000. (u) Kirsch, G.; Hesse, S.; Comel, A. Curr. Org. Synth., 2004, 1, 47. (v) Battistuzzi, G.; Cacchi, S.; Fabrizi, G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 2671.

- Liu, H. L.; Jiang, H. F.; Zhang, M.; Yao, W. J.; Zhu, Q. H.; Tang, Z. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2008, 49, 3805.
- 23. Willy, B.; Muller, T. J. J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 4157.
- 24. Ahmed, M. S. M.; Kobayashi, K.; Mori, A. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 4487.
- Stonehouse, J. P.; Chekmarev, D. S.; Ivanova, N. I.; Lang, S.; Pairaudeau, G.; Smith, N.; Stocks, M. J.; Sviridov, S. I.; Utkina, L. M. Synlett. 2008, 100.
- (a) Majumder, S.; Gipson, K. R.; Staples, R. J.; Odom, A. L. Adv. Synth. Catal., 2009, 351, 2013.
 (b) S.; Banerjee, Y.; Shi, C.; Cao, A.; L. Odom, J. Organomet. Chem, 2005, 690, 5066.
- 27. Dissanayake, A. A.; Odom, A. L. Chem. Commun., 2012, 48, 440.
- 28. (a) Banerjee, S.; Shi, Y.; Cao, C.; Odom, A. L. J. Organomet. Chem., 2005, 690, 5066.
 (b) Cao, C.; Shi, Y.; Odom, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2003, 125, 2880. (c) Cao, C.; Shi, Y.; Odom, A. L. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 2853.
- 29. Klappa, J. J.; Rich, A. E.; McNeill, K. Org. Lett., 2002, 4, 435.
- 30. Ugi, I.; Meyr, R.; Lipinski, M.; Bodesheim, F.; Rosendahl, F. Org. Synth. 1961, 41, 13.
- Minkkil, A.; Savinainen, J. R.; Heikki, K.; Xhaard, H.; Nevalainen, T.; Laitinen, J. T.; Poso, A.; Lepp, J.; Saario, S. M. Chem. Med. Chem. 2009, 4, 1253.
- 32. Hillhouse, G. L.; Smith, M. R. III. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 4066.
- 33. Gerard, S.; Plantier, R. R.; Nuzillard, J. M.; Charles, P. *Tetrahedron Letters*. 2000, 41, 9791.
- 34. Vagina, L. K.; Chistolkletov, V. N.; Petrov, A. A. Russ. J. Org. Chem. 1965, 1, 1700.

- 35. Robert, S. F.; Harald, J. B.; Joseph, P. A. H. Tetrahedron Letters, 2011, 52, 1506.
- 36. Palmberg, R. B.; Siegrist, A. E. Helv. Chim. Acta. 1979, 62, 1816.
- 37. Xu, Z. L.; Li, H. X.; Ren, Z. G.; Du, W. Y.; Xu, W. C.; Lang, J. P. *Tetrahedron*, **2011**, 67, 5282. Bergeon, M. T. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Fr.* **1971**, 917.

CHAPTER 3. REGIOSELECTIVE CONVERSION OF ALKYNES TO 4-SUBSTITUTED AND 3,4-DISUBSTITUTED ISOXAZOLES USING TITANIUM-CATALYZED MULTICOMPONENT COUPLING REACTIONS

3.1 Introduction

Isoxazoles (1,2-oxazoles) are five-membered aromatic heterocycles containing adjacent oxygen and nitrogen atoms in the ring.¹ The isoxazole core structure is found in many natural products such as ibotenic acid, muscimol, cloxacillin and medicinally useful compounds (**Figure 3.1**).² Typical biological uses of these compounds includes selective agonists of human cloned dopamine D4 receptors,³ GABA_A antagonist (Broxaterol),⁴ analgesic,⁵ antiinflammatory (Valdecoxid),⁵ ulcerogenic,⁵ antimicrobial (Sulfamethoxazole),⁶ antifungal,⁶ COX-2 inhibitory,⁷ antithrombotic,⁸ antinociceptive,⁹ and anticancer activity.¹⁰



Figure 3.1 Structures of bioactive isoxazoles

Isoxazoles are less than stable their oxazole counterparts due to the relatively weak N-O bond energy (55 Kcal/mol).¹¹ Therefore substituted isoxazoles can be easily converted under thermal or photochemical reaction conditions to functionally complex derivatives such as β -hydroxyketones, γ -aminoalcohols, α , β -unsaturated oximes, β -hydroxynitriles and aziridine esters which can be useful as synthetic intermediates.¹²

Isoxazoles are generally prepared by (i) the reaction of 1,3-dicarbonyls or their 1,3dielectrophile equivalent reagents such as β -keto aldehydes, β -keto esters, α -acetylenic ketones/aldehydes, α,β -unsaturated ketones, β -imino nitriles and β -keto nitriles with hydroxylamines¹³ (ii) 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of nitrile oxides with alkynes.¹⁴ The disadvantage of these methods are the lack of availability of the 1,3-dielectrophilic and 1,3dipole building blocks and that unsymmetrical starting materials often results in a mixture of regioisomeric isoxazoles in poor yields (**Scheme 3.1**).



Scheme 3.1 Typical synthesis of isoxazoles

Multicomponent coupling reactions (MCRs) are defined as a one-pot process which involves the reaction of at least three components to form a single product that incorporates essentially all the atoms of the starting materials. These multicomponent reactions are atom economic, step efficient, convergent and flexible. Therefore, transition metal catalyzed MCRs have attracted considerable attention from academia and industry over the last decade for synthesis of heterocyclic core structures.¹⁵

Microwave-assisted multicomponent coupling reactions in organic synthesis have received much interest in recent years. Rate enhancement, increased yield, improved purity and greater reproducibility are amoung the major advantages in using microwave reactors in organic synthesis.¹⁶ In 2008 the Muller group reported the synthesis of substituted isoxazoles by employing a one-pot three-component reaction, including a Sonogashira coupling of acid chlorides with terminal alkynes followed by 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of the resulting alkynones with nitrile oxides under microwave irradiation to generate trisubstituted isoxazoles in good yields (**Scheme 3.2**).¹⁷



Scheme 3.2 Microwave-assisted multicomponent synthesis of isoxazoles

A novel synthesis of 3,5-trisubstituted isoxazoles in moderate yields using a palladiumcatalyzed 4-component coupling of terminal alkynes, hydroxylamine, and aryl halides in the presence of carbon monoxide was recently reported by the Mori group (**Scheme 3.3**).¹⁸

Ar^{-I} +
$$R^{1}$$
 + $NH_{2}OH$ $\xrightarrow{PdCl_{2}(PPh_{3})_{2}}$ N_{O} R^{1}

۸...

Scheme 3.3 One-pot palladium catalyzed 4-component synthesis of isoxazoles

In this study, we demonstrate that a variety of substituted isoxazoles can be prepared in a one-pot 4-component fashion (**Scheme 3.8**). The methodology uses a titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling of an alkyne, isonitrile, and primary amine to generate unsymmetrical 1,3-diimine tautomers. Isoxazoles can be generated by simply removing the volatiles from the multicomponent coupling reaction and treating the crude product with commercially available hydroxylamine hydrochloride.¹⁹

3.2 Results and Discussion

The titanium catalysts for these reactions use pyrrolyl-based ancillary ligands prepared in a single step (**Scheme 3.4**). A double Mannich reaction between methylamine hydrochloride, formaldehyde, and pyrrole generates N,N-di(methyl- α -pyrrolyl)-N-methylamine (H₂dpma).²⁰ The other ancillary commonly employed, 5,5-dimethyldipyrrolylmethane (H₂dpm), is prepared from trifluoroacetic acid-catalyzed condensation of pyrrole and acetone.²¹ Addition of the NH-pyrrole compounds H₂dpm and H₂dpma to commercially available Ti(NMe₂)₄ generates the catalysts in high yield. For this work, two different catalysts were employed. For most of the reactions, the milder catalyst with the tridentate ancillary, Ti(NMe₂)₂(dpma) (1),²² was found to be optimal. In a few cases, the more reactive Ti(NMe₂)₂(dpm) (2)²³ gave higher conversions, especially with more sterically hindered (internal) alkynes.



Scheme 3.4 Synthesis of H₂dpma, H₂dpm, Ti(NMe₂)₂(dpma) (1), and Ti(NMe₂)₂(dpm) (2)

$$H_2NR^1 + R^2 = R^3 + C = N - R^4 \xrightarrow{\text{titanium}}_{\text{catalyst}} R^4 R^{1}N$$

Scheme 3.5 Titanium catalyzed 3-component iminoamination of alkynes

The multicomponent reaction used in this study is a formal alkyne iminoamination, addition of an iminyl and amine across the triple bond (**Scheme 3.5**).²⁴ The proposed mechanism for the reaction is shown in **Scheme 3.6**. The titanium was introduced as a dimethylamido-containing precatalyst, the dimethylamido ligands are protolytically removed by the primary amine substrate to generate titanium imido complexes which can undergo [2 + 2]-cycloaddition with alkynes. The resulting azatitanacyclobutenes undergo 1,1-insertion of isonitriles to generate 5-membered metallacycles. The 5-membered metallacycles are protolytically converted back to titanium imido complex with concomitant release of the iminoamination products.²⁵



Scheme 3.6 Proposed mechanism for titanium-catalyzed iminoamination of alkynes

The regioselectivity of the multicomponent reaction is set by the [2+2]-cycloaddition reaction in conjunction with the relative trapping rates by isonitrile. The regioselectivity of the addition is electronically controlled when an arene is found on the alkyne triple bond through stabilization of a partial anionic charge adjacent to the metal in the azametallacyclobutene intermediate (**Scheme 3.7**).



Scheme 3.7 Regioselectivity in alkyne addition

The general procedure for the one-pot synthesis of 4-substituted isoxazoles used here is shown in **Scheme 3.8**. The 3CC reaction is commonly done at 100 $^{\circ}$ C in toluene. The products of iminoamination can be converted to substituted isoxazoles via cyclo-condensation by addition of hydroxylamine hydrochloride (1.2 equiv) in a more polar solvent (ethanol).



Scheme 3.8 General scheme for one-pot synthesis of 4-substituted isoxazoles

During the first part of the study, the reaction was limited to vinyl-, heterocyclic-, and aryl-substituted terminal alkynes, which results exclusively in 4-substituted isoxazoles in moderate yields (**Table 3.1**, entries a-h). The reactions of alkyl-containing terminal alkynes such as 1-hexyne and *tert*-butyldimethyl(pent-4-yn-1-yloxy)silane, result in the production of the 3CC product in good yields using either catalyst; however, for reasons currently unknown, the addition of hydroxylamine hydrochloride under any reaction conditions we investigated did not result in formation of the alkyl-substituted isoxazoles.

Table 3.1 Ex	amples of isoxazoles	syntheses using	g hydroxylamine	hydrochloride	with different
terminal alky	nes (Scheme 3.8)				

Entry	Alkyne	Catalyst	Product	Isolated yield
a		1	O.N	35% ^a
b	Br	1	O.N Br	55% ^a
c		1	O N	51% ^a
d	o line	1	O.N O.N	48% ^a
e	BnO	1	BnO	57% ^a

Table 3.1 (cont'd)



^a Reactions carried out with cyclohexylamine, alkyne, and *tert*-butylisonitrile in a 1:1:1.5 ratio with 10 mol % catalyst (1) at 100 $^{\circ}$ C for 24 h. Once the 3CC is complete, product was stirred at 25 $^{\circ}$ C in ethanol with hydroxylamine hydrochloride (1.2 eqviv).

^b Aniline was used in place of cyclohexylamine with 10 mol % of catalyst (2).

For the second part of the study iminoamination of internal aliphatic and aromatic alkynes were investigated. These reactions typically give a single 3CC product in the form of the iminoamine, however the subsequent reaction with hydroxylamine hydrochloride is not regioselective for these substrates. Initially, the multicomponent coupling of aniline, 1phenylpropyne and *tert*-butylisonitrile followed by cyclo-condensation with hydroxylamine hydrochloride in ethanol at 45 $^{\circ}$ C was investigated. The reactions were heated slightly as the cyclizations were somewhat slower than with terminal alkynes. The regioselectivity of the hydroxylamine hydrochloride-mediated cyclization results in a 1.0 : 1.8 ratio of 4,5- to 3,4isomers of the substituted isoxazole products (**Table 3.2**, entry 1).

This observation was further explored by varying the amine (R¹) substituent in the 3CC product in an affort to improve the isomer ratio of the cyclization step. The results of those studies are shown in **Table 3.2**. While most substitutions on the aniline ring had little consequence on the isomer ratios with no clear electronic or steric effect, one of the aniline derivatives did significantly improve the regioselectivity, 3,5-dichloroaniline (**Table 3.2**, entry 5). Noticeably naphthalen-1-amine results in more of the of 4,5 regioisomer than observed from substituted anilines and this may result from the fact that an ortho position is substituted (**Table 3.2**, entry 10). Further, multicomponent coupling reactions with varius substituted anilines gave poor yields of 3CC products due to steric bulkyness around the catalytically active metal site.

Table 3.2 Effect of R¹ on the isomer ratio in the synthesis of 4-phenyl-3-methylisoxazole



Table 3.2 (cont'd)

8	O	1.00 : 1.53 ^a
9	-0-NH2	1.00 : 1.41 ^a
10	NH2	1.00 : 0.75 ^a

^a Isomer ratios were determined by NMR integrations of the crude reaction mixture.

Further optimization of the reaction was carried out by examining solvent effects on the observed isomer ratio. the results are summarized in **Table 3.3**; As shown use of THF along with 3,5-dichloroaniline as the aromatic amine substrate provided a single regioisomer, the 3,4-disubstituted isoxazoles.

Table 3.3 Solvent effects on the isomer ratio in the synthesis of 4-phenyl-3-methylisoxazole



		Isomer ratio		
Entry	Solvent	Ph Ph CH_3 H_3C O N $+$ O N		
1	ethanol	1.00 : 8.00 ^a		
2	ethyacetate	1.00 : 5.23 ^a		
3	N,N-dimethylformamide	1.00 : 4.56 ^a		
4	tetrahydrofuran	single isomer		
5	1,4-dioxane	1.00 : 3.06 ^a		
6	N,N-dimethylacetamide	1.00 : 4.03 ^a		
7	dimethyl sulfoxide	1.00 : 5.28 ^a		

^a Isomer ratios were determined by NMR integrations of the crude reaction mixture

Substituted isoxazoles synthesized from internal alkynes are summarized in table 3.4. This methodology results in poor yields of substituted isoxazoles (**Table 3.4**, entry i-k). For reasons currently unknown, substituted isoxazoles from aliphatic internal alkynes such as hex-3-yne, 2-methylhex-1-en-3-yne and 1-(prop-1-yn-1-yl)cyclohex-1-ene were not isolated under any reaction conditions we investigated.

Table 3.4 Examples of isoxazoles syntheses using hydroxylamine hydrochloride with different internal alkynes^a

Entry	Alkyne	Catalyst	Product	Isolated yield
i		2	O.N	35%
j		2	O.N	25% ^a
k	TBSO-	2		30% ^a

^a Reactions carried out with aniline, alkyne, and *tert*-butylisonitrile in a 1:1:1.5 ratio with 10 mol % catalyst (**2**) at 100 °C for 48 h. Once the 3CC is complete, product was stirred at 45 °C in THF with hydroxylamine hydrochloride (1.2 eqviv).

3.3 Conclusion

Titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling of a primary amine, an alkyne, and an isonitrile followed by treatment with hydroxylamine hydrochloride provides substituted isoxazoles in a one-pot procedure. This new procedure has significant flexibility in the types of substituted isoxazoles that can be accessed. The yields are generally modest, but the products are readily isolated in pure form using column chromatography. Reactions with terminal alkynes are more facile and can be accomplished with the milder $Ti(NMe_2)_2(dpma)$ (1) as catalyst. The more active dipyrrolylmethane catalyst $Ti(NMe_2)_2(dpm)$ (2) was used for internal alkynes.

The reaction has several points to allow for future optimization of a specific target of interest. For example, the type of substituent on the isonitrile can be varied in this reaction and hopefully this could improve the regioselectivities or yields. This methodology allows access to a large number of 4-substituted and 3,4-disubstituted isoxazoles in a regioselective manner from internal and terminal alkynes respectively. The products are easily isolated in pure form after the one-pot syntheses.

3.4 Experimental

General considerations

All manipulations of air sensitive compounds were carried out in an MBraun dry box under a purified nitrogen atmosphere. Toluene was purified by sparging with dry N₂ and removing water by running through activated alumina systems purchased from Solv-Tek. ¹H and ¹³C spectra were recorded on VXR-500 spectrometers. Melting points were measured on a Mel-Temp II apparatus with a mercury thermometer and are uncalibrated. Ti(NMe₂)₂(dpma) (1) and Ti(NMe₂)₂(dpm) (2) were made following the literature procedures. Alkynes were purchased either from Aldrich or from GFS chemicals and were distilled from BaO under dry nitrogen. Amines were purchased from Aldrich, dried over KOH, and distilled under dry nitrogen. tert-Butylisonitrile was made according to the literature procedure and purified by distillation under nitrogen.²⁷ Hydroxylamine hydrochloride was purchased from Columbus Chemical Industries, and neutral alumina was purchased Sigma-Aldrich Co and used as received. EtOH, CH₂Cl₂, hexanes, tetrahydrofuran (THF) and EtOAc were purchased from Mallinckrodt chemicals and used as received.

Preparation and Characterization of Compounds in Table 3.1



4-Phenylisoxazole (Table 3.1, entry a): In a N2 filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 1 (32.4 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), phenylacetylene (102 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then the same pressure tube was charged with hydroxylamine hydrochloride (83 mg, 1.2 mmol) and absolute ethanol (2 mL). The reaction was stirred at room temperature (25 °C) for 16 h. After completion of the reaction, solvents were removed in vacuo, The crude product was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and washed with water (50 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and concentrated by rotary evaporation. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes/ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (51 mg, 35%) as a white solid. Mp: 44-45 °C (lit. mp: 44-46 °C).²⁸ ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 7.27-7.34 (1H, m, Ar-H), 7.39-7.42 (2H, m, Ar-H), 7.46-7.48 (2H, m, Ar-H), 8.55 (1H, s, 3-CH isoxazole), 8.66 (1H, s, 5-CH isoxazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125

MHz): 121.3, 126.3, 128.0, 128.4, 129.1, 147.9, 153.3. MS(EI): *m/z* 145. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 74.85; %H, 4.52; %N, 9.71; expected: %C, 74.47; %H, 4.86; %N, 9.65.



4-(4-Bromophenyl)isoxazole (Table 3.1, entry b): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **1** (32.4 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), 1-bromo-4-ethynylbenzene (181 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then the same pressure tube was charged with hydroxylamine hydrochloride (83 mg, 1.2 mmol) and absolute ethanol (2 mL). The reaction was stirred at room temperature (25 °C) for 16 h. After completion of the reaction, solvents were removed in vacuo, The crude product was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and washed with water (50 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and concentrated by rotary evaporation. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes/ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (123 mg, 55%) as a yellow solid. Mp: 111-113 °C (lit. mp: 113 °C).^{29 1}H NMR

(CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 7.32-7.34 (2H, d, 11 Hz, Ar-H), 7.51-7.53 (2H, d, 11 Hz, Ar-H), 8.51 (1H, s, 3-CH isoxazole), 8.65 (1H, s, 5-CH isoxazole). ¹³C {¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 120.4, 121.9, 127.4, 127.9, 132.3, 147.7, 153.5. MS(EI): *m/z* 224. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 47.93; % H, 2.59; %N, 6.34; expected: %C, 48.25; %H, 2.70; %N, 6.25.



4-p-Tolylisoxazole (Table 3.1, entry c):¹⁹ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **1** (32.4 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), 1-ethynyl-4- methylbenzene (116 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then the same pressure tube was charged with hydroxylamine hydrochloride (83 mg, 1.2 mmol) and absolute ethanol (2 mL). The reaction was stirred at room temperature (25 °C) for 16 h. After completion of the reaction, solvents were removed in vacuo, The crude product was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and washed with water (50 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and concentrated by rotary evaporation. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes/ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired

compound (81 mg, 51%) as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.36 (3H, s, CH₃), 7.20-7.22 (2H, d, 8 Hz, Ar-H), 7.34-7.36 (2H, d, 8 Hz, Ar-H), 8.52 (1H, s, 3-CH isoxazole), 8.62 (1H, s, 5-CH isoxazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.2, 121.3, 125.5, 126.3, 129.8, 138.0, 148.0, 153.0. MS(EI): *m/z* 159. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 74.98; %H, 5.88; %N, 8.66; expected: %C, 75.45; %H, 5.70; %N, 8.80.



4-(4-Methoxyphenyl)isoxazole (Table 3.1, entry d): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **1** (32.4 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), 1-ethynyl-4-methoxybenzene (132 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then the same pressure tube was charged with hydroxylamine hydrochloride (83 mg, 1.2 mmol) and absolute ethanol (2 mL). The reaction was stirred at room temperature (25 °C) for 16 h. After completion of the reaction, solvents were removed in vacuo, The crude product was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and washed with water (50 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous

Na₂SO₄ and concentrated by rotary evaporation. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes/ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (81 mg, 51%) as a yellow solid. Mp: 40-42 °C (lit. mp: 40 °C).^{30 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 3.82 (3H, s, OCH₃), 6.93-6.94 (2H, d, 8.5 Hz, Ar-H), 7.37-7.39 (2H, d, 8.5 Hz, Ar-H), 8.49 (1H, s, 3-CH isoxazole), 8.57 (1H, s, 5-CH isoxazole). ¹³C {¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 55.4, 114.6, 127.7, 128.4, 129.6, 148.0, 152.5, 159.5. MS(EI): m/z 175. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 67.98; %H, 5.33; %N, 8.13; expected: %C, 68.56, %H, 5.18, %N, 8.00.



4-(4-(Benzyloxy)phenyl)isoxazole (Table 3.1, entry e):¹⁹ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **1** (32.4 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(benzyloxy)-4-ethynylbenzene (208 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then the same pressure tube was charged with hydroxylamine hydrochloride (83

mg, 1.2 mmol) and absolute ethanol (2 mL). The reaction was stirred at room temperature (25 $^{\circ}$ C) for 16 h. After completion of the reaction, solvents were removed in vacuo, The crude product was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and washed with water (50 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and concentrated by rotary evaporation. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes/ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (143 mg, 57%) as a light brown solid. Mp: 110-112 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 5.09 (2H, s, CH₂), 7.00-7.01 (2H, d, 6.5 Hz, Ar-H), 7.32-7.34 (1H, d, 6.5 Hz, Ar-H), 7.37-7.44 (6H, m, Ar-H) 8.45 (1H, s, 3-CH isoxazole), 8.57 (1H, s, 5-CH isoxazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 70.1, 115.5, 121.0, 121.2, 127.4, 127.7, 128.1, 128.6, 136.6, 148.0, 152.6, 158.6. MS(EI): *m/z* 251. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 76.12; %H, 5.01; %N, 5.72; expected: %C, 76.48; %H, 5.21; %N, 5.57.



4-(1-Benzyl-1H-indol-3-yl)isoxazole (Table 3.1, entry f): ¹⁹ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), 1-benzyl-3-ethynyl-1H-indole (231 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a

Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then the same pressure tube was charged with hydroxylamine hydrochloride (83 mg, 1.2 mmol) and absolute ethanol (2 mL). The reaction was stirred at room temperature (25 °C) for 16 h. After completion of the reaction, solvents were removed in vacuo, The crude product was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and washed with water (50 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and concentrated by rotary evaporation. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes/ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (137 mg, 50%) as a light brown solid. Mp: 128-130 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 5.28 (2H, s, CH₂) 7.08-7.10 (2H, d, 7 Hz, Ar-H), 7.14-7.29 (8H, m, Ar-H), 7.63-7.65 (2H, d, 9.5 Hz, Ar-H) 8.49 (1H, s, 3-CH isoxazole), 8.65 (1H, s, 5-CH isoxazole). ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H{}$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 50.2, 100.2, 119.4, 120.5, 122.7, 125.9, 126.9, 127.9, 128.9, 136.8, 148.8, 152.1. MS(EI): *m/z* 274. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 78.64; %H, 5.22; %N, 10.32; expected: %C, 78.81; %H, 5.14; %N, 10.21.



4-(Isoxazol-4-yl)-N,N-diphenylaniline (Table 3.1, entry g):¹⁹ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 1 (32.4 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), 4-ethynyl-N,Ndiphenylaniline (269 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then the same pressure tube was charged with hydroxylamine hydrochloride (83 mg, 1.2 mmol) and absolute ethanol (2 mL). The reaction was stirred at room temperature (25 °C) for 16 h. After completion of the reaction, solvents were removed in vacuo, The crude product was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and washed with water (50 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and concentrated by rotary evaporation. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes/ethyl acetate 9.5:0.5, which afforded the desired compound (143 mg, 48%) as a white solid. Mp: 144-146 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) 6.97-6.99 (2H, t, 7 Hz, Ar-H), 7.02-7.05 (6H, m, Ar-H), 7.18-7.22 (4H, m, Ar-H), 7.25-7.27 (2H. d, 9 Hz, Ar-H) 8.44 (1H, s, 3-CH isoxazole), 8.54 (1H, s, 5-CH isoxazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 121.1, 122.1, 123.3, 123.7, 124.6, 127.2, 129.4, 147.4, 147.8, 147.9, 152.7. MS(EI): m/z 312. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 80.82; %H, 5.24; %N, 8.82; expected: %C, 80.75; %H, 5.16; %N, 8.97.



4-(Cyclohex-1-enyl)isoxazole (Table 3.1, entry h): ¹⁹ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 1 (32.4 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), 1-ethynylcyclohex-1-ene (106 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then the same pressure tube was charged with hydroxylamine hydrochloride (83 mg, 1.2 mmol) and absolute ethanol (2 mL). The reaction was stirred at room temperature (25 °C) for 16 h. After completion of the reaction, solvents were removed in vacuo, The crude product was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and washed with water (50 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and concentrated by rotary evaporation. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes/ethyl acetate 9.5:0.5, which afforded the desired compound (143 mg, 57%) as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.60-1.64 (2H, m, CH₂), 1.68-1.73 (2H, m, CH₂), 2.12-2.15 (2H, m, CH₂), 2.20-2.23 (2H, m, CH₂), 6.02-6.04 (1H, m, CH), 8.24 (1H, s, 3-CH isoxazole), 8.33 (1H, s, 5-CH isoxazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 22.0, 22.3, 25.2, 27.3, 122.9, 125.2, 125.3, 146.8, 151.4. MS(EI): m/z 149. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 72.33; %H, 7.29; %N, 9.24; expected: %C, 72.46; %H, 7.43; %N, 9.39.

Preparation and Characterization of Compounds in Table 3.4



3-Methyl-4-phenylisoxazole (Table 3.4, entry i): In a N2 filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 3,5-dichloroaniline (162 mg, 1 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then the same pressure tube was charged with hydroxylamine hydrochloride (83 mg, 1.2 mmol) and THF (2 mL). The reaction was stirred at 45 °C for 16 h. After completion of the reaction, solvents were removed in vacuo, The crude product was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and washed with water (50 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and concentrated by rotary evaporation. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes/ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (55 mg, 35%) as a vellow oil.³⁰ ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.56 (3H, s, CH₃), 7.32-7.34 (1H, d, Ar-H), 7.35-7.37 (2H, m, Ar-H), 7.40-7.44 (2H, m, Ar-H), 8.34 (1H, s, 5-CH isoxazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 31.0, 126.0, 126.7, 127.4, 127.9, 129.1, 130.1, 150.2. MS(EI): *m/z* 159.

Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 75.28; %H, 5.59; %N, 8.92; expected: %C, 75.45; %H, 5.70; %N, 8.80.



3,4-Diphenylisoxazole (Table 3.4, entry j): In a N2 filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 3.5-dichloroaniline (162 mg, 1 mmol), diphenylacetylene (178 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then the same pressure tube was charged with hydroxylamine hydrochloride (83 mg, 1.2 mmol) and THF (2 mL). The reaction was stirred at 45 °C for 16 h. After completion of the reaction, solvents were removed in vacuo, The crude product was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and washed with water (50 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and concentrated by rotary evaporation. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes/ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (55 mg, 25%) as a yellow solid. Mp: 90-92 °C (lit. mp: 91 °C).^{31 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 7.35-7.40 (8H, m, Ar-H), 7.61-7.62 (1H, m, Ar-H), 7.62-7.64 (1H, m, Ar-H), 8.35 (1H, s, 5-CH isoxazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 116.2, 127.2, 127.6, 128.0, 128.3, 128.6, 128.7, 129.0,

130.0, 131.6, 151.9, 164.0. MS(EI): *m/z* 221. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 81.29; %H, 5.13; %N, 6.42; expected: %C, 81.43; %H, 5.01; %N, 6.33.



3-(3-(tert-Butyldimethylsilyloxy)propyl)-4-phenylisoxazole (Table 3.4, entry k): ¹⁹ In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 3,5-dichloroaniline (162 mg, 1 mmol), tert-butyldimethyl(5-phenylpent-4-ynyloxy)silane (274 mg, 1 mmol), and tertbutylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then the same pressure tube was charged with hydroxylamine hydrochloride (83 mg, 1.2 mmol) and THF (2 mL). The reaction was stirred at 45 °C for 16 h. After completion of the reaction, solvents were removed in vacuo. The crude product was dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and washed with water (50 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and concentrated by rotary evaporation. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes/ethyl acetate 19:1, which afforded the desired compound (95 mg, 30%) as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 0.059 (6H, s, Si-CH₃), 0.85 (9H, s, Si-C(CH₃)₃, 1.94-1.98 (2H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂OTBS), 2.99-3.02 (2H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂OTBS), 3.64-3.66 (2H, m,

CH₂CH₂CH₂OTBS), 7.31-7.32 (1H, m, Ar-H), 7.32-7.42 (4H, m, Ar-H), 8.33 (1H, s, 5-CH isoxazole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 1.0, 22.4, 25.9, 30.6, 35.7, 61.7, 127.4, 127.6, 128.2, 128.9, 131.5, 150.3, 167.8. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 67.94; %H, 8.42; %N, 4.52; expected: %C, 68.09; %H, 8.57; %N, 4.41.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- 1. (a) Carlsen, L.; Dopp, D.; Dopp, H.; Duus, F.; Hartman, H.; Lang-Fugmann, S.; Schulze, B.; Smalley, R. K.; Wakefield, B. J. In Houben-Weyl Methods of Organic Chemistry, Vol. E8a; Schaumann, E., Ed.; Georg Thieme Verlag: Stuttgart, Germany, 1992, 45. (b) Rowley, M.; Broughton, H. B.; Collins, I.; Baker, R.; Emms, F.; Marwood, R.; Patel, S.; Ragan, C. I. J. Med. Chem. 1996, 39, 1943. (c) Frolund, B.; Jorgensen, A. T.; Tagmose, L.; Stensbol, T. B.; Vestergaard, H. T.; Engblom, C.; Kristiansen, U.; Sanchez, C.; Krogsgaard-Larsen, P.; Liljefors, T. J. Med. Chem. 2002, 45, 2454. (d) Daidone, G.; Raffa, D.; Maggio, B.; Plescia, F.; Cutuli, V. M. C.; Mangano, N. G.; Caruso, A. Arch. Pharm. Pharm. Med. Chem. 1999, 332, 50. (e) Tomita, K.; Takahi, Y.; Ishizuka, R.; Kamamura, S.; Nakagawa, M.; Ando, M.; Nakanishi, T.; Nakamura, T.; Udaira, H. Ann. Sankyo Res. Lab. 1973, 1, 25; Chem. Abstr. 1974, 80, 120808. (f) Talley, J. J. Prog. Med. Chem. 1999, 13, 201. (g) Talley, J. J.; Brown, D. L.; Carter, J. S.; Graneto, M. J.; Koboldt, C. M.; Masferrer, J. L.; Perkins, W. E.; Rogers, R. S.; Shaffer, A. F.; Zhang, Y. Y.; Zweifel, B. S.; Seibert, K. J. Med. Chem. 2000, 43, 775. (h) Giovannoni, M. P.; Vergelli, C.; Ghelardini, C.; Galeotti, N.; Bartolini, A.; Kal Piaz, V. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 1055. (i) Li, W. T.; Hwang, D. R.; Chen, C. P.; Shen, C. W.; Huang, C. L.; Chen, T. W.; Lin, C. H.; Chang, Y. L.; Chang, Y. Y.; Lo, Y. K.; Tseng, H. Y.; Lin, C. C.; Song, J. S.; Chen, H. C.; Chen, S. J.; Wu, S. H.; Chen, C. T. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 1706. (j) Sperry, J.; Wright, D. Curr. Opin. Drug Discovery Dev. 2005, 8, 723.
- (a) Daidone, G.; Raffa, D.; Maggio, B.; Plescia, F.; Cutuli, V. M. C.; Mangano, N. G.; Caruso, A. Arch. Pharm. Pharm. Med. Chem. 1999, 332, 50. (b) Tomita, K.; Takahi, Y.; Ishizuka, R.; Kamamura, S.; Nakagawa, M.; Ando, M.; Nakanishi, T.; Nakamura, T.; Udaira, H. Ann. Sankyo Res. Lab. 1973, 1, 25. (c) Talley, J. J. Prog. Med. Chem. 1999, 13, 201. (d) Talley, J. J.; Brown, D. L.; Carter, J. S.; Graneto, M. J.; Koboldt, C. M.; Masferrer, J. L.; Perkins, W. E.; Rogers, R. S.; Shaffer, A. F.; Zhang, Y. Y.; Zweifel, B. S.; Seibert, K. J. Med. Chem. 2000, 43, 775. (e) Giovannoni, M. P.; Vergelli, C.; Ghelardini, C.; Galeotti, N.; Bartolini, A.; Kal Piaz, V. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 1055.
- 3. Rowley, M.; Broughton, H. B.; Collins, I.; Baker, R.; Emms, F.; Marwood, R.; Patel, S.; Ragan, C. I. *J. Med. Chem.* **1996**, *39*, 1943.
- Frolund, B.; Jorgensen, A. T.; Tagmose, L.; Stensbol, T. B.; Vestergaard, H. T.; Engblom, C.; Kristiansen, U.; Sanchez, C.; Krogsgaard Larsen, P.; Liljefors, T. J. Med. Chem. 2002, 45, 2454.
- 5. Daidone, G.; Raffa, D.; Maggio, B.; Plescia, F.; Cutuli, V. M. C.; Mangano, N. G.; Caruso, A. Arch. Pharm. Pharm. Med. Chem. 1999, 332, 50.
- 6. Tomita, K.; Takahi, Y.; Ishizuka, R.; Kamamura, S.; Nakagawa, M.; Ando, M.; Nakanishi, T.; Nakamura, T.; Udaira, H. *Ann. Sankyo Res. Lab.* **1973**, *1*, 25.
- (a) Talley, J. J. Prog. Med. Chem. 1999, 13, 201. (b) Talley, J. J.; Brown, D. L.; Carter, J. S.; Graneto, M. J.; Koboldt, C. M.; Masferrer, J. L.; Perkins, W. E.; Rogers, R. S.; Shaffer, A. F.; Zhang, Y. Y.; Zweifel, B. S.; Seibert, K. J. Med. Chem. 2000, 43, 775.
- (a) Pruitt, J. R.; Pinto, D. J.; Estrella, M. J.; Bostrom, L. L.; Knabb, R. M.; Wong, P. C.; Wright, M. R.; Wexler, R. R. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2000, *10*, 685. (b) Nantermet, P. G.; Barrow, J. C.; Lundell, G. F.; Pellicore, J. M.; Rittle, K. E.; Young, M.; Freidinger, R. M.; Connolly, T. M.; Condra, C.; Karczewski, J.; Bednar, R. A.; Gaul, S. L.; Gould, R. J.; Prendergast, K.; Selnick, H. G. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2002, *12*, 319. (c) Batra, S.; Srinivasan, T.; Rastogi, S. K.; Kundu, B.; Patra, A.; Bhaduri, A. P.; Dixit, M. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2002, *12*, 1905. (d) Batra, S.; Roy, A. K.; Patra, A.; Bhaduri, A. P.; Surin, W. R.; Raghavan, S. A. V.; Sharma, P.; Kapoor, K.; Dikshit, M. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.*2004, *12*, 2059.
- Giovannoni, M. P.; Vergelli, C.; Ghelardini, C.; Galeotti, N.; Bartolini, A.; Kal Piaz, V. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 1055.
- Li, W. T.; Hwang, D. R.; Chen, C. P.; Shen, C. W.; Huang, C. L.; Chen, T. W.; Lin, C. H.; Chang, Y. L.; Chang, Y. Y.; Lo, Y. K.; Tseng, H. Y.; Lin, C. C.; Song, J. S.; Chen, H. C.; Chen, S. J.; Wu, S. H.; Chen, C. T. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 1706.
- Boys, M. L.; Schretzman, L. A.; Chandrakumar, N. S.; Tollefson, M. B.; Mohler, S. B.; Downs, V. L.; Penning, T. D.; Russell, M. A.; Wendt, J. A.;. Chen, B. B.; Stenmark, H. G.; Wu, H.; Spangler, D. P.; Clare, M.; Desai, B. N.; Khanna, I. K.; Nguyen, M. N.; Duffin, T.; Engleman, V. W.; Finn, M. B.; Freeman, S. K.; Hanneke, M. L.; Keene, J. L.; Klover, J. A.; Nickols, G. A.;. Nickols, M. A; Steininger, C. N.; Westlin, M.; Westlin, W.; Yu, Y. X.; Wang, Y.; Dalton, C. R.; Norringb, S. A. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2006**, *16*, 839.
- (a) Roy, A. K.; Rajaraman, B.; Batra, S. *Tetrahedron* 2004, *60*, 2301. (b) Wankhede, K. S.; Vaidya, V. V.; Sarang, P. S.; Salunkhe, M. M.; Trivedi, G. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2008, *49*, 2069.
- Ohmoto, K.; Yamamoto, T.; Horiuchi, T.; Imanishi, H.; Odagaki, Y.; Kawabata, K.; Sekioka, T.; Hirota, Y.; Matsuoka, S.; Nakai, H.; Toda, M. J. Med. Chem. 2000, 43, 4927. (b) Eicher, T.; Hauptmann, S.; Speicher, A. The Chemistry of Heterocycles: Structure, Reactions, Syntheses, and Applications; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2003; 138.
 (a) Sandanayaka, V. P.; Youjun, Y. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3087. (b) Croce, P. D.; La Rosa, C.; Zecchi, G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1985, 2621. (c) Easton, C. J.; Heath, G. A.; Hughes, C. M. M.; Lee, C. K. Y.; Savage, G. P.; Simpson, G. W.; Tiekink, E. R. T.; Vuckovic, G. J.; Webster, R. D. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2001, 1168.
- 14. (a) For review, see: Jager, V.; Colinas P. A. In Synthetic Applications of 1,3- Dipolar Cycloaddition Chemistry Toward Heterocycles and Natural Products; Padwa, A., Ed.; Wiley: Hoboken, NJ, 2002; 361. (b) Xu, J.; Hamme, A. T. Synlett 2008, 919. (c) L. Cecchi, F. De Sarlo, F. Machetti, Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 10, 95.

- 15. (a) Ugi, I. Angew. Chem. 1962, 74, 9. (b) Ugi, I. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1982, 21, 810. (c) Armstrong, R. W.; Combs, A. P.; Tempest, P. A.; Brown, S. D.; Keating, T. A. Acc. Chem. Res. 1996, 29, 123. (d) Montgomery, J. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 467. (e) Dömling, A.; Ugi, I. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3168. (f) Ulaczyk-Lesanko, A.; Hall, D. G. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2005, 9, 266. (g) Mironov, M. A. QSAR Comb. Sci. 2006, 25, 423. (h) Tempest, P. Curr. Opin. Drug. Discovery Dev. 2005, 8, 776. (i) Ramón, D. J.; Yus, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 1602. (j) Kappe, C. O. QSAR Comb. Sci. 2003, 22, 630. (k) Orru, R. V. A.; De Greef, M. Synthesis 2003, 1471. (l) Ugi, I.; Werner, B.; Dömling, A. Molecules 2003, 8, 53. (m) Balme, G.; Bossharth, E.; Monteiro, N. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 4101.
- 16. Kappe, C. O.; Dallinger, D.; Murphree, S. S. *Practical Microvawe Synthesis of Organic Chemist; Strategies, Instruments, and Protocols*; Wiley-WCH: Weinheim; **2009**; 161.
- 17. Willy, B.; Rominger, F.; Müller, T. J. J. Synthesis 2008, 293.
- 18. Ahmed, M. S. M.; Kobayashi, K.; Mori, A. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 4487.
- 19. Dissanayake, A. A.; Odom, A. L. Tetrahedron 2012, 68, 807.
- 20. Li, Y.; Turnas, A.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Odom, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 6298.
- Littler, B. J.; Miller, M. A.; Hung, C. H.; Wagner, R. W.; O'Shea, D. F.; Boyle, P. D.; Lindsey, J. S. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 1391.
- 22. Harris, S. A.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Odom, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1987.
- 23. Shi, Y.; Hall, C.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Cao, C.; Odom, A. L. Chem. Commun. 2003, 586.
- 24. Vujkovic, N.; Fillol, J. L.; Ward, B. D.; Wadepohl, H.; Mountford, P.; Gade, L. H. Organometallics, 2008, 27, 2518.
- 25. Odom, A. L. Dalton Trans. 2005, 225.
- For discussions of mechanism in related titanium-catalyzed multicomponent couplings see Banerjee, S.; Odom, A. L. Organometallics, 2006, 25, 3099.
- 27. Gokel, G. W.; Widera, R. P.; Weber, W. P. Org. Synth. 1976, 55, 96.
- Gss Olofson, R. A.; Landesberg, J. M.; Berry, R. O.; Leaver, D.; Robertson, W. A. H.; McKinnon, D. M. *Tetrahedron* 1966, 22, 2119.
- 29. De Munno, A.; Bertini, V.; Lucchesini, F. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1977, 1121.
- 30. Bravo, P. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1972, 102, 395.
- 31. Kohler, E. P.; Davis, A. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1930, 52, 4520.

CHAPTER 4. ONE-POT TITANIUM-CATALYZED MULTICOMPONENT COUPLING APPROACH TOWARDS SYNTHESIS OF 4,5-DISUBSTITUTED AND 4-SUBSTITUTED PYRROLE-2-CARBOXYLATES

4.1 Introduction

Substituted pyrroles represents an important class of nitrogen containing five-membered aromatic heterocycles, which are present in a wide range of natural products and drug molecules.¹ These pyrrole core structural units are abundantly found in porphyrins, such as porphyrins (heme) chlorine (chlorophyll) and corrins (vitamin B12). Also substituted pyrrole ring occur in porphobilinogen (intermediate in biosynthesis of porphyrins and vitamin B12) and biliverdin and bilirubin (pyrrole-based bile pigments)(**Figure 4.1**).²



Figure 4.1 Pyrrole containing natural products

Substituted pyrroles also exhibit biological activities such as anti-tubercular,³ antiproliferative,⁴ anti-inflammatory activity,⁵ HIV-1 intigrase inhibitors,⁶ glycogen synthase kinase-3(GSK-3) inhibitors,⁷ analgesic and bactericidal activities,⁸ fungicides and plant growth regulators,⁶ action on the cardiovascular system,⁹ antitumor agents.¹⁰ Similarly substituted pyrroles are an important part of supramolecular chemistry as molecular sensors¹¹ and devices,¹² and nonlinear optics.¹³



Figure 4.2 Substituted pyrrole containing drugs

Previous approaches for the synthesis of substituted pyroles include methods developed by as Knorr (1884),¹⁴ Paal-Knorr (1884),¹⁵ Hantzsch (1890),¹⁶ Barton-Zard (1990)¹⁷ and Piloty (1910).¹⁸ Pyrrole synthesis involving classical cyclo-condensation reactions have limitations in terms of efficiency, substituent diversity, functional group compatibility, and regiospecificity.

In recent years, several research groups have pursued transition metal-catalyzed multicomponent coupling reactions¹⁹ for direct access to substituted pyrrole compounds due to bond-forming efficiency and high atom-economy provided by these complexes which allow for

the introduction of complexity in a fast and experimentally simple fashion.^{20,21} In 2007 Gimeno and coworkers reported a one-pot, three-component reaction between primary amines, β ketoesters or β -diketones and propargyl alcohols that provided substituted pyrroles in good to excellent yields (**Scheme 4.1**). This transformation is catalyzed by a ruthenium catalyst and afforded fully substituted pyrrole derivatives.²²

$$\begin{array}{c} R^{4} \text{ OH} \\ H \end{array} + \begin{array}{c} COR^{3} \\ R^{2} \end{array} + \begin{array}{c} R^{1}NH_{2} \end{array} \xrightarrow{\text{Ru Catalyst}} \\ CF_{3}CO_{2}H, THF, 80 \ ^{\circ}C \end{array} \xrightarrow{R^{4} COR^{3}} \\ Me \begin{array}{c} N_{1} \\ R^{1} \end{array}$$

Scheme 4.1 Ruthenium-catalyzed, 3-component synthesis of substituted pyrroles

In 2004 Arndtsen and Dhawan reported a pyrrole synthesis based on the preparation of Munchnones in one step by a palladium-catalyzed coupling between imines, acid chlorides and carbon monoxide, and then the corresponding pyrroles by the [3+2] cyclo-addition of alkyne with the munchinone (Scheme 4.2).²³

$$\mathbb{R}^{5}_{\mathbb{R}^{1}} + \mathbb{R}^{4} = \mathbb{R}^{3} + \mathbb{C}^{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \xrightarrow{\mathbb{P}d\text{-Catalyst, CO}} \mathbb{R}^{5}_{\mathbb{R}^{1}} \mathbb{R}^{2}$$

$$\mathbb{C}_{H_{3}CN/THF, 65 \ ^{\circ}C, 16 \ h} \xrightarrow{\mathbb{R}^{4}_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \mathbb{R}^{3}_{\mathbb{R}^{1}} \mathbb{R}^{2}}$$

Scheme 4.2 Pd-catalyzed synthesis of substituted pyrroles by 3-component synthesis

In 2009 our group demonstrated that a variety of differently substituted 2,3diaminopyrroles can be prepared in a one step 4-component fashion (**Scheme 4.3**). This methodology uses a titanium- catalyzed 4-component synthesis from 2 equiv of an isonitrile, 1 equiv of an arylamine, and 1 equiv of an alkyne in an atom-efficient process (**Scheme 4.3**). The titanium catalyst used in this study was Ti(NMe₂)₂(IndMe₂)₂, which can be easily prepared from commercially available reagents, Ti(NMe₂)₄ and 2,3-dimethylindole. This reaction works well only with anilines not bearing an *ortho*-substituent and *tert*-butylisonitrile. Internal alkynes require higher reaction temperatures and longer reaction times than their terminal counterparts.²⁴

$$Bu^{t} \cdot N \equiv C + R^{2} = -R^{3} + R^{1} N H_{2} \xrightarrow{5 \text{ mol}\% \text{ Ti-Catalyst}} Bu^{t} H N + R^{3} + R^{2} = R^{3} + R^{1} N H_{2} \xrightarrow{5 \text{ mol}\% \text{ Ti-Catalyst}} Bu^{t} H N + R^{3} + R^{2} +$$

Scheme 4.3 One-pot titanium-catalyzed 4-component synthesis of 2,3-diaminopyrroles

In this study, we demonstrate that a variety of substituted pyrrole-2-carboxylates can be prepared in a one-pot 4-component fashion (**Scheme 4.4**). The methodology uses a titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling of an alkyne, isonitrile, and primary amine to generate unsymmetrical 1,3-diimine tautomers. Substituted pyrrole-2-carboxylates result from simply removing the volatiles from the multicomponent coupling reaction and treating the crude product with commercially available glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride.

4.2 Results and Discussion

Our group has been investigating a titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling (3CC) reaction that generates tautomers of 1,3-diimines.²⁵ In this work we report that these 3CC products, can be used as direct precursors for the synthesis of substituted pyrrole-2-carboxylates which result from simply removing the volatiles from the multicomponent coupling reaction and treating the crude product with commercially available glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride.

Two titanium catalysts Ti(dpma)(NMe₂)₂ (**1**), and Ti(dpm)(NMe₂)₂ (**2**) were employed for this study. They can be prepared (refer to chapter 3) in a single step by reacting the ancillary ligands with commertially available Ti(NMe₂)₄. The proposed catalytic cycle involved in the synthesis of the 3CC product (discussed in chapter 3) is based on the mechanism for catalytic hydroamination. For most of the reactions, the milder catalyst with the tridentate ancillary, Ti(dpma)(NMe₂)₂ (**1**), was found to be optimal. In a few cases, the more reactive Ti(dpm)(NMe₂)₂ (**2**) gave higher conversions, especially with more sterically hindered (internal) alkynes.^{26.27}



Scheme 4.4 General scheme for one-pot synthesis of pyrrole-2-carboxylates

The general strategy for the one-pot synthesis of 4-substituted pyrrole-2-carboxylates used here is shown in Scheme 4.4. The 3CC reaction is commonly done at 100 $^{\circ}$ C in toluene. The products of iminoamination can be converted to substituted pyrroles via cyclo-condensation by addition of glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride in a more polar solvent (DMSO) under basic reaction conditions.

Entry	Alkyne	Catalyst	Product	Isolated yield
a		1	H N CO ₂ Et	65% ^a
b		2	HNCO ₂ Et	42% ^b
с	TBSO	2	H N CO ₂ Et OTBS	38% ^b
d	Br-	1	Br Br	35% ^a
e	BnO-	1	BnO	44% ^a
f		1	H N CO ₂ Et	45% ^a

 Table 4.1 Examples of pyrrole-2-carboxylates syntheses using glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride

 with different terminal alkynes (Scheme 4.4)

Table 4.1 (cont'd)

g	(Ph) ₂ N-	1	(Ph) ₂ N	40% ^a
h	N Bn	2	H N CO ₂ Et	37% ^b
i		1	H N CO ₂ Et	48% ^a

^a Reactions carried out with cyclohexylamine, alkyne, and *tert*-butylisonitrile in a 1:1:1.5 ratio with 10 mol % catalyst (**1**) at 100 $^{\circ}$ C for 24 h. Once the 3CC is complete, product was heated at 80 $^{\circ}$ C in DMSO with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (2.0 equiv) and triethyl amine (2.0 equiv) for 18 h.

^b Aniline was used in place of cyclohexylamine.

During the first part of the study, titanium catalyzed multicomponent coupling of various terminal alkynes (heterocycle-, alkyl-, and aryl-substituted) were condensed with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride, which results exclusively in 4-substituted pyrrole-2-carboxylates in moderate yields (**Table 4.1**, entries a-i).

In the second part of the study substituted pyrrole-2-carboxylates were synthesized from internal alkynes as summarized in Table 4.2. This methodology results exclusively in 4,5-disubstituted pyrrole-2-carboxylates in modest yields (**Table 4.2**, entry a-d). Alkyl-containing internal alkynes such as hex-3-yne and 2-methylhex-1-en-3-yne results in production of the 3CC product in good yields using either catalyst; however, for reasons currently unknown the addition of glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride under any reaction conditions we investigated did not result in formation of the alkyl-substituted pyrrole-2-carboxylates. The regiochemistry was determined by an X-ray structure of the product with prop-1-yn-1-ylbenzene (**Figure 4.3**). The regiochemistry with the other unsymmetrical alkynes were assumed to occure with the incorporation of the largest group in the 4-position.



Figure 4.3 Structure of by ethyl 5-methyl-4-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate X-ray diffraction

Entry	Alkyne	Catalyst	Product	Isolated yield
a		2	H N CO ₂ Et	37% ^a
b		2	H N CO ₂ Et	25% ^a
с		2	H N CO ₂ Et	32% ^a
d	OTBDPS	2	TBDPSO H N CO ₂ Et	30% ^a

 Table 4.2 Examples of pyrrole-2-carboxylates syntheses using glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride

 with different internal alkynes (Scheme 4.4)

^a Reactions carried out with aniline, alkyne, and *tert*-butylisonitrile in a 1:1:1.5 ratio with 10 mol % catalyst (**2**) at 100 $^{\circ}$ C for 48 h. Once the 3CC is complete, product was heated at 80 $^{\circ}$ C in DMSO with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (2.0 equiv) and triethyl amine (2.0 equiv) for 18 h.

Reaction scaleing up of ethyl 4-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate

In order to scale up the synthesis of substituted pyrrole-2-carboxylates, one pot synthesis of ethyl 4-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate was used as a molel study (**Scheme 4.5**). Multicomponent reaction of cyclohexylamine, phenylacetylene, and *tert*-butylisonitrile were carried out in 15 mmol scale with respect to the alkyne and cyclocondensation reaction conditions were varied by the nature of the reaction vesele and the order of addition of the reagents in the second step.



Scheme 4.5 synthesis of ethyl 4-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate

Observed results are summarized in **Table 4.3**, isolated ethyl 4-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-2carboxylate yields vary from 21.8%- 26.0%. Even though the Change of reaction vessel Schlenk flask to a roundbottom flask slightly improves the isolated yield, further improvements are currently under investigation.

Entry	Reaction flask type	Isolated yield
Attempt 1	Schlenk flask (250 mL)	22.3% (720 mg) ^a
Attempt 2	Schlenk flask (250 mL)	24.0% (774 mg) ^b
Attempt 3	Schlenk flask (250 mL)	23.2% (748 mg) ^c
Attempt 4	Schlenk flask (1000 mL)	24.7% (799 mg) ^a
Attempt 5	Schlenk flask flat bottom (250 mL)	21.8% (704 mg) ^a
Attempt 6	Round bottom flask (1000 mL)	26.0% (840 mg) ^a
Attempt 7	Round bottom flask (1000 mL)	23.0% (741 mg) ^e

 Table 4.3 Scaleing up of ethyl 4-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate

^a Reactions carried out with cyclohexylamine (15 mmol), phenylacetylene (15 mmol), and *tert*butylisonitrile (22.5 mmol) with 10 mol % catalyst (1) at 100 $^{\circ}$ C for 24 h. Once the 3CC is complete, product was heated at 80 $^{\circ}$ C in DMSO with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (2.0 equiv) and triethyl amine (2.0 equiv) for 18 h.

^b Multicomponent coupling product was isolate and then heated at 80 °C in DMSO with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (2.0 equiv) and triethyl amine (2.0 equiv) for 18 h.

^c Triethyl amine (6.0 equiv) was used for the 2nd step

^d Multicomponent coupling product was transferred to a round bottom flask for the 2nd step

Table 4.3 (cont'd)

^e Glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (2.0 equiv) in DMSO was added to the round bottom flask

via a syringe pump over 16h

4.3 Conclusion

Titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling of primary a amine, an alkyne, and an isonitrile followed by treatment with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride provides substituted pyrrole-2-carboxylates in a one-pot procedure. This new procedure has significant flexibility in the types of substituted pyrrole-2-carboxylates that can be accessed. The yields are generally modest, but the products are readily isolated using column chromatography. Reactions with terminal alkynes are more facile and can be accomplished with the milder Ti(NMe₂)₂(dpma) (1) as catalyst. The more active dipyrrolylmethane catalyst Ti(NMe₂)₂(dpm) (2) was used for internal alkynes.

The reaction has several points to allow optimization for a specific target of interest. For example, the type of substituent on the isonitrile can potentially be varied in this reaction to improve regioselectivities or yields. This methodology allows access to a large number of 4,5-disubstituted and 4-substituted pyrrole-2-carboxylates in a regioselective manner from internal and terminal alkynes respectively. The catalyst architectures themselves are also quite flexible and could be optimized for specific products.

4.4 Experimental

General Considerations: All manipulations of air sensitive compounds were carried out in an MBraun dry box under a purified nitrogen atmosphere. Toluene was purified by sparging with dry N2 and removing water by running through activated alumina systems purchased from Solv-Tek. ¹H and ¹³C spectra were recorded on VXR-500 spectrometers. Melting points were measured on a Mel-Temp II apparatus (Laboratory Devices Inc, USA) with a mercury thermometer and are uncalibrated. Ti(NMe₂)₂(dpma) (1) and Ti(NMe₂)₂(dpm) (2) were made following the literature procedures.^{26,27} Alkynes were purchased either from Aldrich or from GFS chemicals and were distilled from BaO under dry nitrogen. Amines were purchased from Aldrich, dried over KOH, and distilled under dry N2. tert-Butylisonitrile was made according to the literature procedure and purified by distillation under N₂.²⁸ Glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride and neutral alumina were purchased Sigma-Aldrich Co and used as received. EtOH (ethanol), CH₂Cl₂, hexanes, tetrahydrofuran (THF) and EtOAc (ethyl acetate) were purchased from Mallinckrodt chemicals and used as received.

Preparation and Characterization of Compounds in Table 4.1



Ethyl 4-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate (Table 4.1, entry a): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 1 (32.4 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), phenylacetylene (102 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. Then, the tube was charged with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (280 mg, 2 mmol) and triethylamine (280 µL, 2 mmol) in DMSO (2 mL). The tube was heated to 80 °C for 18 h in a silicon oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the DMSO solution was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) and washed with 10% NaHCO₃ (20 mL) followed by saturated NaCl (20 mL) solution. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (139 mg, 65%) as a light brown solid. M.p.: 97-99 °C (lit. Mp: 98-99 °C).^{29 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.29-1.32 (3 H, 7 Hz, t, CH₃), 4.26-4.30 (2 H, 7 Hz, q, CH₂), 7.14-7.18 (3H, m, CH-Ar), 7.27-7.30 (2H, m, 3,5-CH-pyrrole), 7.44-7.46 (2H,

m, CH-Ar), 9.25 (1H, br, NH-pyrrole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 14.4, 60.5, 112.4, 119.4, 123.7, 125.3, 126.5, 126.8, 128.7, 134.5, 161.2. MS(EI): *m/z* 215. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 72.42; % H, 6.16; %N, 6.59; expected: %C, 72.54; %H, 6.09; %N, 6.51.



Ethyl 5-butyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate (Table 4.1, entry b): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), 1-hexyne (82 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. Then, the tube was charged with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (280 mg, 2 mmol) and triethylamine (280 µL, 2 mmol) in DMSO (2 mL). The tube was heated to 80 °C for 18 h in a silicon oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the DMSO solution was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) and washed with 10% NaHCO₃ (20 mL) followed by saturated NaCl (20 mL) solution. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (82 mg, 42%) as a light brown liquid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500

MHz): 0.86-0.91 (3 H, 7 Hz, t, CH₃), 1.31-1.35 (5 H, m, CH₂ and CH₃), 1.57-1.63 (2 H, 7.5 Hz, 7 Hz, quin, CH₂), 2.59-2.62 (2 H, 7.5 Hz, t, CH₂), 4.26-4.31 (2 H, 7 Hz, q, CH₂), 5.93-5.95 (1H, d, 6 Hz 4-CH-pyrrole), 6.80-6.81 (1H, d, 6 Hz 3-CH-pyrrole), 9.40 (1H, br, NH-pyrrole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 13.7, 14.5, 22.2, 27.5, 31.4, 60.0, 107.8, 115.8, 121.0, 139.0, 161.5. MS(EI): *m/z* 195. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 67.74; % H, 8.70; %N, 7.24; expected: %C, 67.66; %H, 8.78; %N, 7.17.



Ethyl 5-(3-((tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)propyl)-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate (Table 4.1, entry c): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), *tert*-butyldimethyl(pent-4-yn-1-yloxy)silane (198 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. Then, the tube was charged with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (280 mg, 2 mmol) and triethylamine (280 μ L, 2 mmol) in DMSO (2 mL). The tube was heated to 80 °C for 18 h in a silicon oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the DMSO solution was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) and washed with 10% NaHCO₃ (20 mL) followed by saturated NaCl (20 mL) solution. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous

Na₂SO₄, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (118 mg, 38%) as a light brown liquid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 0.029 (6H, s, Si-CH₃), 0.89 (9H, s, Si-C(CH₃)₃, 1.31-1.40 (3 H, 7 Hz, t, CH₃), 1.79-1.85 (2 H, 7.5 Hz, 7 Hz, quin, CH₂), 2.68-2.71 (2 H, 7.5 Hz, t, CH₂), 3.61-3.63 (2 H, 6 Hz, t, CH₂), 4.25-4.29 (2 H, 7 Hz, q, CH₂), 5.93-5.94 (1H, d, 6 Hz 4-CH-pyrrole), 6.80-6.81 (1H, d, 6 Hz 3-CH-pyrrole), 9.31 (1H, br, NH-pyrrole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): -5.3, 14.5, 18.3, 24.1, 25.9, 31.9, 59.9, 61.9, 108.0, 115.8, 121.3, 138.1, 161.2. MS(EI): *m/z* 311. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 61.82; % H, 9.13; %N, 4.78; expected: %C, 61.69; %H, 9.38; %N, 4.50.



Ethyl 4-(4-bromophenyl)-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate (Table 4.1, entry d): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 1 (32.4 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), 1-bromo-4-ethynylbenzene (181 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were

removed in vacuo. Then, the tube was charged with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (280 mg, 2 mmol) and triethylamine (280 μ L, 2 mmol) in DMSO (2 mL). The tube was heated to 80 $^{\circ}$ C for 18 h in a silicon oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the DMSO solution was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) and washed with 10% NaHCO₃ (20 mL) followed by saturated NaCl (20 mL) solution. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (103 mg, 35%) as a light brown solid. M.p.: 157-159 °C (lit. Mp: 159-160 °C).^{29 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz):1.40-1.22 (3 H, 7 Hz, t, CH₃), 4.35-4.40 (2 H, 7 Hz, q, CH₂), 7.18-7.19 (1H, d, 5-CH-pyrrole), 7.23-7.24 (1H, d, 5-CHpyrrole), 7.40-7.43 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.48-7.51 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 9.24 (1H, br, NH-pyrrole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 14.4, 60.6, 112.2, 119.2, 125.7, 126.8, 128.3, 129.6, 131.8, 133.5, 160.9. MS(EI): *m/z* 294. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 53.17; % H, 4.03; %N, 4.83; expected: %C, 53.08; %H, 4.11; %N, 4.76.



Ethyl 4-(4-(benzyloxy)phenyl)-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate (Table 4.1, entry e): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **1** (32.4 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), 1-

(benzyloxy)-4-ethynylbenzene (208 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. Then, the tube was charged with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (280 mg, 2 mmol) and triethylamine (280 µL, 2 mmol) in DMSO (2 mL). The tube was heated to 80 °C for 18 h in a silicon oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the DMSO solution was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) and washed with 10% NaHCO₃ (20 mL) followed by saturated NaCl (20 mL) solution. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (141 mg, 44%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 146-147 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.35-1.38 (3 H, 7 Hz, CH₃), 4.31-4.35 (2 H, 7 Hz, q, CH₂), 5.06 (2 H, s, CH₂), 6.92-6.98 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.12-7.13 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.29-7.44 (7H, m, CH-Ar, 3,5-CH-pyrrole), 9.22 (1H, br, NHpyrrole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 14.4, 60.3, 70.1, 112.1, 115.2, 118.7, 123.5, 126.4, 126.5, 127.4, 127.6, 127.9, 128.5, 137.1, 157.5, 161.2. MS(EI): m/z 321. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 74.64; % H, 5.89; %N, 4.42; expected: %C, 74.75; %H, 5.96; %N, 4.36.



Ethyl 4-(p-tolyl)-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate (Table 4.1, entry f): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 1 (32.4 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), 1-ethynyl-4methylbenzene (116 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. Then, the tube was charged with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (280 mg, 2 mmol) and triethylamine (280 μ L, 2 mmol) in DMSO (2 mL). The tube was heated to 80 $^{\circ}$ C for 18 h in a silicon oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the DMSO solution was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) and washed with 10% NaHCO₃ (20 mL) followed by saturated NaCl (20 mL) solution. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (103 mg, 40%) as a light brown solid. M.p.: 166-167 °C (lit. Mp: 165-166 °C).^{29 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz):1.45-1.47 (3 H, 7 Hz, t, CH₃), 4.40-4.45 (2 H, 7 Hz, q, CH₂), 7.25-7.27 (4H, m, CH-Ar 3,5-CH-pyrrole), 7.49-7.50 (2H, d, CH-Ar), 9.45 (1H, br, NH-pyrrole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 14.4, 21.0, 60.4, 112.3, 119.2, 123.6, 125.2, 126.8, 129.4, 131.7, 135.8, 161.2. MS(EI): *m/z* 233. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 73.42; % H, 6.49; %N, 6.19; expected: %C, 73.34; %H, 6.59; %N, 6.11.



Ethyl 4-(4-(diphenylamino)phenyl)-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate (Table 4.1, entry g): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 1 (32.4 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), 4-ethynyl-N,N-diphenylaniline (269 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. Then, the tube was charged with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (280 mg, 2 mmol) and triethylamine (280 µL, 2 mmol) in DMSO (2 mL). The tube was heated to 80 °C for 18 h in a silicon oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the DMSO solution was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) and washed with 10% NaHCO₃ (20 mL) followed by saturated NaCl (20 mL) solution. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (153 mg, 40%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 128-130 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.39-1.43 (3

H, 7 Hz, CH₃), 4.36-4.41 (2 H, 7 Hz, q, CH₂), 7.01-7.04 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.10-7.14 (6H, m, CH-Ar, 3,5-CH-pyrrole), 7.19-7.20 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.25-7.27 (4H, m, CH-Ar), 7.42-7.44 (2H, d, 8.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 9.48 (1H, br, NH-pyrrole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 14.4, 60.5, 112.1, 119.1, 122.5, 123.5, 123.9, 124.5, 126.0, 126.4, 129.2, 146.1, 147.7, 161.2. MS(EI): *m/z* 382. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 78.64; % H, 5.67; %N, 7.24; expected: %C, 78.51; %H, 5.80; %N, 7.32.



Ethyl 4-(1-benzyl-1H-indol-3-yl)-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate (Table 4.1, entry h): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with), aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), 1-benzyl-3-ethynyl-1H-indole (231 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. Then, the tube was charged with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (280 mg, 2 mmol) and triethylamine (280 μ L, 2 mmol) in DMSO (2 mL). The tube was heated to 80 °C for 18 h in a silicon oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the DMSO solution was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) and washed with 10% NaHCO₃ (20 mL) followed by saturated NaCl (20 mL)

solution. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (127 mg, 37%) as a light brown solid. M.p.: 131-134 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 141-1.44 (3 H, 7 Hz, CH₃), 4.33-4.43 (2 H, 7 Hz, q, CH₂), 5.35 (2 H, s, CH₂), 7.19-7.35 (11H, m, CH-Ar, 3,5-CH-pyrrole), 7.90-7.92 (1H, d, 4 Hz, 2-CH-indole), 9.34 (1H, br, NH-pyrrole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 14.4, 49.9, 60.3, 109.8, 113.3, 119.4, 119.7, 120.2, 121.9, 123.1, 124.7, 126.5, 126.8, 127.6, 128.3, 128.7, 129.6, 137.3, 161.2. MS(EI): m/z 344. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 76.79; % H, 5.74; %N, 8.19; expected: %C, 76.72; %H, 5.85; %N, 8.13.



Ethyl 4-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate (Table 4.1, entry i): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 1 (32.4 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), 1-ethynylcyclohex-1-ene (106 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. Then, the tube was charged with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (280

mg, 2 mmol) and triethylamine (280 µL, 2 mmol) in DMSO (2 mL). The tube was heated to 80 °C for 18 h in a silicon oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the DMSO solution was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) and washed with 10% NaHCO₃ (20 mL) followed by saturated NaCl (20 mL) solution. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (105 mg, 48%) as a light brown solid. M.p.: 56-59 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.31-1.39 (3 H, 7 Hz, CH₃), 1.58-1.63 (2H, m, CH₂), 1.68-1.73 (2H, m, CH₂), 2.10-2.14 (2H, m, CH₂), 2.24-2.27 (2H, m, CH₂), 4.26-4.30 (2 H, 7 Hz, q, CH₂), 5.98-6.00 (1H, m, CH), 6.95-6.96 (1H, 2 Hz, 5-CH-pyrrole), 6.88-6.89 (1H, 2 Hz, 3-CH-pyrrole), 9.28 (1H, br, NH-pyrrole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 14.4, 22.3, 22.7, 25.3, 27.0, 60.3, 110.9, 118.4, 120.6, 122.8, 129.9, 161.4. MS(EI): m/z 219. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 71.29; % H, 7.64; %N, 6.30; expected: %C, 71.21; %H, 7.81; %N, 6.39.

Preparation and Characterization of Compounds in Table 4.2



Ethyl 5-methyl-4-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate (Table 4.2, entry a): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with), aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), prop-1-yn-1ylbenzene (116 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 $^{\circ}C$ in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. Then, the tube was charged with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (280 mg, 2 mmol) and triethylamine (280 µL, 2 mmol) in DMSO (2 mL). The tube was heated to 80 °C for 18 h in a silicon oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the DMSO solution was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) and washed with 10% NaHCO₃ (20 mL) followed by saturated NaCl (20 mL) solution. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (84 mg, 37%) as a pale yellow solid. M.p.: 124-126 °C (lit. Mp: 125.5 °C).^{30 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.40-1.43 (3 H, 7 Hz, t, CH₃), 2.49 (1 H, s, CH₃), 4.36-4.41 (2 H, 7 Hz, q, CH₂), 7.07-7.08 (1H, d, 3-CH-pyrrole), 7.26-7.30 (1H, m, CH-Ar),7.41-7.46 (4H, m, CH-Ar), 9.63 (1H, br, NH-pyrrole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz):

12.8, 14.4, 60.2, 115.3, 120.6, 123.7, 125.8, 127.6, 128.4, 130.4, 135.8, 161.5. MS(EI): *m/z* 229.
Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 73.38; % H, 6.52; %N, 6.04; expected: %C, 73.34; %H, 6.59;
%N, 6.11. Further characterized by X-ray diffraction studies.



Ethyl 4,5-diphenyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate (Table 4.2, entry b): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with), aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), 1,2-diphenylethyne (178 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. Then, the tube was charged with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (280 mg, 2 mmol) and triethylamine (280 µL, 2 mmol) in DMSO (2 mL). The tube was heated to 80 °C for 18 h in a silicon oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the DMSO solution was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) and washed with 10% NaHCO₃ (20 mL) followed by saturated NaCl (20 mL) solution. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (73 mg, 25%) as a pale yellow solid. M.p.: 139-141

^oC (lit. Mp: 141-142 ^oC).^{31 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.11-1.14 (3 H, 7 Hz, t, CH₃), 4.14-4.19 (2 H, 7 Hz, q, CH₂), 7.07-7.13 (3H, m, CH-Ar), 7.14-7.18 (3H, m, CH-Ar), 7.24-7.27 (5H, m, CH-Ar, 3-CH-pyrrole), 9.32 (1H, br, NH-pyrrole). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 14.0, 60.2, 120.2, 126.0, 126.7, 126.8, 127.4, 128.1, 128.2, 128.3, 129.3, 129.6, 130.8, 132.9, 134.5, 161.2. MS(EI): *m/z* 291. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 78.39; % H, 5.81; %N, 4.88; expected: %C, 78.33; %H, 5.88; %N, 4.81.



Ethyl 4-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-5-methyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate (Table 4.2, entry c): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with), aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), 1- (prop-1-yn-1-yl)cyclohex-1-ene (120 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. Then, the tube was charged with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (280 mg, 2 mmol) and triethylamine (280 μ L, 2 mmol) in DMSO (2 mL). The tube was heated to 80 °C for 18 h in a silicon oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the DMSO solution was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) and washed with 10% NaHCO₃ (20 mL)

followed by saturated NaCl (20 mL) solution. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (74 mg, 32%) as a viscous yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.30-1.34 (3 H, 7 Hz, t, CH₃), 2.49 (1 H, s, CH₃), 1.59-1.63 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.69-1.73 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.12-2.16 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.24-2.27 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.32 (3 H, s, CH₃), 4.25-4.29 (2 H, 7 Hz, q, CH₂), 5.67-5.69 (1 H, m, CH), 6.78-6.79 (1H, d, 2.5 Hz, 3-CH-pyrrole), 8.94 (1H, br, NH-pyrrole). ¹³C {¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 13.5, 14.5, 22.2, 23.1, 25.5, 29.6, 60.0, 114.0, 119.6, 123.4, 125.4, 129.5, 131.5, 161.3. MS(EI): *m/z* 233. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 72.13; % H, 8.13; %N, 6.08; expected: %C, 72.07; %H, 8.21; %N, 6.00.



Ethyl 5-(3-((tert-butyldiphenylsilyl)oxy)propyl)-4-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-2-carboxylate (Table 4.2, entry d): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with), aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), *tert*-butyldiphenyl((5-phenylpent-4-yn-1-yl)oxy)silane (398 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap,

taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. Then, the tube was charged with glycine ethyl ester hydrochloride (280 mg, 2 mmol) and triethylamine (280 µL, 2 mmol) in DMSO (2 mL). The tube was heated to 80 °C for 18 h in a silicon oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the DMSO solution was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) and washed with 10% NaHCO₃ (20 mL) followed by saturated NaCl (20 mL) solution. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and volatiles were removed in vacuo. The crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (154 mg, 30%) as a brown oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.1 (9 H, s, C(CH₃)₃, 1.36-1.38 (3 H, 7 Hz, t, CH₃), 1.87-1.91 (2 H, 7.5 Hz, 7 Hz, quin, CH₂), 2.96-2.99 (2 H, 7.5 Hz, t, CH₂), 3.73-3.76 (2 H, 6 Hz, t, CH₂), 4.33-4.37 (2 H, 7 Hz, q, CH₂), 7.06 (1H, s, 3-CH-pyrrole), 7.26-7.30 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.37-7.48 (9H, m, CH-Ar), 7.68-7.70 (4H, m, CH-Ar), 9.26 (1H, br, NH-pyrrole).¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 14.5, 19.2, 22.9, 26.8, 29.7, 60.2, 62.8, 120.9, 123.8, 125.9, 127.7, 127.8, 128.1, 128.5, 129.5, 129.6, 131.5, 133.6, 161.1. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 75.19; % H, 7.22; %N, 2.82; expected: %C, 75.11; %H, 7.29; %N, 2.74.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- (a) Gilchrist, T. L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1999, 1, 2849. (b) Jones, R. A., Ed. 1. Pyrroles Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds; Wiley: New York, 1990; Vol. 48. (c) Boger, D. L.; Boyce, C. W.; Labroli, M. A.; Sehon, C. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 54. (d) ComprehensiVe Heterocyclic Chemistry; Bird, C. W., Ed.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1996; Vol. (e) O'Hagan, D. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2000, 17, 435. (f) Larionov, O. V.; Meijere A. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 5664. (g) Gabriele, B.; Salerno, G.; Fazio, A. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 7853. (h) Furstner, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 3582. (i) Jacobi, P. A.; Coults, L. D.; Guo, J. S.; Leung, S. I. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 205. (j) Fumoto, Y.; Eguchi, T.; Uno, H.; Ono, N. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 6518. (k) Dannhardt, G.; Kiefer, W.; Kra⁻emer, G.; Maehrlein, S.; Nowe, U.; Fiebich, B. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2000, 35, 499. (1) Ragno, R.; Marshall, G. R.; Santo, R. D.; Costi, R.; Massa, S.; Rompei, R.; Artico, M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2000, 8, 1423. (m) Woodward, R. B.; Ayer, W. A.; Beaton, J. M.; Bickelhaupt, F.; Bonnett, R.; Buchschacher, P.; Closs, G. L.; Dutler, H.; Hannah, J.; Hauck, F. P.; Ito, S.; Langemann, A.; Le Goff, E.; Leimgruber, W.; Lwowski, W.; Sauer, J.; Valenta, Z.; Volz, H. Tetrahedron, 1990, 46, 7599. (n) Battersby, A. R.; McDonald, E. Accounts of Chemical Research, 1979, 12, 14. (o) Battersby, A. R. Accounts of Chemical Research, **1993**, 26, 15. (p) Mauger, A. B. Journal of Natural Products, 1996, 59, 1205. (g) Walsh, C. T.; Garneau-Tsodikova, S.; Howard-Jones, A. R. Natural Product Reports, 2006, 23, 517. (r) Hayakawa, Y.; Kawakami, K.; Seto, H.; Furihata, K. Tetrahedron Letters, 1992, 33, 2701. (s) Royles, B. J. L. Chemical Reviews, 1995, 95, 1981. (t) Gupton, J. T. Topics in Heterocyclic Chemistry, 2006, 2, 53. (u) Dervan, P. B.; Poulin-Kerstien, A. T.; Fechter, E. J.; Edelson, B. S. Topics in Current Chemistry, 2005, 253, 1. (v) Guzman, A.; Yuste, F.; Toscano, R. A.; Young, J. M.; Van Horn, A. R.; Muchowski, J. M. J. Med. Chem, 1986, 29, 589.
- (a) Jones, R.; Bean, G. *The chemistry of pyrroles*, Academic press, London 1977. (b) Gossauer, A. Die chemie der pyrrole, *Springer-Verleg, Berlin* 1974. (c) Trofimov, B. Usp. Chim., 1989, 58, 1703. (d) Jones, R. (Ed.); Chem. Heterocycl. Compd., 1990, 48(1), Wiley Interscience, New York. (e) Jones, R. in E. C. Taylor (Ed.); Chem. Heterocycl. Compd., 1992, 48(2), Wiley Interscience, New York. (f) Sundberg, R. in A. R. Kartritzky and C.W.Rees (Eds.); Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry, 1984, 4, 313. (g) Jones, R. in A. R. Kartritzky and C. W. Rees (Eds.), Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry, 1984, 4, 201. (h) Fabino, E.; Golding, B. J. Chem. Soc. Perk. Trans., 1991, 1, 3371. (i) Moss, G.; Pure Appl. Chem., 1987, 59, 807. (j) Curran, D.; Grimshaw J.; Perera S. Chem. Soc. Rev., 1991, 20, 391. (k) Sundberg, R.; Nguyen, P. in H.Suschitzky and E. Scriven(Edn.),; Progress in Heterocyclic Chemistry, 1994, 6,110.
- (a) Collins, F.; *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.*, **1989**, *2*, 360. (b) Dooley, S.; Jarvis, W.; Marone W.; Snider D. *Ann. Intern. Med.*, **1992**, *117*, 257. (c) Fischl, M.; Daikos, G.; Uttamchandani, R.; Poblete, R.; Moreno, J.; Reyes, R.; Boota, A.; Thompson, L.; Cleary, T.; Oldham, G.; Saldama, M.; Lai, S.; *Ann. Intern. Med.*, **1992**, *117*, 184. (d) Heym, B.; Honore, N.; Truffot-Pernot, C.; Banerjee, A.; Schurra, C.; Jacobs W.; Van Embden J.;
Grosset J.; Cole S. Lancet, **1994**, 344, 293. (e) Kochi, A. Tubercle, **1991**, 72, 1. (f) Pearson, M.; Jereb, J.; Frieden, T.; Crawford, J.; Davis, B.; Dooley, S.; Jarvis, W. Ann. Intern. Med., **1992**, 117, 191. (g) Riley, L. Clin. Infect. Dis., **1993**, 17, 442. (h) Ashtekar, D.; Costa-Perira, R.; Hagrajan K.; Vishvamatham M.; Bhatt A.; Rittel, W. Agents Chemother., **1993**, 37, 183. (i) Wayne, L.; Sramek, H. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., **1994**, 38, 2054.

- (a) Lee, H.; Lee, J.; Lee, S.; Shin, Y.; Jung, W.; Kim, J.; Park, K.; Kim, K.; Cho H.; Ro, S.; Lee, S.; Jeong S.; Choi, T.; Chung, H.; Koh, J. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 2001, 11, 3069.
- Padro, J.; Tejedor, D.; Santos-Exposito, A.; Garcya-Tellado, F.; Martin, V.; Villar, J. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 2005, 15, 2487.
- (a) Esposito, D.; Craigie, R. Adv. Virus Res., 1999, 52, 319. (b) Asante-Appiah, E.; Skalka, A.; Adv. Virus Res., 1999, 52, 351. (c). Pommier, Y.; Neamati, N. Adv. Virus Res., 1999, 52, 427. (c) Hazuda, D.; Felock, P.; Witmar, M.; Wolfe, A.; Stillmock, K.; Grobler, J.; Espeseth, A.; Gabryelski, L.; Schleif, W.; Blau C.; Miller, M. Science, 2000, 287, 646. (d) Hazuda, D.; Felock, P.; Hastings, J.; Pramanik, B.; Wolfe, A. J. Virol., 1997, 71, 7005.
- 7. (a) Cohen, P. The Enzymes; Academic Press: New York, 1986, 17, 461. (b) Cross, D.; Alessi, R.; Cohen, P.; Jelkovich, M.; Hemmings, B. Nature, 1995, 378, 785. (c) Nikoulina, S.; Ciaraldi, T.; Mudaliar, S.; Mohideen, P.; Cartet, L.; Henry, R. Diabetes, **2000**, 49,263. (d) Wagman, A.; Johnson, K.; Bussiere, D. Curr. Pharm. Design, **2004**, 10, 1. (e) Polychronopoulos, P.; Magiatis, P.; Skaltsounis, A.; Myrianthopoulos, V.; Mikros, E.; Tarricone, A.; Musacchio, A.; Roe, S.; Pearl, L.; Leost, M.; Greengard, P.; Meijer, L. J. Med. Chem., 2004, 47, 935. (f) Kunick, C.; Lauenroth, K.; Leost, M.; Meijer, L.; Lemcke, T. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 14, 2004, 413. (g) Hers, I.; Tavare, J.; Denton R. FEBS Lett., 1999, 460, 433. (h) Coghlan, M.; Culbert, A.; Cross, D.; Corcoran, S.; Yates, J.; Pearce, N.; Rausch, O.; Murphy, G.; Carter, P.; Cox, L.; Mills, D.; Brown, M.; Haigh, D.; Ward, R.; Smith, D.; Murray, K.; Reith, A. J.; Chem. Biol., 2000, 7, 793. (i) Kuo, G.; Prouty, C.; DeAngelis, A.; Shen, L.; O'Neill D.; Shah, C.; Connolly, P.; Murray, W.; Conway, B.; Cheung, P.; Westover, L.; Xu, J.; Look, R.; Demarest, K.; Emanuel, S.; Middleton, S.; Jolliffe, L.; Beavers, M.; Chen, X. J. Med. Chem., 2003, 46, 4021. (j) Engler, T.; Henry, J.; Malhotra, S.; Cunningham, B.; Furness, K.; Brozinick, J.; Burkholder, T.; Clay, M.; Clayton, J.; Briere, D.; O'Toole, J.; Porter, W.; Oueener, S.; Reel, J.; Owens, R.; Brier, R.; Eessalu, T.; Wagner, J.; Campbell, R.; Vaughn, R. J. Med. Chem., 2004, 47, 3934.
- (a) Hania, M. Asian J. Chem., 2002, 14, 1074. (b) Laurin, P.; Ferroud, D.; Klich, M.; Dupuis-Hamelin, C.; Mauvais, P.; Lassaigne, P.; Bonnefoy, A.; Musicki, B. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 1999, 9, 2079.
- (a) Mizuno, A.; Inomata, N.; Miya, M.; Kamei, T.; Shibata, M.; Tatsuoka, T.; Yoshida, M.; Takiguchi, C.; Miyazaki, T. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, **1999**, *47*, 246. (b) Mizuno, A.; Ogata, A.; Kamei, T.; Shibata, M.; Shimamoto, T.; Hayashi, Y.; Nakanishi, K.;

Takiguchi, C.; Oka, N.; Inomata, N. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, **2000**, *48*, 623. (c) Granados, R.; Mauleon, D.; Perez, M. Ann. Quim. Ser. C, **1983**, *79*, 275.

- 10. Cozzi, P.; Mongelli, N. Curr. Pharm. Des. 1998, 4, 181.
- (a) Prins, L. J.; Reinhoudt, D. N.; Timmerman, P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 2382.
 (b) Lehn, J. M. Supramolecular Chemistry, Concepts and PerceptiVes; VCH: Weinheim, Germany, 1995.
- 12. (a) Gale, P. A.; Anzenbacher, P.; Sessler, J. L. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2001, 222, 57. (b) Vicente, M. G. H.; Jaquinod, L.; Smith, K. M. Chem. Commun. 1999, 1771. (c) Yoon, D. W.; Hwang, H.; Lee, C. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 1757. (d) Jeppesen, J. O.; Becher, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 3245. (e) Miyaji, H.; Sato W.; Sessler, J. L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 1777. (f) Montforts, F. P.; Kutzki, O. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 599.
- (a) Skotheim, T. A.; Elsenbaumer, R. L.; Reynolds, J. R.; Eds. Handbook of Conducting Polymers, 2nd ed.; Marcell Dekker: NewYork, 1998. (b) Higgins, S. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1997, 26, 247.
- 14. (a) Knorr, L. Ber. 1884, 17, 1635. (b) Knorr, L. Ann. 1886, 236, 290. (c) Knorr, L.; Lange, H. Ber. 1902, 35, 2998. (d) Corwin, A. H. Heterocyclic Compounds, 1950, 1, 287.
- (a) Knorr, L. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1884, 17, 1635. (b) Paul, C. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges.
 1885, 18, 367. (c) Trost, B. M.; Doherty, G. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 3801. (d) Quiclet-Sire, B.; Quintero, L.; Sanchez- Jimenez, G.; Zard, S. Z. Synlett 2003, 75. (e) Bharadwaj, A. R.; Scheidt, K. A. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2465. (f) Braun, R. U.; Zeitler, K.; Muller, T. J. J. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 3297.
- 16. (a) Palacios, F.; Aparico, D.; de los Santos, J. M.; Vicario, J. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57*, 1961.
 (b) Kaupp, G.; Schemeyers, J.; Kuse, A.; Atfeh, A. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* 1999, *38*, 2896.
- 17. (a) Barton, D. H. R. *Tetrahedron*, 1990, 46, 7587. (b) Lash, T. D. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 1994, 35, 2493. (c) Pelkey, E. T. *Chem. Commun.* 1996, 1909.
- (a) Piloty, O. Chem. Ber. 1910, 43, 489. (b) Gertrude Maud, R.; Robinson, Robert, R. J. Chem. Soc. 1918, 113, 639.
- (a) Ackermann, L. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 439. (b) Vieira, T. O.; Alper, H. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 485. (c) Balme, G.; Bouyssi, D.; Montiero, N. Pure. App. Chem. 2006, 78, 231. (d) Beller, M.; Eckert, M.; Moradi, W.; Neumann, H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 1454. (e) Aschwanden, P.; Stephenson, C. R. J.; Carreira, E. M. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 2437. (f) Bae, I.; Han, H.; Chang, S.; J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 2038. (g) Cote, A.; Charette, A. B. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 10864. (h) Xu, H. W.; Li, G. Y.; Wong, M. K.; Che, C. M.; Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5349. (i) Church, T. L.; Byrne, C. M.; Lobkovsky, E. B.; Coates, G. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 8156. (j) Nuske, H.; Kozhushhov, S. I.; Noltemeyer, M.; Es-Sayed, M.; de Meijere, A. Chem. Eur. J. 2002, 8, 2350. (k) Wang, Y.; Zhu, Y.;

Chen, Z.; Mi, A.; Hu, W.; Doyle, M. P. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3923. (1) Kerr, D. J.; Willis, A. C.; Flynn, B. L. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 457. (m) Whiting, M.; Fokin, V. V. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 3157. (n) Henderson, J. L.; Edwards, A. S.; Greaney, M. F. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 5589. (o) Dondas, H. A.; Fishwick, C. W. G.; Gai, X.; Grigg, R.; Kilner, C.; Dumrongchai, N.; Kongkathip, B.; Kongkathip, N.; Polysuk, C.; Sridharan, V. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 7570. (p) Arefalk, A.; Marhed, M.; Hallberg, A. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 938. (q) Shintani, R.; Yamagami, T.; Hayashi, T. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 4799. (r) Ikeda, S. I.; Cui, D. M.; Sato, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 4712. (s) Tonogaki, K.; Itami, K.; Yoshida, J. I. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 1419. (t) Ng, S. S.; Jamison, T. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 14194. (u) Gommermann, N.; Knochel, P. Chem. Eur. J. 2006, 12, 4380. (v) Liu, Z.; Larock, R. C.; Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 2535. (w) Nitsudo, K.; Thansandote, P.; Wilhelm, T.; Mariampillai, B.; Lautens, M. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3939. (x) Wei, C.; Li, Z.; Li, C. J. Synlett, 2004, 9, 1472. (y) McCormick, M. M.; Duong, H. A.; Zuo, G.; Louie, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 5030. (z) B. Yan, B.; Liu, Y. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4323.

- 20. (a) Lu, B. Z.; Zhao, W.; Wei, H. X.; Dufour, M.; Farian, V.; Senanayake, C. H. Org. Lett. **2006**, 8, 3271. (b) Guo, H.; Qian, R.; Liao, Y.; Ma, S.; Guo, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2005**, 127, 13060. (c) C. D. Hopkins, C.D.; Malinakova, H. C. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 597. (d) Knapton, D. J.; Meyer, T. Y. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 785. (e) Shibata, K.; Satoh, T.; Miura, M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 1781. (f) Montgomery, J. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 457. (g) Mohamed, M. S.; Kobayashi, K.; Mori, A. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 4487. (h) DSouza, D. M.; Muller, T. J. J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2007, 36, 1095. (i) Cao, C.; Shi, Y.; Odom, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 2880. (j) Ohno, H.; Ohta, Y.; Oishi, S.; Fujii, N. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 2295. (k) Abbiati, G.; Arcadi, A.; Canevari, V.; Capezzuto, L.; Rossi, E. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 6454. (1) Galliford, C. V.; Scheidt, K. A. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 1811. (m) Andreana, P. R.; Liu, C. C.; Schreiber, S. L. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4231. (n) Oisaki, K.; Zhao, D.; Kanai, M.; Shibasaki, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 7439. (o) Akullian, L. C.; Snapper, M. L.; Hoveyda, A. H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 4244 (p) Kimura, M.; Kojima, K.; Tatsuyama, Y.; Tamaru, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 6332. (q) Trost, B. M.; Pinkerton, A. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 7376. (r) Chen, Y. K.; Walsh, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 3702. (s) Wender, P. A.; Garnber, G. G.; Hubbard, R. D.; Pham, S. M.; Zhang, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 2836. (t) Gao, K.; Wu, J. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 8611. (u) Yamamoto, Y.; Ishii, J.; Nishiyama, H.; Itoh, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 9625. (v) D. Ramon, D.; Yus, M.; Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 1602. (w) Hulin, B.; Newton, L. S.; Cabral, S.; Walker, A. J.; Bordner, J. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4343. (x) T. Dahl, T.; Tornoe, C. W.; Andersen, B. B.; Nielsen, P.; Jorgensen, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 1726. (y) Pinto, A.; Neuville, L.; Zhu, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 3291.
- (a) Liu, J. F.; Ye, P.; Zhang, B.; Bi, G.; Sargent, K.; Yu, L.; Yohannes, D.; Baldino, C. M. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 6339. (b) Liu, J.F.; Kaselj, M.; Isome, Y.; Chapnick, J.; Zhang, B.; Bi, G.; Yohannes, D.; Yu, L.; Baldino, C. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 10488. (c) Liu, J.F.; Ye, P.; Sprague, K.; Sargent, K.; Yohannes, D.; Baldino, C.M.; Wilson, C.J.; Ng, S.C. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3363. (d) Mont, N.; Mehta, V.P.; Appukkuttan, P.; Beryozina, T.; Toppet, S.; Van Hecke, K.; Van Meervelt, L.; Voet, A.; DeMaeyer, M.; Van der Eycken, E. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 7509. (e) Sunderhaus, J.D.; Dockendorff,

C.; Masrtin, S.F. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4223. (f) Le Bas, M.D.H.; O'Shea, F. J. Comb. Chem. 2005, 7, 947. (g) Tu, S.; Jiang, B.; Zhang, Y.; Jia, R.; Zhang, J.; Yao, C.; Shi, F.Org. Biomol. Chem., 2007, 5, 355. (h) Cui, S.L.; Lin, X.F.; Wang, Y.G. J. Org. Chem. **2005**, 70, 2866. (i) Ye, P.; Sargent, K.; Stewart, E.; Liu, J. F.; Yohannes, D.; Yu, L. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 3137. (j) Gelens, E.; De Kanter, F.J.J.; Schmitz, R.F.; Sliedregt, L.A.J.M.; Van Steen, B.J.; Kruse, C.G.; Leurs, R.; Groen, M.B.; Orru, R.V.A. Mol. Divers. 2006, 10, 17. (k) Werner, S.; Nielson, S.D.; Wipf, P.; Turner, D.M.; chambers, P.G.; Geib, S.J.; Curran, D.P.; Zhang, W. J. Comb. Chem. 2009, 11, 452. (1) Sakhno, Y.I.; Desenko, S.M.; Shishkina, S.V.; Shishkin, O.V.; Sysoyev, D.O.; Groth, U.; Kappe, O.C.; Chebanov, V.A. Tetrahedron 2008, 64, 11041. (m) Ohta, Y.; Oishi, S.; Fujii, N.; Ohno, H. Org. Lett. 2009, 11, 1979. (n) Jensen, A.A.; Erichsen, M.N.; Nielsen, C.W.; Stensbol, T.B.; Kehler, J.; Bunch, L. J. Med. Chem. 2009, 52, 912. (o) Surpur, M.P.; Kshirsagar, S.; Samant, S.D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2009, 50, 719. (p) Sridhar, M.; Ramanaiah, B. C.; Narsaiah, C.; Mahesh, B.; Kumaraswamy, M.; Mallu, K. K. R.; Ankathi, V. M.; Rao, P. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2009, 50, 3897. (q) Evdokimov, N. M.; Kireev, A. S.; Yakovenko, A. A.; Antipin, M. Y.; Magedov, I. V.; Kornienko, A. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 3443. (r) Zhou, J. F.; Song, Y. Z.; Lv, J. S.; Gong, G. X.; Tu, S. Synth. Commun. 2009, 39, 1443. (s) Zhu, S. L.; Zhao, K.; Su, X. M.; Ji, S. J. 2009, 39, 1355. (t) Hatamjafari, F. Synth. Commun. 2006, 36, 3563. (u) Tu, S. J.; Cao, X. D.; Hao, W. J.; Zhang, X. H.; Yan, S.; Wu, S. S.; Han, Z. G.; Shi, F. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2009, 7, 557. (v) Hao, W.J.; Jiang, B.; Tu, S.J.; Wu, S.S.; Han, Z.G.; Cao, X.D.; Zhang, X.H.; Yan, S.; Shi, F. J. Comb. Chem. 2009, 11, 310. (w) Wen, L. R.; Sun, J. H.; Li, M.; Sun, E. T.; Zhang, S. S. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 1852.

- 22. Cadierno, V.; Gimeno, J.; Nebra, N. Chem. Eur. J., 2007, 13, 9973.
- 23. (a) Dhawan, R.; Arndtsen, B. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2004, 126, 468. (b) Arndtsen, B. A. Chem. Eur. J, 2009, 15, 302.
- 24. Barnea, E.; Majunder, S.; Staples, R. J.; Odom, A. L. Organometallics, 2009, 28, 3876.
- 25. Cao, C.; Shi, Y.; Odom, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 2880.
- 26. Harris, S. A.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Odom, A. L. Inorg. Chem. 2001, 40, 1987.
- 27. Shi, Y.; Hall, C.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Cao, C.; Odom, A. L. Chem. Commun. 2003, 586.
- 28. Gokel, G. W.; Widera, R. P.; Weber, W. P. Org. Synth. 1976, 55, 96.
- Gupton, J. T.; Krolikowski, D. A.; Yu, R. H.; Riesinger, S. W.; Sikorski, J. A. J. Org. Chem., 1990, 55 (15), 4735.
- 30. (a) Elghamry, I. *Syn. Comm*, **2002**. 32 (6).897. (b) Schonfelder, W.; Spora, I.; Hemetsberger, H. J. Chem. Res (s), **1977**. 247.
- 31. Handy, S. T.; Bregman, H.; Lewis, J.; Zhang, X.; Zhang, Y. Tetrahedron Letters, 2003, 44, 427.

CHAPTER 5. TITANIUM-CATALYZED MULTICOMPONENT COUPLING REACTIONS FOR THE SYNTHESIS OF 5-SUBSTITITED AND 5,6-DISUBSTITITED 2-AMINO-3-CYANO-PYRIDINES

5.1 Introduction

The pyridine core structure is one of the most important heterocyclic ring structures as it is found in many natural products.¹ Among these, 2-amino-3-cyanopyridine derivatives are an important class of heterocyclic compounds in the synthetic community.^{2,3} Substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine derivatives exhibits biological activities (**Figure 5.1**) such as anti-hypertensive,⁴ IKK- β -inhibitory,⁵ anti-microbial,⁶ anti-viral,⁷ anti-bacterial,⁸ anti-tumour,⁹ anti-fungal,¹⁰ and anti-inflammatory activity.¹¹ They are also used as pigments,¹² and as ligands for transition metal catalysis.¹³



Figure 5.1 Bioactive substitited 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines

Microwave-assisted multicomponent coupling reactions in organic synthesis have received much interest in recent years due to high atom economy and bond-forming efficiency. ¹⁴ In 2010 the Tu group and 2007 the Shi group reported the synthesis of N-substituted aminopyridines by employing a one-pot three-component reaction of α , β -unsaturated ketones, malononitrile and primary amines under micro-wave irridation in good yields (Scheme 5.1).¹⁵



Scheme 5.1 Microwave-assisted 3-component synthesis of substituted 2-amino-3-cyanopyridines

These three component multicomponent¹⁶ were further extended to four component multicomponent coupling reactions by substituting α,β -unsaturated ketones with an aldehyde and a carbonyl compound to obtain N-arylated-2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine derivatives. These four component reactions can be carried out under thermal or micro-wave irridation conditions (**Scheme 5.2**). Substituted-2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine derivatives can be easily obtained simply by changing the primary amine to ammonium acetate under same reaction conditions.¹⁷



Scheme 5.2 Microwave-assisted 4-component synthesis of substituted 2-amino-3-cyanopyridines

Recently, Ding and co-workers have reported copper-catalyzed N-arylation of 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines with aryl halides (Ulmann-type coupling).¹⁸ This new economical and less toxic synthetic protocol has been applied to synthesis of wide range 2-aryamino-3-cyanopyridine products in good to excellent yields (**Scheme 5.3**).

Scheme 5.3 N-Arylation of 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines using copper(I) catalyst

Substituted-2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines can also be synthesized by ring transformations of heterocyclic compounds. Ram and co-workers reported the ring transformation of 2*H*-pyran-2-ones to substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines in moderate yields (**Scheme 5.4**).¹⁹ Similarly Shi and co-workers also demonstrated the ring transformation of chromene-3-carbonitrile to substituted 2-aminoquinoline-3-carbonitriles under microwave irradiation in good yields.²⁰



Scheme 5.4 Substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines from 2H-pyran-2-ones

In this study, we demonstrate that a variety of substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines can be prepared in a one-pot 4-component fashion (**Scheme 5.6**). The methodology uses a titaniumcatalyzed 3-component coupling of an alkyne, isonitrile, and primary amine to generate unsymmetrical 1,3-diimine tautomers.²¹ Substituted-2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines result from simply removing the volatiles from the multicomponent coupling reaction and treating the crude product with commercially available malononitrile under basic reaction conditions in refluxing ethanol.

5.2 Results and Discussion

Our group has been investigating a titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling (3CC) reaction that generates tautomers of 1,3-diimines.²¹ In this work we report that these 3CC products, can be used as direct precursors for the synthesis of substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines and related heterocycles in a one-pot procedure simply by adding malononitrile to the multicomponent coupling product (**Scheme 5.5**).

Two titanium catalysts $Ti(dpma)(NMe_2)_2$ (1) and $Ti(dpm)(NMe_2)_2$ (2) were employed for this study. They can be prepared (refer to chapter 3) in a single step by reacting the ancillary ligands with commertially available $Ti(NMe_2)_4$. The proposed catalytic cycle involved in the synthesis of the 3CC product (discussed in chapter 3) is based on the mechanism for catalytic hydroamination.



Scheme 5.5 Reaction of 3CC product with malononitrile

Our initial studies were focused on the product catalyzed multicomponent reaction of aniline, prop-1-yn-1-ylbenzene and *tert*-butylisonitrile with malononitrile under basic reaction conditions. Preliminary studies resulted in a mixture of substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine derivative (6-Methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile) (1a) (Figure 5.2) and 1,2-dihydropyridine derivative 1-(*tert*-butyl)-2-imino-4-methyl-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carbonitrile (1b) (Figure 5.3). Interestingly substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine core structure attracted our attention due to its widely use in biological applications.⁴⁻¹¹



Figure 5.2 Structure of 6-Methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile by X-ray diffraction (1a)



Figure 5.3 Structure of 1-(*tert*-butyl)-2-imino-4-methyl-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carbonitrile by X-ray diffraction (**1b**)

Optimization studies were focused on the titanium catalyzed multicomponent reaction of aniline, prop-1-yn-1-ylbenzene and *tert*-butylisonitrile followed by treating with malononitrile (2 equiv) triethyl amine (2 equiv) inprotic solvents at 25 °C. Observed results are summarized in **Table 5.1** and product distribution was determined by GC-FID studies. Preliminary studies resulted a mixture of substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine derivative (6-Methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile) (1a) and 1,2-dihydropyridine derivative 1-(*tert*-butyl)-2-imino-4-methyl-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carbonitrile (1b). Solvent ethanol in the prescence of base triethyl amine (2 equiv) found to yield mainly the desire product (1a).



Table 5.1. Optimization study for the synthesis of 1a in protic solvents

E A	Solvent	0		Product distribution	
Entry	Solvent	T (~C)	Time (h)	1a	1b
1	ОН	25 (°C)	$5(h)^{\pm}$	6 [£]	1 [£]
2	∽∽он	25 (°C)	5 (h) [±]	3.2 [£]	1 £
3	→ОН	25 (°C)	5 (h) [±]	3 [£]	1 £
4	——————————————————————————————————————	25 (°C)	5 (h) [±]	2.5 [£]	1 [£]
5	——————————————————————————————————————	25 (°C)	5 (h) [±]	2 [£]	1 £
6	ОН	25 (°C)	5 (h) [±]	1.4 [£]	1 £
±					-

^{\pm} Multicomponent reactions carried out with aniline, prop-1-yn-1-ylbenzene, and *tert*butylisonitrile in a 1:1:1.5 ratio with 10 mol % catalyst (**2**) at 100 °C for 48 h. Once the 3CC is complete, product was subjected to appropriate reaction conditions. Table 5.1 (cont'd)

[£] Determined from GC-FID

Further optimization studies were carried out in ethanol varying the organic based used in the cyclization step. Observed results are summarized in **Table 5.2** and product distribution was determined by GC-FID studies. Less bulky base DBU found to be improve the product distribution (**Table 5.2**. entry 1 to 4). Also additive molecular sieves further improves product distribution of the (**Table 5.2**. entry 7).

Table 5.2. Optimization study for the synthesis of 1a using various organic bases



Entry	Base	Т (⁰ С)	Time (h)	Product distribution	
		1a	1b		
1	triethyl amine	25 (°C)	5 (h) [±]	6 [£]	1 [£]
2	triethyl amine	50 (°C)	5 (h) [±]	3.2 [£]	1 [£]
3	DBU	25 (°C)	5 (h) [±]	9 [£]	1 £

Table 5.2 (cont'd)

4	DBU	50 (°C)	5 (h) [±]	15 [£]	1 [£]
5	Hunings hasa	25 (°C)	$5(h)^{\pm}$	1 2 [£]	1 £
5	nunnigs base	25 (C)	5 (11)	1.2	1
6	diethyl amine	25 (°C)	5 (h) [±]	2 [£]	1 [£]
7 [¥]	DBU	25 (°C)	5 (h) [±]	$> 50^{\text{f}}$	$1^{\text{\pounds}}$

^{\pm} Multicomponent reactions carried out with aniline, prop-1-yn-1-ylbenzene, and *tert*butylisonitrile in a 1:1:1.5 ratio with 10 mol % catalyst (**2**) at 100 °C for 48 h. Once the 3CC is complete, product was subjected to appropriate reaction conditions.

[£] Determined from GC-FID

 $^{\text{¥}}$ Carried out in the precence of molecular sieves





Entry	DBU	T (^o C)	Time (h)	GC Yield (1a)
1	0.1 equiv	60 (°C)	2 (h) [±]	42 % ^{£,§}
2	0.25 equiv	60 (°C)	2 (h) [±]	54 % ^{£,§}
3	0.5 equiv	60 (°C)	2 (h) [±]	62 % ^{£,§}
4	1 equiv	60 (°C)	2 (h) [±]	57 % ^{£,§}
5	0.25 equiv	80 (°C)	$2(h)^{\pm}$	49 % ^{£,§}
6	0.5 equiv	80 (°C)	2 (h) [±]	71 % ^{£,§}

^{\pm} Multicomponent reactions carried out with aniline, prop-1-yn-1-ylbenzene, and *tert*butylisonitrile in a 1:1:1.5 ratio with 10 mol % catalyst (**2**) at 100 °C for 48 h. Once the 3CC is complete, product was subjected to appropriate reaction conditions.

Table 5.3 (cont'd)

[£] Yields are determined by calibrated GC-FID

[§] Trace amount of 1-(*tert*-butyl)-2-imino-4-methyl-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carbonitrile
(1b) observed by GC-MS

The one pot stnthesis of 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine derivative (**1a**) was further optimized by varying the base (DBU) used in the reaction various reaction temparatures. Observed results are summarized in **Table 5.3** and yields of 6-Methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile (**1a**) was determined by calibrated GC-FID. Two equivalents of malononitrile, 0.5 equivalents of DBU as the base under reflux reaction conditions in ethanol in two hours results in substituted 2amino-3-cyano-pyridine derivatives. This reaction is an overall one-pot four component reaction in which all four starting materials are incorporated into the final product. Therefore the study was focused on the optimization of the reaction conditions to obtain substituted 2-amino-3cyano-pyridine derivatives.

$$\begin{array}{c} R^{1}NH_{2} \\ (1 \text{ equiv}) \\ + \\ R^{2} = -R^{3} \underbrace{10\% \text{ Ti-Catalyst}}_{(1 \text{ equiv})} \left[\begin{array}{c} R^{1} \\ N \\ R^{2} = -R^{3} \\ (1 \text{ equiv}) \\ + \\ R^{4}NC \\ (1.5 \text{ equiv}) \end{array} \right] \begin{array}{c} \text{malononitrile (1 equiv)} \\ DBU (0.5 \text{ equiv}) \\ \text{molecular sieves (3 ^{\circ}A)} \\ \text{ethanol, 80 ^{\circ}C, 2 h} \end{array} \right] \begin{array}{c} R^{2} \\ R^{4}NC \\ (1.5 \text{ equiv}) \end{array}$$

Scheme 5.6 Optimized reaction conditions for the synthesis of substituted 2-amino-3-cyanopyridine derivatives The results for the 3CC of some aryl and alkyl amines with prop-1-yn-1-ylbenzene are shown in **Table 5.4**. The yields of the substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine compounds are moderate to good, A variety of different aniline derivatives have been used in the multicomponent coupling reaction, and in general, the one-pot syntheses of substituted 2-amino-3-cyanopyridine work better for electron rich anilines.

The regiochemistry was determined by an X-ray structure of the product with prop-1-yn-1-ylbenzene (**Figure 5.2**). The regio-chemistry with the other unsymmetrical alkynes were assumed to occure with the incorporation of the largest group in the 5-position. Using this methodology, the 4-position of the 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine product will be unsubstituted. In addition, the route takes advantage of the abundance of aryl amines that are available commercially to make substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines. Primary amines such as hexan-1amine, benzylamine and diphenylmethanamine results in production of the 3CC product in good yields using either catalyst; however, for reasons currently unknown the addition of malononitrile under any reaction conditions we investigated did not result in formation of the substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines.

Entry	Amine	Catalyst	Product	Isolated yield
a	< →−NH ₂	2		72% [±]
b	< →−NH ₂	1		67%
с	NH ₂	2		76%
d	CI	2		70%
e	-o -NH ₂	2		69%

Table 5.4 Examples of substituted 2-amino-3-cyanopyridine syntheses using prop-1-yn-1-ylbenzene and a variety of primary aryl and alkyl amines (Scheme 5.6)

f	NH ₂	2	N N N N	63%
g	F	2	N N F	42%
h	Br — NH ₂	2	N N Br	68%
i	O-√NH2	2	N H N N N N	73%
j	NH ₂	2	N H N N N N	52%
k	NH2 N Bn	2	N N N N N N Bn	54%

 $^{\pm}$ characterized by X-ray diffraction studies

During the second part of the study, The multicomponent coupling product from aniline and various internal and terminal alkynes was treated with malononitrile to obtain 5-substituted and 5,6-disubstituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines respectively (**Table 5.5**). The yields of the substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine compounds are moderate to good.

Table 5.5 Ex	camples of substi-	uted 2-amino-3-cyar	nopyridine syntheses	using aniline	with other
alkynes (Sch	eme 5.6)				

Entry	Alkyne	Catalyst	Product	Isolated yield
1	/	2		64%
m		2		60%
n	TBDPSO-	2	TBDPSO	68%
0		2		55%
р		2	N N N	43% [±]
q		2		62% [±]

Table 5.5 (cont'd)



[±] characterized by X-ray diffraction studies

We have also optimized the reaction conditions to solely obtain 1,2-dihydropyridine derivative 1-(*tert*-butyl)-2-imino-4-methyl-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carbonitrile (**1b**) in good yield. The reaction proceeds in methanol : water (3 : 1) at 0 °C in 5 hours in the presence of non-nucleophilic base triethyl amine (2 equiv). (Scheme 5.7). The structure of **1b** was confirmed by X-ray diffraction studies (Figure 5.3)

Table 5.6. Optimization study for the synthesis of 1b



			Solvent n	nixture	Product distribution	
Entry	T ([°] C)	Time (h)	Methanol (2 mL)	Water (2 mL)	1a	1b
1	0 °C	5 (h) [±]	1.9	0.1	1 £	5.3 [£]
2	0 °C	5 (h) [±]	1.8	0.2	1 £	16 [£]
3	0 °C	5 (h) [±]	1.6	0.4	1 [£]	23 [£]
4	0 °C	5 (h) [±]	1.5	0.5	1 [£]	>25 [£]

^{\pm} Multicomponent reactions carried out with aniline, prop-1-yn-1-ylbenzene, and *tert*butylisonitrile in a 1:1:1.5 ratio with 10 mol % catalyst (**2**) at 100 °C for 48 h. Once the 3CC is complete, product was subjected to appropriate reaction conditions. Table 5.2 (cont'd) Table 5.6 (cont'd)

[£] Determined from GC-FID



Scheme 5.7 Optimized reaction conditions for synthesis of substituted 1,2-dihydropyridine derivatives

 Table 5.7 Examples of substituted 2-amino-3-cyanopyridine syntheses using various amines and with various alkynes (Scheme 5.6)

Entry	Amine	Alkyne	Isonitrile	Catalyst	Product	Isolated yield
v	NH ₂			1		58%
W	NH ₂			1		53%

The proposed mechanism for the one pot synthesis of substituted 2-amino-3cyanopyridines is similar to the well-known Dimroth rearrangement (**Scheme 5.8**).^{21,24} Initially, malononitrile adds to the 1,3-diimine with elimination of H_2NR^4 and results in intermediate **2**. Subsequently, intermediate **2** can undergo intramolecular 6-endo-dig cyclization to give iminopyridine intermediate **3**. The imino-pyridine intermediate **3** ring opens under reaction conditions to yield intermediate **7**, which can easily undergo C-C bond rotation and 6-endo-trig cyclization to give **10**. Upon loss of nucleophilic base, the resulting imino-pyridine aromatizes to a more stable amino-pyridine derivative.



Scheme 5.8 Proposed mechanism for substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine synthesis. DBU = B and $HA = CH_2(CN)_2$

To gain evidence for the Dimroth-type transformation of the imino-pyridine intermediate to amino-pyridine derivative, further studies were done. The multicomponent coupling product of cyclohexylamine, ethynylbenzene and *tert*-butylisonitrile was converted to the corresponding imino-pyridine intermediate (**2b**) 1-(*tert*-butyl)-2-imino-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carbonitrile under optimized reaction conditions in 52% isolated yield (**Scheme 5.9**).



Scheme 5.9 amino-pyridine and imino-pyridines from multicomponent coupling reaction

The imino-pyridine intermediate (**2b**) 1-(*tert*-butyl)-2-imino-5-phenyl-1,2dihydropyridine-3-carbonitrile was then subjected to various reaction conditions similar to those used to generate the substituted amino-pyridine derivative 2-(*tert*-butylamino)-5phenylnicotinonitrile (**2a**). The rearrangement study results are summarized in Table 5.8. In the presence of both malononitrile (2 equiv) and base (DBU) under refluxing conditions in ethanol (**Table 5.4**, entry 1 and 2), imino-pyridine intermediate (**2b**) (1-(*tert*-butyl)-2-imino-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carbonitrile) was rearranged to the corresponding substituted amino-pyridine derivative (**2a**) 2-(*tert*-butylamino)-5-phenylnicotinonitrile in 86% isolated yield. Also refluxing imino-pyridine intermediate (**2b**) with malononitrile or DBU separately did not facilitate the molecular rearrangement to the corresponding amino-pyridine derivative (**2a**) (**Table 5.7**, entry 3 and 4). Interestingly, attempted rearrangement of the imino-pyridine (**2b**) in the presence of phenol and DBU (**Table 5.8**, entry 5) results in the amino pyridine derivative (**2a**). These experimental observations provide evidence that the transformation proceeds via a Dimroth-type molecular rearrangement in the presence of a both nucleophilic base and a proton source.

Table 5.8 Reaction conditions to convert 1-(*tert*-butyl)-2-imino-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carbonitrile (2b) to 2-(*tert*-butylamino)-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (2a)

Entry	CH ₂ (CN) ₂ (equiv)	Additive (equiv)	DBU (equiv)	T (^o C)	Time (h)	Product
1	2.0		1.0	80 °C	2	2a *
2	2.0		0.5	80 °C	2	2a [£] (86%)
3			0.5	80 °C	2	2b*
4	2.0			80 °C	2	2b*
5		2.0	0.5	80 °C	2	2a*

(* Observed by NMR, [£] Isolated yield)

Furthermore the multicomponent coupling of prop-1-yn-1-ylbenzene, *tert*-butylisonitrile, and aniline followed by condensation with malononitrile in the presence of 10 equivalents of 3,5-dimethylaniline results exclusively 6-methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile. No incorporation of the excess 3,5-dimethylaniline in the final 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine product indicates the transformation undergoes an overall unimolecular rearrangement to result in substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine (**Scheme 5.10**), a finding that is also consistent with the Dimroth mechanism.



Scheme 5.10 One pot synthesis of 6-methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile

We have also synthesized 5-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-((3,5-dimethylphenyl)amino)-6methylnicotinonitrile from the multicomponent coupling product of 1-(prop-1-yn-1-yl)cyclohex-1-ene, *tert*-butylisonitrile, 3,5-dimethylaniline followed by condensation with malononitrile in 51% isolated yield (**Scheme 5.11**). This 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine has the same functional groups as the biologically active quinoline (**AD043**) (For more detail see chapter 6) and currently its biological activity is under investigation.



Scheme 5.11 One-pot synthesis of 5-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-((3,5-dimethylphenyl)amino)-6methylnicotinonitrile

Substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines can be derivatized for further applications. Under aqueous acidic reaction conditions the nitrile can be hydrolyzed to the corresponding acid derivatives in good yield (**Scheme 5.12**).²⁵



Scheme 5.12 Derivatives from substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines

Reaction scaleing up of 6-methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile

In order to scale up the synthesis of substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridine derivatives, one pot synthesis of 6-methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile was used as a molel study (**Scheme 5.6**). Multicomponent reaction of aniline (20 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (20 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (30 mmol) were carried out in a schilnk flask in the prescence of catalyst **2** (10% mol) followed by reacting with malononitrile (40 mmol), DBU (10 mmol), molecular sieves, in absolute ethanol (40 mL) resulted isolated yield of 3.7 g (66%) of the desired product 6-methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile.

5.3 Conclusion

Titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling of a primary amine, an alkyne, and an isonitrile followed by treatment with malononitrile under basic conditions provides substituted 2-amino-3-cyanopyridine in a one-pot four component procedure. Reactions with terminal alkynes are more facile and can be accomplished with the milder $Ti(NMe_2)_2(dpma)$ (1) as catalyst. The more active dipyrrolylmethane catalyst $Ti(NMe_2)_2(dpm)$ (2) was used for internal alkynes.

This new procedure has significant flexibility in the type of substituted 2-amino-3-cyanopyridines that can be accessed. Substituents on the internal and terminal alkynes can easily modify the 5th and 6th position of the pyridine ring, and by varying the substituted anilines in the three component coupling reaction, a vast number of substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines can be easily prepared from commercially available substituted anilines. The yields are generally good to moderate, and the products are readily isolated using column chromatography. Experimental observations provide evidence that the transformation proceeds via a Dimroth-type molecular rearrangement in the presence of both a nucleophilic base and a proton source.

These one pot substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines can also be easily converted to other derivatives for further modification and currently the biological activity of substituted 2-amino-3-cyano-pyridines is under investigation

5.4 Experimental

General Considerations: All manipulations of air sensitive compounds were carried out in an MBraun drybox under a purified nitrogen atmosphere. Toluene was purified by sparging with dry N₂ and water was removed by running through activated alumina systems purchased from Solv-Tek. ¹H and ¹³C spectra were recorded on VXR-500 spectrometers. Melting points are uncorrected and measured on a Mel-Temp II apparatus (Laboratory Devices Inc, USA) with a mercury thermometer in an open capillary tube. Ti(NMe₂)₂(dpma) (1) and Ti(NMe₂)₂(dpm) (2) were made following the literature procedures.²⁶ Alkynes were purchased either from Sigma-Aldrich or Oakwood chemicals and were distilled from CaO under dry nitrogen. Amines were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, dried over KOH, and distilled under dry nitrogen. tert-Butylisonitrile was made according to the literature procedure and purified by distillation under dry nitrogen.²⁷ Malononitrile, 1,8-Diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene (DBU), and silica gel were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and used as received. Molecular sieves 3 Å, 1/16" pellets were purchased from Spectrum chemicals. Absolute ethanol was purchased from KOPTEC and used as received. Hexanes and ethyl acetate were purchased from Mallinckrodt Chemicals and used as received. Extinction coefficients for all compounds were acquired in CH₂Cl₂ solutions using a Varian Cary 50 UV-Visible spectrophotometer.

Preparation and Characterization of Compounds in Table 5.4



6-Methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile (Table 5.4, entry a): In a N_2 filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (95 mg, 1 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (205 mg, 72%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 119-121 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.53 (3 H, s, CH₃), 7.14-7.17 (2H, br, CH-Ar, NH-aniline), 7.32-7.34 (2H, d, 8 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.40-7.45 (3H, m, CH-Ar), 7.47-7.51 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.66 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), 7.76-7.78 (2H, d, 8.5 Hz, CH-Ar). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 23.9, 90.3, 116.5, 119.9, 123.2, 127.5, 127.9, 128.4, 128.7, 128.9, 138.0, 138.9, 141.9, 153.9, 159.9. MS(EI): m/z 285. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 294 (24,800), 342 (1,100). Elemental Analysis: found:
%C, 80.10; % H, 5.25; %N, 14.65; expected: %C, 79.98; %H, 5.30; %N, 14.73. Further characterized by X-ray diffraction studies.



2-(cyclohexylamino)-6-methyl-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (Table 5.4, entry b): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (99 mg, 1 mmol), 1phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (195 mg, 67%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 144-147 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.25-1.32 (4 H, m, CH₂), 1.43-1.48 (2 H, m, CH₂) 1.79-1.83 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.07-2.12 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.42 (3 H, s, CH₃), 4.12-4.13 (1 H, m, CH), 4.96-4.98 (1H, d, 8 Hz, NH-cyclohexyl), 7.26-7.27 (2H, d, 7 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.36-7.39 (1H, m, 7 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.44-7.41 (2H, t, 7 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.50 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 24.1, 24.9, 25.7, 33.2, 49.7, 88.3, 117.2, 125.6, 127.2, 128.4, 129.1, 138.8, 141.8, 156.4, 160.3.

MS(EI): *m/z* 291. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ, nm (ε, M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 272 (14,400), 347 (4,400). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 78.29; % H, 7.20; %N, 14.51; expected: %C, 78.32; %H, 7.26; %N, 14.42.



2-((3,5-dimethylphenyl)amino)-6-methyl-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (Table 5.4, entry c): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 3,5-dimethylaniline (121 mg, 1 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (237 mg, 76%) as a brwn solid. M.p.: 98-100 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.40 (6 H, s, CH₃), 2.54 (3 H, s, CH₃), 6.82 (1H, br, NH-3,5dimethylaniline), 7.01 (1H, s, CH-Ar), 7.32-7.34 (2H, d, 8.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.39 (2H, s, CH-Ar), 7.43-7.44 (1H, m, CH-Ar), 7.47-7.51 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.65 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), ¹³C{¹H}

NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.3, 23.9, 90.2, 116.5, 117.8, 125.1, 127.4, 127.7, 128.4, 128.9, 138.1, 138.4, 138.7, 141.9, 154.1, 160.0. MS(EI): *m/z* 313. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ, nm (ε, M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 297 (20,600), 342 (4,900). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 80.53; % H, 6.19; %N, 13.28; expected: %C, 80.48; %H, 6.11; %N, 13.41.



2-((4-chlorophenyl)amino)-6-methyl-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (Table 5.4, entry d): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 4-chloroaniline (127 mg, 1 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (223 mg, 70%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 167-169 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.51 (3 H, s, CH₃), 7.08 (1H, br, NH- 4-chloroaniline), 7.30-7.32 (2H, d, 8.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.34-7.36 (2H, d, 9 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.42-7.44 (1H, m, CH-Ar), 7.46-7.49 (2H, m, CH-

Ar), 7.67 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), 7.69-7.70 (2H, d, 9 Hz, CH-Ar). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 24.0, 90.5, 103.6, 107.7, 121.2, 127.6, 128.1, 128.2, 128.4, 128.5, 128.8, 128.9, 142.1, 153.7, 160.1. MS(EI): *m/z* 319. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ, nm (ε, M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 298 (24,400), 347 (4,900). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 71.25; % H, 4.37; %N, 13.21; expected: %C, 71.36; %H, 4.41; %N, 13.14.



2-((3-methoxyphenyl)amino)-6-methyl-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (Table 5.4, entry e): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 3-methoxyaniline (123 mg, 1 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (217 mg, 69%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 129-130 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.53 (3 H, s, CH₃), 3.88 (3 H, s, OCH₃), 6.69-6.71 (2H, dd, 1 Hz, 6 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.09 (1H, br, NH- 3-methoxyaniline), 7.20-7.28 (1H, m, CH-Ar), 7.29-7.33 (3H, m,

CH-Ar), 7.42-7.44 (2H, d, 7.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.46-7.50 (2H, m, CH-Ar). 7.59-7.60 (1H, m, CH-Ar). 7.66 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H{}$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.3, 23.9, 90.2, 116.5, 117.8, 125.1, 127.4, 127.7, 128.4, 128.9, 138.1, 138.4, 138.7, 141.9, 154.1, 160.0. MS(EI): *m/z* 315. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 76.02; % H, 5.37; %N, 13.39; expected: %C, 76.17; %H, 5.43; %N, 13.32. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 299 (22,900), 340 (4,700). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 76.02; % H, 5.37; %N, 13.39; expected: %C, 76.17; %H, 5.43; %N, 13.32.



6-methyl-2-(naphthalen-2-ylamino)-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (Table 5.4, entry f): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with naphthalen-2-amine (143 mg, 1 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (211 mg, 63%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 144-146 °C. ¹H NMR

(CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.56 (3 H, s, CH₃), 7.21 (1H, br, NH- naphthalen-1-amine), 7.32-7.34 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.42-7.43 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.44-7.51 (3H, m, CH-Ar), 7.69 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), 7.70-7.73 (1H, d, 8.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.83-7.87 (3H, m, CH-Ar). 8.37-8.38 (1H, d, 2 Hz, CH-Ar). 13 C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 24.1, 90.6, 120.8, 124.5, 126.4, 127.4, 127.5, 127.6, 128.1, 128.3, 128.5, 128.6, 129.0, 130.2, 131.4, 134.0, 136.5, 138.0, 142.0, 154.0, 160.2. MS(EI): *m/z* 335. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 278 (32,900), 311 (31,900). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 82.41; % H, 5.16; %N, 12.43; expected: %C, 82.36; %H, 5.11; %N, 12.53.



2-((4-fluorophenyl)amino)-6-methyl-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (Table 5.4, entry g): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 4-fluoroaniline (111 mg, 1 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction of the reaction, the crude product

was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (127 mg, 42%) as a light brown solid. M.p.: 126-128 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.50 (3 H, s, CH₃), 7.08-7.11 (1H, t, 9 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.16 (1H, br, NH-4-fluoroaniline), 7.31-7.33 (2H, d, 5.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.43-7.44 (1H, m, CH-Ar), 7.47-7.50 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.65 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), 7.68-7.71 (2H, m, CH-Ar). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 23.9, 90.0, 103.5, 107.6, 115.2, 116.5, 121.9, 127.5, 128.4, 134.9, 137.9, 142.0, 154.0, 157.8, 159.7. ¹⁹F NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): - 119.1 (m). MS(EI): *m/z* 303. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ, nm (ε, M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 291 (23,200), 342 (4,700). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 75.31; % H, 4.69; %N, 13.79; expected: %C, 75.23; %H, 4.65; %N, 13.85.



2-((4-bromophenyl)amino)-6-methyl-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (Table 5.4, entry h): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 4-bromoaniline (170 mg, 1 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was

heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (247 mg, 68%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 164-166 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.51 (3 H, s, CH₃), 7.08 (1H, br, NH- 4-bromoaniline), 7.30-7.32 (2H, d, 8 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.42-7.43 (1H, m, CH-Ar), 7.46-7.50 (4H, m, CH-Ar), 7.64-7.67 (3H, m, CH-Ar, 4-CH-pyridine). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.3, 90.2, 116.5, 117.8, 125.1, 127.4, 127.7, 128.4, 128.9, 138.1, 138.4, 138.7, 141.9, 154.1, 160.0. MS(EI): *m/z* 363. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 299 (41,600), 342 (7,400). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 62.57; % H, 3.82; %N, 11.59; expected: %C, 62.65; %H, 3.87; %N, 11.54.



2-((4-methoxyphenyl)amino)-6-methyl-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (Table 5.4, entry i): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 4-methoxyaniline (123 mg, 1 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol),

DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (230 mg, 73%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 108-110 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.48 (3 H, s, CH₃), 3.86 (3 H, s, OCH₃), 6.95-6.97 (2H, d, 8.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 6.99 (1H, br, NH- 4-methoxyaniline), 7.30-3.32 (2H, d, 8.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.41-7.42 (1H, m, CH-Ar), 7.46-7.49 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.60-7.63 (3H, m, CH-Ar, 4-CH-pyridine). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 23.9, 55.3, 89.6, 103.5, 114.0, 116.7, 122.4, 127.4, 128.4, 128.9, 131.9, 138.1, 142.0, 154.4, 155.9, 160.1. MS(EI): *m/z* 315. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ε , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 296 (19,100), 345 (3,900). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 76.26; % H, 5.51; %N, 13.22; expected: %C, 76.17; %H, 5.43; %N, 13.32.



6-methyl-2-(naphthalen-1-ylamino)-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (Table 5.4, entry j): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with naphthalen-1-amine (143 mg, 1 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure

tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 $^{\circ}$ C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (174 mg, 52%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 152-156 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.45 (3 H, s, CH₃), 7.32 (1H, br, NH- naphthalen-2-amine), 7.33-7.34 (1H, m, CH-Ar), 7.41-7.50 (4H, m, CH-Ar), 7.56-7.62 (3H, m, CH-Ar), 7.71 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), 7.77-7.79 (1H, d, 8.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.94-7.96 (1H, d, 8 Hz, CH-Ar), 8.09-8.11 (1H, d, 8 Hz, CH-Ar), 8.18-8.19 (1H, d, 7.5 Hz, CH-Ar), ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 24.0, 90.2, 116.6, 120.0, 120.9, 125.1, 125.5, 125.9, 126.2, 127.5, 127.7, 128.1, 128.5, 128.6, 128.9, 133.7, 134,2, 138.1, 142.1, 155.1, 160.3. MS(EI): *m/z* 335. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 82.14; % H, 5.21; %N, 12.65; expected: %C, 82.36; %H, 5.11; %N, 12.53. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ, nm (ε, M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 272 (11,100), 328 (12,500).



2-((1-benzyl-1H-indol-5-yl)amino)-6-methyl-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (Table 5.4, entry k): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst
2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 1-benzyl-1H-indol-5-amine (222)

mg, 1 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (223 mg, 54%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 143-146 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.47 (3 H, s, CH₃), 5.36 (2 H, s, CH₂), 6.57-6.58 (1 H, d, J = 4 Hz, 2-pyrrole-CH), 7.03 (1H, br, NH- 1-benzyl-1H-indol-5-amine), 7.11-7.18 (3H, m, CH-Ar), 7.27-7.41 (9H, m, CH-Ar), 7.44-7.46 (2H, t, 1.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.63 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), 8.00 (1H, s, CH-Ar), ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 24.1, 50.2, 89.5, 101.7, 109.8, 113.6, 116.9, 117.3, 126.7, 127.3, 127.4, 127.6, 128.5, 128.7, 128.9, 129.0, 129.0, 131.2, 133.7, 137.4, 138.4, 142.1, 155.6, 160.2. MS(EI): m/z 414. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 81.33; % H, 5.27; %N, 13.40; expected: %C, 81.13; %H, 5.35; %N, 13.52. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹ ¹): 283 (21,000), 353 (3,800).

Preparation and Characterization of Compounds in Table 5.5



5,6-diethyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile (Table 5.5, entry l): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), hex-3-yne (82 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (160 mg, 64%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 100-102 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.21-1.25 (3 H, t, J = 8 Hz, CH₃), 1.34-1.37 (3 H, t, J = 8 Hz, CH₃), 2.57-2.62 (2 H, t, J = 8 Hz, CH₂), 2.79-2.84 (2 H, t, J = 8 Hz, CH₂), 6.96 (1H, br, NH-aniline), 7.09-7.11 (1H, t, 2.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.36-7.39 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.54 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), 7.72-7.74 (2H, d, 8.5 Hz, CH-Ar). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 12.4, 14.2, 23.9, 28.0, 90.0, 117.0, 119.5, 122.6, 127.2, 128.6, 139.4, 140.4, 153.6, 164.8. MS(EI): m/z 251. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 76.32; % H,

6.92; %N, 16.76; expected: %C, 76.46; %H, 6.82; %N, 16.72. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 286 (14,500), 342 (3,600).



6-ethyl-2-(phenylamino)-5-(prop-1-en-2-yl)nicotinonitrile (Table 5.5, entry m): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), 2-methylhex-1-en-3-yne (94 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 $^{\circ}C$ in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (157 mg, 60%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 72-74 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.26-1.30 (3 H, t, 7.5 Hz CH₃), 2.00 (3 H, m, CH₃), 2.75-1.79 (2 H, q, 7.5 Hz, CH₂), 4.88-4.89 (1 H, m, CH), 5.22-5.23 (1 H, m, CH), 6.94 (1H, br, NH-aniline), 7.05-7.07 (1H, t, 7.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.32-7.35 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.48 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), 7.66-7.68 (2H, d, 10 Hz, CH-Ar), ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 13.1, 24.4, 28.9, 89.8, 116.7, 116.9, 119.8, 123.1, 128.8, 129.3, 139.1, 140.7, 142.1, 154.1, 164.0. MS(EI): *m/z* 263. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 77.47; % H, 6.58; %N, 15.95; expected: %C, 77.54; %H, 6.51; %N, 15.96. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 290 (20,700), 344 (4,400).



6-(3-((tert-butyldiphenylsilyl)oxy)propyl)-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile (Table 5.5, entry n): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), *tert*-butyldiphenyl((5-phenylpent-4-yn-1-yl)oxy)silane (398 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (345 mg, 61%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 90-92 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.15 (9H, s, Si-

CCH₃), 2.16-2.19 (2H, m, CH₂CH₂CH₂OTBDMS), 3.01-3.04 (2H, t, J=7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂OTBDMS), 3.81-3.84 (2H, t, J=6 Hz, CH₂CH₂CH₂OTBDMS), 7.19-7.22 (1H, t, 7.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.29 (1H, br, NH-aniline), 7.38-7.39 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.45-7.55 (12H, m, CH-Ar), 7.72 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), 7.75-7.76 (4H, m, CH-Ar), 7.84-7.86 (2H, d, 8.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 13 C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 19.0, 26.7, 31.2, 32.3, 63.3, 90.0, 116.5, 120.0, 123.0, 127.4, 127.5, 127.9, 128.4, 128.6, 129.0, 129.3, 133.7, 135.3, 135.4, 137.9, 138.9, 142.1, 154.1, 163.1. ²⁹Si NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): -4.39 OSi(Ph)₂C(CH₃)₃. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 78.22; % H, 6.64; %N, 7.32; expected: %C, 78.27; %H, 6.57; %N, 7.40. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ε , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 294 (15,000), 344 (3,300).



5-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-6-methyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile (Table 5.5, entry o): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(prop-1-yn-1-yl)cyclohex-1-ene (120 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol),

DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (159 mg, 55%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 127-129 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.70-1.73 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.78-1.81 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.19-2.21 (4 H, m, CH₂), 2.51 (3 H, s, CH₃), 5.65-5.66 (1 H, d, 1.5 Hz, CH), 7.02 (1H, br, NH-aniline), 7.10-7.11 (1H, t, 8 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.36-7.39 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.49 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), 7.71-7.72 (2H, d, 8.5 Hz, CH-Ar), $^{13}C{}^{1}H{}$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.7, 22.7, 23.3, 25.2, 29.7, 89.8, 116.6, 119.7, 122.8, 128.1, 128.6, 130.4, 135.2, 139.1, 140.8, 153.5, 159.8. MS(EI): *m/z* 289. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 78.94; % H, 6.56; %N, 14.50; expected: %C, 78.86; %H, 6.62; %N, 14.52. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 290 (19,000), 344 (3,900).



5,6-diphenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile (Table 5.5, entry p): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (62.6 mg, 0.2 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), 1,2-diphenylethyne (178 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 μ L, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After

completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (149 mg, 43%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 140-142 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 7.11-7.15 (4H, m, CH-Ar, NH-aniline), 7.25-7.31 (6H, m, CH-Ar), 7.36-7.39 (2H, t, 8 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.42-7.43 (2H, d, 7.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.75-7.76 (2H, d, 8 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.83 (H, s, 4-CH-pyridine). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 91.5, 116.5, 120.1, 123.4, 127.1, 127.3, 127.8, 128.5, 128.8, 128.9, 129.3, 130.0, 138.4, 138.8, 138.9, 143.9, 153.9, 159.3. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 82.82; % H, 5.00; %N, 12.18; expected: %C, 82.97; %H, 4.93; %N, 12.10. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 299 (37,900), 366 (8,800). Further characterized by X-ray diffraction studies.



5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile (Table 5.5, entry q): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.1 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), ethynylbenzene (102 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (137 μ L, 1.2 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon

screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (168 mg, 62%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 142-144 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 7.04 (1H, br, NH-aniline), 7.13-7.14 (1H, t, 1 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.36-7.39 (3H, m, CH-Ar), 7.43-7.49 (5H, m, CH-Ar), 7.60-7.62 (2H, d, 8.5Hz, CH-Ar), 7.97-7.98 (1H, d, 7 Hz, 4-CH-pyridine), 8.61-8.62 (1H, d, 7 Hz, 1-CH-pyridine). ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H{}$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 93.2, 116.3, 120.9, 124.0, 126.2, 127.7, 127.9, 129.0, 129.2, 136.0, 138.4, 139.6, 150.7, 155.0. MS(EI): m/z 271. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 79.77; % H, 4.77; %N, 15.55; expected: %C, 79.68; %H, 4.83; %N, 15.49. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 302 (25,500), 350 (4,300). Further characterized by X-ray diffraction studies.



5-(1-benzyl-1H-indol-3-yl)-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile (Table 5.5, entry r): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.1 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), 1-benzyl-3ethynyl-1H-indole (231 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (137 µL, 1.2 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (196 mg, 49%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 148-151 °C.¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 5.32 (2 H, s, CH₂), 7.04 (1H, br, NH-aniline), 7.09-7.112 (1H, t, 7 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.15-7.17 (2H, d, 7 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.20-7.38 (9H, m, CH-Ar), 7.60-7.62 (2H, d, 8 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.79-7.80 (1H, d, 7.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 8.01-8.02 (1H, d, 2.5 Hz, 4-CH-pyridine), 8.68-8.69 (1H, d, 2.5 Hz, 6-CH-pyridine). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 50.2, 93.3, 110.3, 112.0, 116.5, 119.2, 120.6, 122.7, 122.7, 123.7, 125.5, 125.9, 126.9, 127.9, 128.9, 129.1, 136.7, 136.9, 138.6, 139.7, 150.6, 153.9. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 80.86; % H, 5.10; %N, 14.04; expected: %C, 80.98; %H, 5.03; %N, 13.99. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 315 (13,300), 367 (1,900). Further characterized by X-ray diffraction studies.



5-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile (Table 5.5, entry s): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.1 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), 1-ethynylcyclohex-1ene (106 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (137 μ L, 1.2 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (154 mg, 56%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 110-112 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.61-1.66 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.74-1.79 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.17-2.20 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.28-2.31 (2 H, m, CH₂), 6.04-6.06 (1 H, d, 1.5 Hz, CH), 6.97 (1H, br, NH-aniline), 7.08-7.11 (1H, t, 8 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.33-7.36 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.55-7.57 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.75-7.76 (1H, d, 2 Hz, 4-CH-pyridine), 8.39-8.40 (1H, d, 2 Hz, 6-CH-pyridine). ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H{}$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.7, 22.6, 25.7, 26.8, 92.7, 116.5, 120.6, 123.8, 125.4, 129.0, 129.1, 131.9, 137.8, 138.6, 148.8, 154.4. MS(EI): *m/z* 275. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 78.37; % H, 6.29; %N, 15.34; expected: %C, 78.52; %H, 6.22; %N, 15.26. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 302 (13,700), 359 (2,100). Further characterized by X-ray diffraction studies.



5-(4-(benzyloxy)phenyl)-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile (Table 5.5, entry t): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.1 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(benzyloxy)-4-ethynylbenzene (208 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (137 μ L, 1.2 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to

afford the desired compound (248 mg, 66%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 132-135 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 5.01 (2 H, s, CH₂), 6.99 (1H, br, NH-aniline), 7.04-7.06 (2H, dd , 2.5 Hz and 5.5 Hz CH-Ar), 7.10-7.13 (1H, t, 8 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.32-7.45 (8H, m, CH-Ar), 7.58-7.60 (2H, dd , 2.5 Hz and 5.5 Hz CH-Ar), 7.91-7.92 (1H, d, 2.5 Hz, 4-CH-pyridine), 8.56-8.57 (1H, d, 2.5 Hz, 6-CH-pyridine). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 70.1, 93.2, 115.6, 116.4, 120.7, 123.9, 127.42, 127.44, 127.5, 128.1, 128.6, 128.7, 129.1, 136.6, 138.5, 139.2, 150.3, 154.6, 158.7. MS(EI): *m/z* 377. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 79.47; % H, 5.13; %N, 11.08; expected: %C, 79.55; %H, 5.07; %N, 11.13. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 306 (11,600), 353 (1,600).



2-(phenylamino)-5-(p-tolyl)nicotinonitrile (Table 5.5, entry u): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst **2** (30.8 mg, 0.1 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (93 mg, 1 mmol), 1-ethynyl-4-methylbenzene (116 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (137 μ L, 1.2 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C

in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (165 mg, 58%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 137-139 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.38 (3 H, s, CH₃), 7.01 (1H, br, NH-aniline), 7.10-7.13 (1H, t, 7.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.25-7.26 (2H, d, 7.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.35-7.38 (3H, m, CH-Ar), 7.59-7.61 (2H, dd, 1 Hz and 3 Hz CH-Ar), 7.95-7.96 (1H, d, 3 Hz, 4-CH-pyridine), 8.59-8.60 (1H, d, 3 Hz, 6-CH-pyridine). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.1, 93.2, 116.4, 120.8, 123.9, 126.0, 127.7, 129.0, 129.9, 133.1, 138.5, 139.4, 150.5, 154.8. MS(EI): *m/z* 285. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 79.91; % H, 5.34; %N, 14.75; expected: %C, 79.98; %H, 5.30; %N, 14.73. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 305 (25,200), 354 (2,400).

Preparation and Characterization of Compounds in Table 5.7



2-(tert-butylamino)-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (Table 5.7, entry v): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 1 (32.4 mg, 0.1 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), ethynylbenzene (102 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (137 µL, 1.2 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (145 mg, 58%) as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.43 (9 H, s, C(CH₃)₃), 5.43 (1H, br, NH-2-methylpropan-2-amine), 7.25-7.27 (1H, m, CH-Ar), 7.31-7.36 (4H, m, CH-Ar), 7.00-7.01 (1H, d, 2 Hz, 4-CH-pyridine), 8.40-8.41 (1H, d, 2 Hz, 6-CH-pyridine). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 28.9, 52.5, 91.7, 117.1, 124.6, 125.9, 127.3, 129.0, 136.6, 139.1, 150.4, 157.2. MS(EI): m/z 251. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 76.48; % H, 6.76; %N, 16.76; expected: %C, 76.46; %H, 6.82; %N, 16.72. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ, nm (ε, M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 284 (21,800), 352 (4,200).



2-(tert-butylamino)-5-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)nicotinonitrile (Table 5.7, entry w): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 1 (32.4 mg, 0.1 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), 1ethynylcyclohex-1-ene (106 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (137 µL, 1.2 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (135 mg, 53%) as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.46 (9 H, s, C(CH₃)₃), 1.60-1.63 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.71-1.74 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.13-2.16 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.24-2.26 (2 H, m, CH₂), 4.95 (1H, br, NH-2-methylpropan-2-amine), 5.95 (1 H, m, CH), 7.57-7.58 (1H, d, 2.5 Hz, 4-CH-pyridine), 8.28-8.29 (1H, d, 2.5 Hz, 6-CH-pyridine), ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.8, 22.7, 25.6, 26.8, 29.1, 52.4, 91.2, 117.5, 123.9, 126.1,

132.3, 137.2, 148.8, 157.0. MS(EI): *m/z* 255. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 75.24; % H, 8.21; %N, 16.55; expected: %C, 75.26; %H, 8.29; %N, 16.46. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ, nm (ε, M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 280 (20,300), 344 (3,900).



6-Methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinic acid: 6-Methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino) nicotinonitrile (0.17 mmol) was added to a 50% aqueous sulfuric acid solution (2 mL). The resulting solution was refluxed in a silicone oil bath for 48 h. The reaction mixture was cooled to room temperature, diluted with CH₂Cl₂, and neutralized with saturated NaHCO₃ solution. The organic layer was washed with water, dried over Na₂SO₄, and concentrated on a rotary evaporator. The crude product was purified by recrystallized from CH₂Cl₂ and hexane (1 : 1) solvent mixture. (47.4 mg, 88.5%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 154-157 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.47 (3 H, s, CH₃), 6.99-7.02 (H, t, 7.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.28-7.41 (8H, m, CH-Ar, NH-aniline), 7.75-7.76 (2H, d, 8 Hz, CH-Ar), 8.15 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), 10.12 (H, br, COOH). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 23.8, 120.3, 122.5, 127.1, 127.3, 128.4, 128.7, 129.1, 129.2, 139.2, 139.9, 142.1, 154.5, 161.0, 172.2. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 74.92; % H, 5.35; %N, 9.24; expected: %C, 74.98; %H, 5.30; %N, 9.20.



1-(tert-butyl)-2-imino-4-methyl-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carbonitrile: In a N2 filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (95 mg, 1 mmol), 1phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), triethylamine (280 μ L, 2 mmol) in methanol (1.5 mL) and water (0.5 mL) solvent mixture. The mixture was stirred for 5 h at 0 °C. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (167 mg, 63%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 120-122 °C. MS(EI): m/z 265. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.72 (3 H, s, C(CH₃)₃), 2.15 (3 H, s, CH₃), 7.14 (H, br, NH), 7.15-7.16 (H, d, 1.5 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.32-7.33 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.35-7.37 (3H, m, CH-Ar), ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 19.4, 27.8, 63.0, 104.0, 116.7, 117.5, 127.5, 128.6, 129.4, 136.4, 137.8, 152.8, 155.8. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 77.04; % H, 7.17; %N, 15.79; expected: %C, 76.95; %H, 7.22; %N, 15.84. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ, nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 278 (14,400), 402 (5,100). MS(EI): *m/z* 265.



5-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-((3,5-dimethylphenyl)amino)-6-methylnicotinonitrile: In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 3,5-dimethylaniline (121 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(prop-1-yn-1-yl)cyclohex-1-ene (120 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), DBU (76 mg, 0.5 mmol), molecular sieves (200 mg), in absolute ethanol (2 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (161 mg, 51%) as a yellow brown solid. M.p.: 98-100 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.64-1.68 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.71-1.76 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.11-2.16 (4 H, m, CH₂), 2.31 (6 H, s, CH₃), 2.44 (3 H, s, CH₃), 5.59-6.0 (1 H, d, 1.5 Hz, CH), 6.71 (1H, br, NH-3,5-dimethylaniline), 6.79 (1H, s, CH-Ar), 7.27 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.43 (1H, s, 4-CH-pyridine), ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.4, 21.8, 22.8, 23.4, 25.3, 29.8, 89.8, 116.8, 117.6, 124.9, 128.1, 130.3, 135.3, 138.4, 138.9, 140.8, 153.7, 160.0. MS(EI): m/z 317. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 79.50; % H, 7.32; %N, 13.18; expected: %C, 79.46; %H, 7.30; %N, 13.24



1-(tert-butyl)-2-imino-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carbonitrile: In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 1 (32.4 mg, 0.1 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with cyclohexylamine (95 mg, 1 mmol), ethynylbenzene (102 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (137 µL, 1.2 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. The pressure tube was cooled to room temperature, Then, the tube was charged with malononitrile (132 mg, 2 mmol), triethylamine (280 µL, 2 mmol) in methanol (1.5 mL) and water (0.5 mL) solvent mixture. The mixture was stirred for 5 h at 0 °C. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (130 mg, 52%) as a vellow brown solid. M.p.: 94-96 °C. MS(EI): m/z 251. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.81 (9 H, s, C(CH₃)₃), 7.29-7.34 (3H, m, CH-Ar, NH), 7.40-7.44 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.47-7.48 (1H, m, CH-Ar), 7.56 (1H, s 4-CH-pyridine), 7.76 (1H, s, 6-CH-pyridine). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 27.7, 63.9, 105.1, 114.8, 116.8, 124.9, 127.1, 129.1, 136.0, 137.6, 141.7, 155.3. Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 76.47; % H, 6.86; %N, 16.67; expected: %C, 76.46; %H, 6.82; %N, 16.72. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 272 (12,800), 398 (4,600). MS(EI): *m/z* 251.

Convertion of 1-(*tert*-butyl)-2-imino-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carbonitrile to 2-(*tert*-butylamino)-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (Table 5.8, entry 2)

1-(*tert*-butyl)-2-imino-5-phenyl-1,2-dihydropyridine-3-carbonitrile (**2b**) (60 mg, 0.24 mmol) was dissolved in 1 mL of absolute ethanol in a pressure tube equipped with a magnetic stirbar. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (32 mg, 0.48 mmol), DBU (18 mg, 0.24 mmol), molecular sieves (50 mg), in absolute ethanol (1 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 $^{\circ}$ C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound 2-(*tert*-butylamino)-5-phenylnicotinonitrile (**2a**) (51 mg, 86%) as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.43 (9 H, s, C(CH₃)₃), 5.43 (1H, br, NH-2-methylpropan-2-amine), 7.25-7.27 (1H, m, CH-Ar), 7.31-7.36 (4H, m, CH-Ar), 7.00-7.01 (1H, d, 2 Hz, 4-CH-pyridine), 8.40-8.41 (1H, d, 2 Hz, 6-CH-pyridine). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 28.9, 52.5, 91.7, 117.1, 124.6, 125.9, 127.3, 129.0, 136.6, 139.1, 150.4, 157.2. MS(EI): *m/z* 251.

Reaction scaleing up of 6-methyl-5-phenyl-2-(phenylamino)nicotinonitrile

In a N₂ filled glove box, a 250 mL Schlenk flask, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (616 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (40 mL) was loaded with aniline (1.9 g, 20 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (2.32 g, 20 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (5.13 mL, 30 mmol). The Schlenk flask was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 $^\circ$ C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature. Then, the pressure tube was charged with malononitrile (5.28 mg, 40 mmol), DBU (1.52 g, 10 mmol), molecular sieves (4 g), in absolute ethanol (40 mL). The mixture was heated for 2 h at 80 °C in a silicone oil bath. After completion of the reaction, the crude product was purified by flash column chromatography over silica gel with 9:1 hexanes to ethyl acetate to afford the desired compound (3.7 g, 66%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 119-121 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.53 (3 H, s, CH₃), 7.14-7.17 (2H, br, CH-Ar, NH-aniline), 7.32-7.34 (2H, d, 8 Hz, CH-Ar), 7.40-7.45 (3H, m, CH-Ar), 7.47-7.51 (2H, m, CH-Ar), 7.66 (1H, s, 4-CHpyridine), 7.76-7.78 (2H, d, 8.5 Hz, CH-Ar). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 23.9, 90.3, 116.5, 119.9, 123.2, 127.5, 127.9, 128.4, 128.7, 128.9, 138.0, 138.9, 141.9, 153.9, 159.9. MS(EI): m/z 285. Electronic absorption (CH₂Cl₂) λ , nm (ϵ , M⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 294 (24,800), 342 (1,100).

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- 1. (a) Abe, Y.; Kayakiri, H.; Satoh, S.; Inoue, T.; Sawada, Y.; Inamura, N.; Asano, M.; Aramori, I.; Hatori, C.; Sawai, H.; Oku, T.; Tanaka, H. J. Med. Chem. 1998, 41, 4062. (b) Song, Z. S.; Zhao, M.; Desmond, R.; Devine, P.; Tschaen, D. M.; Tillyer, R.; Frey, L.; Heid, R.; Xu, F.; Foster, B.; Li, J.; Reamer, R.; Volante, R.; Grabowski, E. J.; Dolling, U. H.; Reider, P. J. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 9658. (c) Li, A. H.; Moro, S.; Forsyth, N.; Melman, N.; Ji, X. D.; Jacobsen, K. A. J. Med. Chem. 1999, 42, 706. (d) Vacher, B.; Bonnaud, B.; Funes, P.; Jubault, N.; Koek, W.; Assie, M. B.; Cosi, C.; Kleven, M. J. Med. Chem. 1999, 42, 1648. (e) Zhang, Y.; Pavlova, O. A.; Chefer, S. I.; Hall, A. W.; Kurian, V.; Brown, L. L.; Kimes, A. S.; Mukhin, A. G.; Horti, A. G. J. Med. Chem. 2004, 47, 2453. (f) Chang, C. S.; Lin, Y. T.; Shih, S. R.; Lee, C. C.; Lee, Y. C.; Tai, C. L.; Tseng, S. N.; Chern, J. H. J. Med. Chem. 2005, 48, 3522. (g) Winter, A.; Risch, N. Synthesis 2003, 2667. (h) Henry, G. D. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 6043. (i) Movassaghi, M.; Hill, M. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 4592. (j) Suzuki, H.; Sakai, N.; Iwahara, R.; Fujiwaka, T.; Satoh, M.; Kakehi, A.; Konakahara, T. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 5878. (k) Trost, B. M.; Gutierrez, A. C. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 1473. (1) Hajbi, Y.; Suzenet, F.; Khouili, M.; Lazar, S.; Guillaumet, G. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 8286. (m) Sellin, L. C. Med. Biol. **1981**, 59, 11. (n) Davidson, M.; Zemishlany, J. H.; Mohs, R. C. Biol. Psychiatry **1988**, 23, 485. (o) Schwid, S. R.; Petrie, M. D.; McDermott, M. P.; Tierney, D. S.; Mason, D. H.; Goodman, A. D. Neurology 1997, 48, 817. (p) Cacchi, S.; Carangio, A.; Fabrizi, G.; Moro, L.; Pace, P. Synlett 1997, 1400. (q) Manna, F.; Chimenti, F.; Bolasco, A.; Bizzarri, B.; Filippelli, W.; Filippelli, A.; Gagliardi, L. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 1999, 34, 245. (r) Segal, J. L.; Warner, A. L.; Brunnemann, S. R.; Bunten, D. C. Am. J. Ther. 2002, 9, 29.
- 2. a) Bhat, S. I.; Choudhuryb, A. R.; Trivedi, R. D. RSC Advances, 2012, 2, 10556. b) Bharathia, Y. S.; Apparaob, A.; Naidua, S. V. *Heterocyclic Letters*, **2011**, 1 (2), 146. c) Chang, L. C. W.; Von Frijtag Drabbe Künzel, J. K.; Mulder-Krieger, T.; Westerhout, J.; Spangenberg, T.; Brussee, J.; Ijzerman, A. P. J. Med. Chem. 2007, 50, 828. d) Drabu, S.; Archna; Singh, S.; Munirajam, S.; Kumar, N. Indian J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2007, 16, 411. e) Victory, P.; Cirujeda, J.; Anton Vidal-Ferran, A. Tetrahedron, 1995, 51, 10253. f) Vasiliev, A. N.; Kayukov, Y. S.; Lyshchikov, A. N.; Nasakin, O. E.; Kayukov, O. V. Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. 2003, 39, 1182. g) Oganisyan, A. S.; Noravyan, A. S.; Grigoryan, M. Z. Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. 2004, 40, 75. h) Aly, A. A. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem. 2006, 181, 2395. i) Schwid, S. R.; Petrie, M. D.; McDermott, M. P.; Tierney, D. S.; Mason, D. H.; Goodman, A. D. Neurology, **1997**, 48, 817. j) Sellin, L. C. Med. Biol., 1981, 59, 11. k) Davidson, M.; Zemishlany, J. H.; Mohs, R. C. Biol. *Psychiatry*, **1988**, 23, 485. 1) Segal, J. L.; Warner, A. L.; Brunnemann, S. R.; Bunten, D. C. Am. J. Ther, 2002, 9, 29. m) Manna, F.; Chimenti, F.; Bolasco, A.; Bizzarri, B.; Filippelli, W.; Filippelli, A.; Gagliardi, L. Eur. J. Med. Chem, 1999, 34, 245. n) Kempte, R.; Brenner, S.; Arndt, P. Organometallics, 1996, 15, 1071. o) Fuhrmann, H.; Brenner, S.; Arndt, P.; Kempe, R.; Inorg. Chem., 1996, 35, 6742. p) Viciu, M. S.; Kelly, R. A.; Stevens, E. D.; Naud, F.; Studer, M.; Nolan, S. P. Org. Lett, 2003, 5, 1479. q) Basu, B.; Mridha, N. K.; Bhuiyan, M. H. Tetrahedron Lett, 2002, 43, 7967. r) Brenner, E.;

Schneider, R.; Fort, Y. *Tetrahedron*, 1999, 55, 12829. s) Thomas, S.; Roberts, S.;
Pasumansky, L.; Gamsey, S.; Singaram, B. *Org. Lett*, 2003, 5, 3867. t) Henke, B. R.;
Drewry, D. H.; Jones, S.A.; Stewart, E. L.; Weaver, S. L.; Wiethe, R. W.; *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett*, 2001, 11, 1939. u) Hashimoto, S.; Otani, S.; Okamoto. T.; Matsumoto, K. *Heterocycles*, 1988, 27, 319. v) Kotsuki, H.; Sakai, H.; Shinohara, T. *Synlett*, 2000, 116.
w) Perron-Sierra, F.; Dizier, S. D.; Bertrand, M.; Genton, A.; Tucker, G. C.; Casara, P. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 2002, 12, 3291. x) Wagaw, S.; Buchwald, S. L. *J. Org. Chem.*, 1996, 61, 7240. y) Stauffer, S. R.; S. Lee, S.; Stambuli, J. P.; Hauck, S. I.; Hartwig, J. F. *Org. Lett*, 2000, 2, 1423. z) Urgaonkar, S.; Nagarajan. M.; Verkade, J. G. *Org. Lett*, 2003, 5, 815.

- 3.(a) Sakurai, A.; Midorikawa, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1968, 41, 430. (b) Kambe, S.; Saito, K. A Synthesis 1980, 366. (c) Shi, F.; Tu, S.; Fang, F.; Li, T. Arkivoc 2005, (i), 137. (d) Shintani, T.; Kadono, H.; Kikuchi, T.; Schubert, T.; Shogase, Y.; Shimazaki, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 6567. (e) Sharma, U.; Ahmed, S.; Boruah, R. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 3493. (f) Farhanullah, F.; Agarwal, N.; Goel, A.; Ram, V. J. J. Org. Chem. **2003**, *68*, 2983. (g) Shishoo, C. J.; Devani, M. B.; Bhadti, V. S.; Ananthan, S.; Ullas, G. V. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 4611. (h) Hosmane, R. S.; Lim, B. B.; Summers, M. F. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 5309. (i) Ouintela, J. M.; Peinador, C.; Botana, L.; Este'vez, M.; Riguera, R. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 1997, 5, 1543. (j) Kumar, N.; Singh, G.; Yadav, A. K. Heteroat. Chem. 2001, 12, 52. (k) Vasiliev, A. N.; Kayukov, Y. S.; Lyshchikov, A. N.; Nasakin, O. E.; Kayukov, O. V. Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. 2003, 39, 1182. (1) Oganisyan, A. S.; Noravyan, A. S.; Grigoryan, M. Z. Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. 2004, 40, 75. (m) Khatoon, S.; Yadav, A. K. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem. 2004, 179, 345. (n) Ravikanth, S.; Venkat Reddy, G.; Maitraie, D.; Rama Rao, V.; Shanthan Rao, P.; Narsaiah, B. Synth. Commun. 2004, 34, 4463. (i) Aly, A. A. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem. 2006, 181, 2395.
- 4.Baldwin, J. J.; Engelhardt, E. L.; Hirschmann, R.; Ponticello, G. S.; Atkinson, J. G.; Wasson, B. K.; Sweet, C. S.; Scriabine, A. J. Med. Chem. 1980, 23, 65.
- Murata, T.; Shimada, M.; Sakakibara, S.; Yoshino, T.; Kadono, H.; Masuda, T.; Shimazaki, M.; Shintani, T.; Fuchikami, K.; Sakai, K.; Inbe, H.; Takeshita, K.; Niki, T.; Umeda, M.;K. Bacon, K. B.; Ziegelbauer, K. B.; Lowinger, T. B. *Bioorg. Med Chem. Lett*, 2003, 13, 913.
- 6.a) Sakurai, A.; Midorikawa, H. *Bull Chem Soc Japan*, **1968**, 41, 430. b) Moussa, H. H.; Chabaka, L. M.; Zaki, D. *Egypt J. Chem.* **1983**, 26, 469.
- 7.a) Hammam, A. G.; EI-Hafez, N. A. A.; Midura, W. H.; Mikolajczyk, *M.; Naturforch,Z. Chem Sci*, 2000, 55, 417. b) Koeckkrtiz, P.; Ruhmann, C.; Fieblinger, D.; Schrodeder, C. D.; Joksch, B. V.; Heider, H.; Weither, B. *Chem Abstr*, 1993, 118, 191550.
- 8. Schubert, J.; Wild, J.; Harreus, A.; Kuckenhoeher, T.; Sauter, H.; Ammermann, E.; Lorenz, B. A. G. *Chem Abstr.* **1991**,114, 101740.
- 9. Monna, F.; Chimenti, F.; Balsco, A.; Bizzari, B.; Filippelli, W.; Fillippelli, A.; Gagliardi,

L. Eur J Med Chem. 1999, 34, 245.

10. Kunz, W.; Nebel, K.; Wenger, J. Chem Abstr. 1999, 131, 286532.

- (a) Abdel-Aziz, Alaa A.-M.; El-Subbagh, H. I.; Kunieda, T. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2005, *16*, 4929. (b) Baldwin, J. J.; Engelhardt, E. L.; Hirschmann, R.; Ponticello, G. S.; Atkinson, J. G.; Wasson, B. K.; Sweet, C. S.; Scriabine, A. *J. Med. Chem.* 1980, *23*, 65. (c) Hagen, V.; Hagen, A.; Heer, S.; Mitzner, R.; Niedrich, H. *Pharmazie*, 1989, *44*, 20. (d) Manna, F.; Chimenti, F.; Bolasco, A.; Filippelli, A.; Palla, A.; Filippelli, W.; Lampa, E.; Mercantini, R. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 1992, *27*, 627. (e) Murata, T.; Shimada, M.; Sakakibara, S.; Yoshino, T.; Kadono, H.; Masuda, T.; Shimazaki, M.; Shintani, T.; Fuchikami, K.; Sakai, K.; Inbe, H.; Takeshita, K.; Niki, T.; Umeda, M.; Bacon, K. B.; Ziegelbauer, K. B.; Lowinger, T. B. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2003, *13*, 913. (f) F.Manna, F.; Chimenti, F.; Bolasco, A.; Filippelli, A.; Palla, A.; Filippelli, W.; Lampa F.; Mercantini, R.; Manna, F.; Chimenti, F.; Bolasco, A.; Filippelli, A.; Palla, A.; Filippelli, W.; Lampa F.; Mercantini, R.; Manna, F.; Chimenti, F.; Bolasco, A.; Filippelli, A.; Palla, A.; Filippelli, W.; Lampa F.; Mercantini, R.; Manna, F.; Chimenti, F.; Bolasco, A.; Filippelli, A.; Palla, A.; Filippelli, W.; Lampa F.; Mercantini, R.; Manna, F.; Chimenti, F.; Bolasco, A.; Filippelli, A.; Palla, A.; Filippelli, W.; Lampa F.; Mercantini, R.; Manna, F.; Chimenti, F.; Bolasco, A.; Filippelli, A.; Palla, A.; Filippelli, W.; Lampa F.; Mercantini, R.; Manna, F.; Chimenti, F.; Bolasco, A.; Filippelli, A.; Palla, A.; Filippelli, W.; Lampa F.; Mercantini, R.; Mercantini, R. *Eur. J. Med. Chem*, 1992, 27 (6), 627.
- 12. Mantel, M. L. H.; Lindhardt, A. T.; Lupp, D.; Skrydstrup, T. Chem. Euro. J. 2010, 16 (18), 5437.
- a) Ru, E.; Hummel, A.; Mereiter, K.; Schmid, R.; Kirchner, K. Organometallics, 2002, 21, 4955. b) Gosavi, T.; Wagner, C.; Merzweiler, K.; Schmidt, H.; Steinborn, D. Organometallics, 2005, 24, 533. c) Romain, C.; Gaillard, S.; Mohammed, K.; Elmkaddem, K.; Toupet, L.; Fischmeister, C.; Thomas, C. M.; Renaud, J. L. Organometallics, 2010, 29, 1992. (d) Kempte, R.; Brenner, S.; Arndt, P. Organometallics, 1996, 15, 1071. (e) Fuhrmann, H.; Brenner, S.; Arndt, P.; Kempe, R. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 6742.
- 14. a) Gedye, R.; Smith, F.; Westaway, K.; Ali, H.; Baldisera, L. Tetrahedron Lett, 1986, 27, 279. b) Abramovitch, R. A. Org. Prep. Proced. Int, 1991, 23, 685. c) Kappe, C. O. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed, 2004, 43, 6250. d) A.; Kumar, S.; Sandhu, J. S. Indian J. Chem, **2004**, 43B, 2482. e) Kumar, S.; Saini, A.; Sandhu, J. S.; *Indian J. Chem*, **2005**, 44B, 762. f) Gohain, M.; Prajapati, D.; Sandhu, J. S. Synlett, 2004, 235. g) Hazarkhani, H.; Karimi, B. Synthesis, 2004, 1239. h) Saxena, I.; Borah, D. C.; Sarma, J. C. Tetrahedron Lett., 2005, 46, 1159. i) Aghayan, M. M.; Bolourtchian, M.; Hosseini, M. Synth. Commun., **2004**, 34, 3335. (2004). j) Pasha, M. A.; Swamy, N. R.; Jayashankara, V. P. Indian J. Chem, 2005, 44B, 823. (2005). k) Pasha, M. A.; Puttaramegowda, J. V. Heterocyclic Commun., 2006, 12, 61. (2006). I) Wang, X.; Quan, Z.; Wang, F.; Wang, M.; Zhang, Z.; Li, Z. Synth. Commun., 2006, 36, 451. m) Rodriguez, R.; Bolm, C. J. Org. Chem., 2006, 71, 2888. n) Salehi, H.; Guo, Q. X. Synth. Commun., 2004, 34, 4349. o) Li, D.; Bao, H.; You, T. Heterocycles, 2005, 65, 1957. p) Yadav, L. D. S.; Kapoor, R. Synlett., 2005, 3055. q) Devi, I.; Bhuyan, P. J. Synlett, **2004**, 283. r) Dandia, A.; Singh, R.; Sarawgi, P. Org. Prep. Proced. Int., 2005, 37, 397. s) Tu, S.; Fang, F.; Li, T.; Zhu, S.; Zhang, X. J. Heterocyclic Chem., 2005, 42, 707. t) Zanobini, A.; Brandi, A.; de Meijere, A. Eur. J. Org. Chem., 2006, 1251. u) Shi, L.; Tu, Y. Q.; Wang, M.; Zhang, F. M.; Fan, C. A. Org. Lett., 2004, 6, 1001. v) Kidwai, M.; Saxena, S.; Mohan, R. J. Heterocyclic Chem., 2005, 42, 703. w) Kabachnik, M. M.; Zobnina, E. V.; Beletskaya, I. P.; Synlett, 2005, 1393. x)

Kidwai, M.; Mothsra, P.; Mohan, R.; Biswas, S. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 2005, 15, 915.
y) Sivamurugan, V.; Kumar, R. S.; Palanichamy, M.; Murugesan V. *J. Heterocyclic Chem.*, 2005, 42, 969. z) Hu, Y.; Wei, P.; Huang, H.; Han, S. Q.; Ouyang, P. K. *Heterocycles*, 2006, 375.

- a) Zonouzi, A.; Izakian, Z.; Ng, S. W. *Heterocycles*. **2012**, 85 (11), 2713. b) Han, Z. G.;
 Miao, C. B.; Shi, F.; Ma, N.; Zhang, G.; Tu, S. J. *J. Comb. Chem.* **2010**, *12*, 16. c) Tu, S.;
 Bo Jiang, B.; Zhang, Y.; Jia, R.; Zhang, J.; Yao, C.; Shi, *F.Org. Biomol. Chem*, **2007**, 5, 355.
- 16. (a) Zhu J.; Bienayme, H. Multicomponent Reactions, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2005. (b) Domling, A. Chem. Rev., 2006, 106, 17. (c) Domling, A.; Ugi, I. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2000, 39, 3168. (d) Tietze, L. F.; Brasche, G.; Gericke, K. M. Domino Reactions in Organic Synthesis, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2006. (e) Tietze, L. F.; Beifuss, U. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl., 1993, 32, 131. (f) Tietze, L. F. Chem. Rev., 1996, 96, 115. (g) Arya, P.; Chou, D. T. H.; Baek, M. G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2001, 40, 339. (h) Burke, M. D.; Berge, E. M.; Schreiber, S. L. Science, 2003, 302, 613. (i) Cox, B.; Denyer, J. C.; Binnie, A.; Donnelly, M. C.; Evans, B.; Green, D. V. S.; Lewis, J. A.; Mander, T. H.; Merritt, A. T.; Valler, M. J.; Watson, S. P. Prog. Med. Chem., 2000, 37, 83. (j) Schreiber, S. L. Science, 2000, 287, 1964. (k) Schreiber, S. L.; Burke, M. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 46. (1) Armstrong, R. W.; Combs, A. P.; Tempest, P. A.; Brown, S. D.; Keating, T. A. Acc. Chem. Res. 1996, 29, 123. (m) Bienayme, H.; Hulme, C.; Oddon, G.; Schmitt, P. Chem. Eur. J., 2000, 6, 3321. (n) Posner, G. H. Chem. Rev., 1986, 86, 831. (o) Weber, L.; Illgen, K.; Almstetter, M. Synlett, 1999, 366. (p) Zhu, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 1133. (q) Kobayashi, S. Chem. Soc. Rev., 1999, 28, 1. (r) Zeni G.; Larock, R. C. Chem. *Rev.*, 2004, 104, 2285. (s) Nakamura, I.; Yamamoto, Y. *Chem. Rev.* 2004, 104, 2127. (t) Lie, J. J.; Gribble, G. W. Palladium in Heterocyclic Chemistry, Pergamon Press, New York, 2000. (u) Kirsch, G.; Hesse, S.; Comel, A. Curr. Org. Synth., 2004, 1, 47. (v) Battistuzzi, G.; Cacchi, S.; Fabrizi, G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 2671.
- 17. a) Wan, Y.; Yuan, R.; Zhang, F. R.; Pang, L. L.; Ma, R.; Yue, C. H.; Lin, W.; Yin, W.; Bo, R. C.; Wu, H. *Synthetic Communications*, **2011**, 41, 2997. (b) Khaksar, S.; Yaghoobi, M. *Journal of Fluorine Chemistry*, **2012**, 142, 41. (c) Tang, J.; Wang, L.; Yao, Y.; Zhang, L.; Wang, W. *Tetrahedron Letters*, **2011**, 52, 509. (d) Shi, F.; Tu, S.; Fang, F.; Li, T. *ARKIVOC*, **2005**, 1, 137.
- Zhang, M.; Xiong, B.; Wang, T.; Wang, X.; Yan, F.; Ding, Y. *Heterocycles*. 2012, 85 (6), 1393.
- 19. Farhanullah. Agarwal, N.; Goel, A.; Ram, V. J. J. Org. Chem., 2003, 68 (7), 2983.
- 20. Jiang, B.; Chao Li, C.; Tu, S. J.; Shi, F. J. Comb. Chem. 2010, 12, 482.
- 21. Cao, C.; Shi, Y.; Odom, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 2880.
- 22. (a) Timofeev, E. N.; Mikhailov, S. N.; Zuev, A. N.; Efimtseva, E. V.; Herdewijn, P.; Somers, R. L.; Lemaitre, M. M., *Helv. Chim. Acta*, **2007**, *90*, 928. (b) Geide, I. V.; Glukhareva, T. V.; Matern, A. I.; Morzherin, Y. Y., *Chem. Heterocycl. Compd.*, **2006**,
42, 121. (c) Glasnov, T. N.; Vugts, D. J.; Koningstein, M. M.; Desai, B.; Fabian, W. M. F.; Orru, R. V. A.; Kappe, C. O., *QSAR & Comb. Sci.*, 2005, 25, 509. (d) Nagamatsu, T.; Ahmed, S., *Heterocycles*, **2005**, *65*, 2683. (e) Subbotina, J. O.; Fabian, W. M. F.; Tarasov, E. V.; Volkova, N. N.; Bakulev, V. A., Eur. J. Org. Chem., 2005, 2914. (f) Morzerin, Y. Y.; Pospelova, T. A.; Gluhareva, T. V.; Matern, A. I., ARKIVOC, 2004, (xi), 31. (g) Atanassov, P. K.; Linden, A.; Heimgartner, H., Helv. Chim. Acta, 2004, 87, 1873. (h) Rozhkov, V. Yu.; Batog, L. V.; Shevtsova, E. K.; Struchkova, M. I., Mendeleev Commun., 2004, 76. (i) Nair, V.; Mathen, J. S.; Vinod, A. U.; Varma, R. L., Chem. Lett., **2001**, 738. (j) Sangapure, S. S.; Mulagi, S. M., Indian J. Heterocycl. Chem., **2000**, 10, 27. (k) El Ashry, E. S. H.; El Kilany, Y.; Rashed, N.; Assafir, H., Adv. Heterocycl. Chem., **1999**, 75, 79. (1) Danagulyan, G. G., Chem. Heterocycl. Compd., **1999**, 35, 378. (m) Loakes, D.; Brown, D. M.; Salisbury, S. A., J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I, 1999, 1333. (n) Nandeeshaiah, S. K.; Ambekar, S. Y., Indian J. Chem., Sect. B, 1998, 37B, 995. (o) El Ashry, E. S. H.; El Kilany, Y.; Rashed, N.; Mousaad, A.; Assafir, H., Z. Naturforsch., **1998**, 53B, 1203. (p) Barlow, T.; Takeshita, J.; Dipple, A., Chem. Res. Toxicol., **1998**, 11, 838. (q) Fleming, P. E.; Daikh, B. E.; Finke, R. G., J. Inorg. Biochem., 1998, 69, 45. (r) Pagano, A. R.; Zhao, H.; Shallop, A.; Jones, R. A., J. Org. Chem., 1998, 63, 3213. (s) Fujii, T.; Itaya, T., *Heterocycles*, **1998**, *48*, 359. (t) Itaya, T.; Ito, N.; Kanai, T.; Fujii, T., Chem. Pharm. Bull., 1997, 45, 832. (u) Belik, A. V.; Igoshina, E. V., Zh. Org. Khim., 1996, 32, 1742. (v) Deng, H. F.; Jiang, Y. Z.; Zhao, Z. Z., Chinese Chem. Lett., 1994, 5, 271. (w) Fujii, T.; Saito, T.; Ii, R.; Suzuki, T., Chem. Pharm. Bull., 1994, 42, 382. (x) Danagulyan, G. G.; Saakyan, L. G.; Panosyan, G. A.; Bulakhov, G. A.; Terentyev, P. B.; Zalinyan, M. G., Khim. Geterotsiklicheskikh Soedinenii, 1993, 1545. (y) Stevens, M. F. G.; Chui, W. K.; Castro, M. A., J. Heterocycl. Chem., 1993, 30, 849. (z) Saito, T.; Kanai, T.; Fujii, T., Chem. Pharm. Bull., 1993, 41, 1850.

23. (a) Morzerin, Y. Y.; Pospelova, T. A.; Gluhareva, T. V.; Matern, A. I., ARKIVOC, 2004, 31. (b) Florea-Wang, D.; Haapala, E.; Mattinen, J.; Hakala, K.; Vilpo, J.; Hovinen, J., Chem. Res. Toxicol., 2003, 16, 403. (c) Kanuri, M.; Nechev, L. V.; Tamura, P. J.; Harris, C. M.; Harris, T. M.; Lloyd, R. S., Chem. Res. Toxicol., 2002, 15, 1572. (d) Munter, T.; Cottrell, L.; Hill, S.; Kronberg, L.; Watson, W. P.; Golding, B. T., Chem. Res. Toxicol., **2002**, 15, 1549. (e) Ostrowski, S., Polish J. Chem., **2001**, 75, 1661. (f) Veldhuyzen, W. F.; Shallop, A. J.; Jones, R. A.; Rokita, S. E., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2001, 123, 11126. (g) Sibor, J.; Pazdera, P., Chem. Papers, 2000, 54, 28. (h) Chezal, J. M.; Delmas, G.; Mavel, S.; Elakmaoui, H.; M'etin, J.; Diez, A.; Blache, Y.; Gueiffier, A.; Rubiralta, M.; Teulade, J. C.; Chavignon, O., J. Org. Chem., 1997, 62, 4085. (i) Selzer, R. R.; Elfarra, A. A., Chem. Res. Toxicol., 1996, 9, 875. (j) Laskos, E.; Lianis, P. S.; Rodios, N. A.; Terzis, A.; Raptopoulou, C. P., Tetrahedron Lett., 1995, 36, 5637. (k) Pazdera, P.; Pichler, J., Chem. Papers, 1991, 45, 517. (1) Fanghaenel, E.; Kordts, B.; Richter, A. M.; Dutschmann, K., J. Prakt. Chem., 1990, 332, 387. (m) Raj, T. T.; Ambekar, S. Y., J. Indian Chem. Soc., 1990, 67, 260. (n) Moderhack, D.; Goos, K. H.; Preu, L., Chem. Ber., 1990, 123, 1575. (o) L'Abbe, G.; Vanderstede, E., J. Heterocycl. Chem., 1989, 26, 1811. (p) Wamhoff, H.; Wambach, W., Chem.-Zeitung, 1989, 113, 11. (q) Spitzner, R.; Andersch, J.; Schroth, W., Liebigs Annalen Chem., 1989, 931. (r) L'Abbe, G.; Meutermans, W.; Van Meervelt, L.; King, G. S. D.; Lenstra, A. T. H., Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg., 1988, 97, 179 (s) Bischoff, C.; Schroeder, E., J. Prakt. Chem., 1988, 330, 289. (t) Dzurilla, M.; Kutschy, P.; Koscik, D., Coll. Czech. Chem. Commun., 1987, 52, 2260. (u) Fujii, T.; Saito, T.; Terahara, N., *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, **1986**, *34*, 1094. (v) Leiby, R. W.; Corley, E. G.; Heindel, N. D., *J. Org. Chem.*, **1978**, *43*, 3427. (w) Brown, D. J.; Lenega, K., *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I*, **1974**, 372. (x) Gilchrist, T. L.; Gymer, G. E., *Adv. Heterocycl. Chem.*, **1974**, *16*, 33 (y) Potos, K. T.; Kane, J., *J. Org. Chem.*, **1974**, *39*, 3783 (z) Begtrup, M., *Acta Chem. Scand.*, **1972**, *26*, 1243.

- 24. (a) Riemer, B.; Hassoun, A.; Liebscher, J.; Jones, P. G.; Chrapkowski, A., J. Heterocycl. Chem., 1993, 30, 1607 (b) Hirota, K.; Ni, P. Z.; Suzuki, A.; Takasu, H.; Kitade, Y.; Maki, Y., Chem. Pharm. Bull., 1992, 40, 2839 (c)Vaughan, K.; LaFrance, R. J.; Tang,Y.; Hooper,D. L., J. Heterocycl. Chem., 1991, 28, 1709 (d) Tittelbach, F., J. Prakt. Chem., 1991, 333, 107 (e) Fujii, T.; Saito, T.; Hisata, H.; Shinbo, K., Chem. Pharm. Bull., 1990, 38, 3326 (f) Fujii, T.; Saito, T.; Sori, S., Chem. Pharm. Bull., 1990, 38, 2591 (g) Leistner, S.; Guetschow, M.; Stach, J., Arch. Pharm., 1990, 323, 857 (h) Liebscher, J.; Hassoun, A.; van der Plas, H.; Stam, C., J. Heterocycl. Chem., 1990, 27, 1441 (i) Wahren, M., Z. Chem., 1969, 9, 241. j) Macon, J. B.; Wolfenden, R., Biochemistry, 1968, 7, 3453 (k) Goerdeler, J.; Gnad, G., Ber., 1966, 99, 1618 (l) Brown, d. J.; Harper, J. S., J. Chem. Soc., 1963, 1276 (m) Grout, R. J.; Partridge, M.W., J. Chem. Soc., 1960, 3540.
- Cocco, M. T.; Congiu, C.; Onnis, V.; Morelli, M.; Felipo, V.; Cauli, O. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry, 2004, 12 (15), 4169.
- 26. (a) Harris, S. A.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Odom, A. L. *Inorg. Chem.* 2001, 40, 1987. (b) Shi, Y.; Hall, C.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Cao, C.; Odom, A. L. *Chem. Commun.* 2003, 586.
- 27. Gokel, G. W.; Widera, R. P.; Weber, W. P. Org. Synth. 1976, 55, 96.

CHAPTER 6. SUBSTITUTED QUINOLINES AS NON-COMPETETIVE INHIBITION OF THE HUMAN PROTEASOME

6.1 Introduction

Quinolines are benzo-fused pyridine heterocyclic compounds, and they are also known as 1-azanaphthalenes or 1-benzazines.¹ A large number of substituted quinoline derivatives are known to possess antimalarial (Chloroquine and Primaquine), antimicrobial, antitumor, antifungal, hypotensive, anti HIV (γ -Fagarine), analgesics and anti-inflamatory activities (**Figure 6.1**).² They are also found in photonic materials³ and redox switches.⁴



Figure 6.1 Structures of bioactive quinolines

Skraup reported the first substituted quinoline synthesis⁵ in 1882 by reaction of aniline and acrolein in the presence of catalytic sulfuric acid. There after, several conventional named reactions were introduced for the synthesis of the quinoline core structure. These condensations of substituted anilines with various carbonyl compounds include the Doebner-Von Miller,⁶ Conrad–Limpach,⁷ Friedlander,⁸ Pfitzinger,⁹ Combes,¹⁰ Camps,¹¹ Povarov,¹² and Knorr reactions.¹³ However in recent years, research have mainly focused on transition metal-catalyzed reactions due to their mild conditions and high degrees of chemo-, regio-, and even stereoselectvity.¹⁴ Many transition metal catalyzed reactions have been developed for the synthesis of substituted quinolines. For example, several ruthenium,¹⁵ rhodium,¹⁶ palladium,¹⁷ and iron¹⁸ complexes have been shown to catalyze the formation of 2,3-substituted quinolines from nitrobenzene and aldehydes or alcohols in the presence of CO gas.



Scheme 6.1 Quinoline synthesis using titanium-catalyzed multicomponent coupling

In 2009, our group demonstrated that a variety of substituted quinolines can be prepared in a one-pot fashion.¹⁹ This methodology uses a titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling of an alkyne, isonitrile, and aromatic amine to generate unsymmetrical 1,3-diimine tautomers, followed by treatment with acetic acid, provides substituted quinolines in a one-pot procedure (**Scheme 6.1**). This methodology can also be applied to the synthesis of benzoquinolines and unique heterocyclic structures, which could be difficult to access using traditional organic synthetic methods. In order to maintain regulation of intercellular processes and biological homeostasis, the 26S proteasome is responsible for ubiquitylated protein degradation. Proteasomes are present in all mammalian cells²⁰ and they are the main non-lysosomal body within the cells. The functionally active 26S proteasome is a very large 2.4 MDa ATP-dependent proteolytic complex.²¹ The core structure of the proteasome is the cylindrical 20S particle consisting of four stacked rings (α - and β -rings), each consisting of seven different subunits, which host the catalytic centers. Both ends of the 20S segment are capped with 19S regulatory units containing polyubiquitin-binding sites for recognition.²² The 20S catalytic core is a threonine protease that exhibits three distinct proteolytic activities: chymotrypsin like (CT-L), trypsin-like (T-L) and caspase like (Casp-L) activity.²³ The proteasome is involved in numerous cell processes, including cell cycle progression, transcriptional regulation,²⁴ stress response²⁵ and in regulation of apoptosis.²⁷

Therefore, inhibition of the proteasome has been identified as key target for various cancers such as multiple myeloma (MM).²⁸ Over the last decade several proteasome inhibitors have been developed, and they are currently at various stages of clinical development, these inhibitors fall in structurally diverse classes of organic compounds, including epoxyketones (epoxymicin),²⁹ cyclic peptides,³⁰ β -lactones,³¹ vinyl sulfones,³² peptide aldehydes³³ and boronic acids (e.g. bortezomib formerly known as PS-341).³⁴ The FDA approved, peptide-based proteasome inhibitors such as bortezomib and carfizomib significantly improve the clinical

outcome of patients with MM and Mantle Cell Lymphoma (MCL),²⁸ even though these peptide based inhibitors exhibit inherent toxicity and cross-resistance.³⁵



Figure 6.2 Structures of non-competitive proteasome inhibitors

In 2010 Lawrence and co-workers discovered and developed hydrophthoquinone derivates (**PI-083**) as novel class of proteasome inhibitors, which demonstrated selectivity for cancer cells over non-transformed cells (**Figure 6.2**).³⁶ Schimmer co-workers (2010) reported **5**-**AHQ** (5-amino-8-hydroxyquinoline), a quinoline-based compound which inhibited proteasome noncompetitively.³⁷ These substituted quinoline based inhibitors present new strategies for inhibition of the human proteasome and a potential lead for a new class of small molecule therapeutic agents for cancer treatment

In this study, a small library of substituted quinolines was prepared by one pot titanium catalyzed multicomponent coupling reactions (**Table 6.1**) and was tested for its ability to inhibit the chymotryptic activity of the purified 20S human proteasome. I acknowledge Mrs. Lauren Azevedo in Professor Tepe's laboratory for conducting proteasome inhibition studies.

6.2 Results and Discussion

The titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling (3CC) reactions that generate tautomers of 1,3-diimines, prepared from aromatic amines, can be used as direct precursors for substituted quinolines and related heterocycles in a one-pot procedure simply by adding acetic acid to the multicomponent coupling product (**Scheme 6.2**).

Two titanium catalysts Ti(dpma)(NMe₂)₂ (**1**), and Ti(dpm)(NMe₂)₂ (**2**) were employed for these studies. They can be prepared (refer to chapter 3) in a single step by reacting the ancillary ligands with commertially available Ti(NMe₂)₄. The proposed catalytic cycle involved in the synthesis of the 3CC product (discussed in chapter 3) is based on the mechanism for catalytic hydroamination.



Scheme 6.2 Possible mechanisms for quinoline synthesis

The cyclization of the multicomponent coupling product involves Brönsted acidcatalyzed intramolecular attack on the pendant aromatic ring (**Scheme 6.2**), followed by the loss of *tert*-butylamine in the aromatization of the nitrogen heterocycles.³⁸ This proposed mechanism is similar to the Povarov reaction.³⁹ Using this novel methodology, the 4-position of the substituted quinoline product will be unsubstituted.

Amine	Alkyne	Product	Isolated yield	Compound ID
NH ₂			28% ^a	AD100
NH ₂			42% ^a	AD102
NH ₂			55% ^a	AD104
NH ₂	<hr/>		68% ^a	AD049
			68% ^a	AD108
NH ₂			62% ^a	AD112
			52% ^a	AD113

 Table 6.1 Examples of quinoline syntheses (Scheme 6.1)

Table 6.1 (cont'd)

			Isolated	Compound
Amine	ine Alkyne Product		yield	ID
NH2			37% ^a	AD114
CI CI			45% ^a	AD115
Br Br		Br N	32% ^a	AD116
N-{-NH2			44% ^a	AD117
F-		F. N	15% ^a	AD118
0			43% ^a	AD119

^a Reactions carried out with arylamine, alkyne, and *tert*-butylisonitrile in a 1:1:1.5 ratio with 10 mol % catalyst (**2**) at 100 $^{\circ}$ C for 48 h. Once the 3CC is complete, product was heated at 150 $^{\circ}$ C in acetic acid (2 mL) for 18 h.

The ability of the substituted quinolines to inhibit CT-L activity of purified human 20S proteasome was determined in vitro using a fluorogenic peptide as substrate, Suc-LLVY-AMC.⁴⁰ The rates of hydrolysis were monitored by fluorescence increase at 37 $^{\circ}$ C over 30 minutes, and the linear portion of the curves were used to calculate the IC₅₀ values. The activities of the quinolines are listed in **Table 6.2**.



Figure 6.3 Structure of substituted quinolines

Our initial study focused on the commercially available, 2-methylquinoline (**AD110**) and 3-methylquinoline (**AD111**), which did not show any proteasome inhibition activity (**Table 6.1**). Incorporation of methyl groups in the 5- and 7-position (**AD104**) provided a compound with modest inhibition of proteasome activity (IC₅₀ = 12.3 μ M). The addition of another methyl

group in the 2-position (R₁) improved activity as illustrated by compound **AD039** (IC₅₀ = 8.5 μ M). Interestingly, partially hydrogenated cyclohexene (**AD043**), yielded a new lead compound for proteasome inhibition (IC₅₀ = 5.4 μ M) and replacement of the partially hydrogenated cyclohexene to the fully hydrogenated cyclohexane ring (**AD109**), diminishes all proteasome inhibition activity (**Equation 6.1**).



Equation 6.1 Synthesis of 3-cyclohexyl-2,5,7-trimethylquinoline (AD109)

Entry	Compound number	R ₁	R ₂	R ₃	R ₄	R ₅	IC ₅₀ (μM)
1	AD110	CH ₃	Н	Н	Н	Н	>25 ^a
2	AD111	Н	CH ₃	Н	Н	Н	>25 ^a
3	AD104	Н	300 V	CH ₃	Н	CH ₃	12.3 ^a
4	AD039	CH3	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	CH3	Н	CH ₃	8.5 ^a
5	AD043	CH3	32	CH3	Н	CH3	5.4 ^a
6	AD109	CH3	5. 5. 2.	CH ₃	Н	CH3	>25 ^a
7	AD100	CH3	322	Н	Н	Н	>25 ^a
8	AD102	Н	32	CH3	Н	CH3	>25 ^a
9	AD112	CH ₂ CH ₃	3.2	CH3	Н	CH ₃	>25 ^a
10	AD115	CH ₃	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	Cl	Н	Cl	>25 ^a
11	AD116	CH ₃	322	Br	Н	Br	>25 ^a

Table 6.2 Structure and IC_{50} values of substituted quinolines

Table 6.2 (cont'd)

Entry	Compound number	R ₁	R ₂	R ₃	R ₄	R5	IC ₅₀ (μM)
12	AD113	CH ₃	322	Н	CH ₃	Н	8.4 ^a
13	AD108	CH3	3.2.V	Н	CH3	Н	19.7 ^a
14	AD119	CH3	3.2.V	Н	OCH ₃	Н	>25 ^a
15	AD118	CH3	3.2.V	Н	F	Н	>25 ^a
16	AD117	CH ₃	· vv	Н	N(CH ₃) ₂	Н	5.4 ^a
17	AD120	CH ₃	322	Н	N N	Н	17.3 ^a
18	AD121	CH ₃	570°	Н	N N	Н	10.1 ^a
19	AD114					>25 ^a	

^a The ability of the substituted quinolines to inhibit CT-L activity of purified human 20S proteasome was determined in vitro using a fluorogenic peptide as substrate, Suc-LLVY-AMC.

Table 6.2 (cont'd)

The rates of hydrolysis were monitored by fluorescence increase at 37 $^{\circ}$ C over 30 minutes, and the linear portion of the curves were used to calculate the IC₅₀ values

Replacement of the cyclohexene, with an isopropenyl group and R_1 with an ethyl group (AD112), results an inactive quinoline compound, indicating the significance of the cyclohexene moiety of the substituted quinoline substrates for the proteasome inhibition activity. Eliminating either the R_1 or R_3 and R_5 methyl groups, also results inactive compounds (AD100 and AD102, respectively), indicating the need of hydrophobic groups in these domains. This was further confirmed by replacing the methyl groups with halogens, which also reduced overall proteasome inhibition activity (AD115 and AD116). Also further functionalization of the R_4 -position followed a similar trend, where methylation (AD113) resulted in modest activity (IC₅₀ = 8.4 μ M). Replacement of R_5 position with naphthyl group (AD114) derivative results no proteasome inhibition activity.

Consistent with the drop of activity seen between the R_2 = phenyl (**AD039**) and R_2 = cyclohexene derivative (**AD043**), the derivative **AD108** was significantly less active than its cyclohexene counterpart (**AD113**). Incorporation of electron donating (**AD119**) or electron withdrawing (**AD118**) moieties in the R_4 position did not restore activity compared to the R_4 = H (**AD102**); however, dimethyl amino analogue **AD117**, mimicked the activity seen in dimethyl derivative **AD043**. Considering the lack of proteasome inhibition activity of **AD118** and **AD119**,

this restoration of inhibition activity is most likely due to positioning of the two methyl groups of dimethylamine **AD117** in two hydrophobic binding pockets, rather than a possible hydrogen bond accepting role.



Scheme 6.3 Synthesis of 4-(3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-methylquinolin-6-yl)morpholine (AD120) and 3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-methyl-6-(piperidin-1-yl)quinoline (AD121)

Considering the apparent requirement of the alkyl groups in the R₃ and R₅ position in **AD043**, it is likely that the two methyl groups on dimethylamine **AD117** occupy similar pockets given the close special proximity to the R₃ and R₅ position. Lastly, substituted quinolines **AD120** and **AD121** was prepared by Buchwald–Hartwig amination of 6-bromo-3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-methylquinoline to substitute R₄ position with morpholine and piperidine moieties (Scheme **6.3**). These novel R₄ substituted quinolines results modest proteasome inhibition activity (IC₅₀ = 17.3μ M and IC₅₀ = 10.1μ M respectively).

From the screened substituted quinolines, the most active substituted quinoline **AD043** was subsequently evaluated for its inhibition of the proteasome's tryptic and caspase activity *in vitro* using purified human 20S proteasome and the following fluorogenic peptide as substrates: Boc-LRR-AMC (substrate for T-L activity) and Z-LLE-AMC (substrate for casp-L activity). According to the data, the substituted quinoline **AD043** inhibits the casp-L but not the tryptic-L activities of the 20S catalytic core (IC₅₀ = 17.7 μ M and IC₅₀ >25 μ M respectively).

6.3 Conclusion

Titanium-catalyzed 3-component coupling of primary amine, alkyne, and isonitrile followed by treatment with acetic acid provides quinolines in a one-pot procedure. This methodology has significant flexibility in the types of substituted quinolines that can be accessed. The yields are generally modest, but the products are readily isolated using either column chromatography or crystallization. Reactions with terminal alkynes can be accomplished with the milder Ti(dpma)(NMe₂)₂ (1) as catalyst. The more active dipyrrolylmethane catalyst, Ti(dpm)(NMe₂)₂ (2), was used for internal alkynes.

In conclusion, our SAR quinoline studies suggest that the 2-position (R₁) substituted with cyclohexene is important for the human proteasome inhibition action. Quinoline **AD043** was found to be the most active analogue in this series and inhibited the chymotryptic activity of the 20S proteasome with an $IC_{50} = 5.4 \mu M$. Hydrophobic groups are also need in the R₃ and R₅ (methyl groups) positions. However, dimethyl amino analogue **AD117**, mimicked the activity seen in dimethyl derivative **AD043**. Further studies show substituted quinoline **AD043** inhibits the casp-L activities of the 20S catalytic core ($IC_{50} = 17.7 \mu M$).

Currently, further optimization of this new substituted quinoline template is currently ongoing in our laboratories.

6.4 Experimental

General Considerations: All manipulations of air sensitive compounds were carried out in an MBraun drybox under a purified nitrogen atmosphere. Toluene was purified by sparging with dry N₂ and removing water by running through activated alumina systems purchased from Solv-Tek. ¹H and ¹³C spectra were recorded on Varian VXR-500 spectrometers. Ti(dpma)(NMe₂)₂ (1), and Ti(dpm)(NMe₂)₂ (2) was made following the literature procedure. ⁴¹ Alkynes were purchased either from Aldrich or from GFS chemicals and dried from CaO under dry nitrogen. Amines were purchased from Aldrich, dried over KOH and distilled under dry nitrogen. Palladium(II) acetate, potassium *tert*-butoxide and 2-(dicyclohexylphosphino)biphenyl (97%) were also purchased from Aldrich and used as received. 2-methylquinoline (AD110) and 3-methylquinoline (AD111) were purchased from TCI America. *tert*-Butylisonitrile was made according to the literature procedure and purified by distillation under nitrogen.

General Procedure for Quinoline Synthesis: In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst (10-20 mol%) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with arylamine (1 mmol), alkyne (1 mmol), and isonitrile (1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated at the temperature listed for the time given with stirring. After completion of the reaction (checked by GC-FID), the pressure tube was cooled to room temperature and volatiles were removed in vacuo. Then the same pressure tube was charged with glacial acetic acid (2 mL) and heated to 150 $^{\circ}$ C for 24 h.

The reaction mixture was cooled to room temperature, diluted with CH2Cl2, and neutralized with

saturated NaHCO₃ solution. The organic layer was washed with water, dried over Na₂SO₄, and concentrated on a rotary evaporator. The crude product was purified by column chromatography as described.

Preparation and Characterization of Compounds in Table 6.1



3-cyclohexenyl-2,5,7-trimethylquinoline (AD043): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 3,5-dimethylaniline (121 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(prop-1-ynyl)cyclohex-1-ene (120 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 °C for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (100 mg, 40%) as a bright red viscous liquid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.70-1.72 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.70-1.79 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.18-2.19 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.20-2.24 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.46 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.59 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.64 (3 H, s, CH₃), 5.67 (1 H, m, CH), 7.10 (1 H, s, Ar-H), 7.61(1 H, s, Ar-H), 7.84 (1 H, s, 4CH). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 18.4, 21.7, 22.0, 23.0, 23.5, 25.4, 30.2, 124.1, 125.6, 127.2, 128.4, 130.7, 133.6, 136.9, 137.7, 138.4, 147.2, 156.8. MS (EI): *m/z* 251 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: found: %C, 85.94; % H, 8.45; %N, 5.61; expected: %C, 86.01; %H, 8.42; %N, 5.57.



3-cyclohexenyl-2-methylquinoline (AD100): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with aniline (92 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(prop-1-ynyl)cyclohex-1-ene (120 mg, 1 mmol) and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 °C for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (60 mg, 28%) as a yellow liquid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.68-1.72 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.76-1.80 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.17-2.23 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.23-2.26 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.67 (3 H, s, CH₃), 5.67-5.68 (1 H, m, CH), 7.40-7.43 (1 H, m, Ar-H), 7.58-7.61 (1 H, m, Ar-H), 7.69-7.71 (1 H, d, J = 8.5 Hz, Ar-H), 7.75 (1 H, s, 4CH), 7.96-7.98 (1 H, d, J = 8.5 Hz, Ar-H). ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.9, 22.9, 23.7, 25.4, 30.1, 125.6, 126.9, 127.1, 127.4, 128.2, 128.7, 134.3, 137.3, 138.1, 146.6, 157.6. MS (EI): *m/z* 223 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 86.12; %H, 7.60; %N, 6.28; Expected: %C, 86.06; %H, 7.67; %N, 6.27.



3-cyclohexenyl-5,7-dimethylquinoline (AD102): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 3,5-dimethylaniline (121 mg, 1 mmol), 1-ethynylcyclohexene (106 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 °C for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (99 mg, 42%) as a pale yellow solid M.p.: 58-59 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.69-1.71 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.82-1.84 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.26-2.28 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.47 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.48-2.52 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.63 (3 H, s, CH₃), 6.29-6.30 (1 H, m, CH), 7.17 (1 H, s, Ar-H), 7.66 (1 H, s, 4CH), 8.07-8.08 (1 H, d, J = 2 Hz, Ar-*H*), 8.94-8.95 (1 H, d, J = 2 Hz, Ar-*H*), ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 18.6, 21.7, 21.9, 22.9, 26.0, 27.3, 125.2, 126.1, 126.8, 126.9, 128.3, 129.5, 129.6, 133.9, 134.1, 134.3, 148.1. MS (EI): m/z 237 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 86.22; %H, 7.96; %N, 5.82; Expected: %C, 86.03; %H, 8.07; %N, 5.90.



5,7-dimethyl-3-phenylquinoline (AD104): In a N2 filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 3,5-dimethylaniline (121 mg, 1 mmol), phenylacetylene (102 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 24 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 $^\circ C$ for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (128 mg, 55%) as a pale yellow solid. M.p.: 76-78 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.51 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.68 (3 H, s, CH₃), 7.23 (1 H, s, 6CH), 7.39-7.42 (1 H, m, Ar-H), 7.48-7.52 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.68-7.70 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.74 (1 H, s, 8C*H*), 8.36-8.37 (1 H, d, 2 Hz, 4C*H*), 9.10 (1 H, d, 2 Hz, 2C*H*). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 18.5, 21.8, 125.3, 126.4, 127.4, 127.8, 129.1, 129.6, 129.8, 132.6, 134.2, 138.4, 139.3, 147.9, 149.3. MS (EI): *m/z* 233 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 87.42; %H, 6.52; %N, 6.06; Expected: %C, 87.52; %H, 6.48; %N, 6.00.



2,5,7-trimethyl-3-phenylquinoline (AD049): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 3,5-dimethylaniline (121 mg, 1 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 °C for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (170 mg, 68%) as a pale yellow solid. M.p.: 79-80 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.50 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.59 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.63 (3 H, s, 2CH₃), 7.15 (1 H, s, 6CH), 7.38-7.41 (3 H, m, Ar-H), 7.44-7.47 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.69 (1 H, s, 8CH), 8.02 (1 H, s, 4CH). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 18.4, 21.8., 24.3, 124.1, 125.6, 127.3, 128.3, 128.8, 129.3, 132.5, 133.9, 134.3, 139.1, 140.4, 147.5, 156.5. MS (EI): *m/z* 247 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 87.42; %H, 6.99; %N, 5.59; Expected: %C, 87.41; %H, 6.93; %N, 5.66.



3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2,6-dimethylquinoline (AD113): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 4-methylaniline (107 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(prop-1ynyl)cyclohex-1-ene (120 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 °C for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (123 mg, 52%) as a brown oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.68-1.72 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.75-1.78 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.17-2.20 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.22-2.24 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.46 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.64 (3 H, s, CH₃), 5.65-5.67 (1 H, m, CH), 7.42-7.45 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.66 (1 H, s, Ar-*H*), 7.85-7.86 (1 H, d, J = 8.5 Hz, Ar-*H*), ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.4, 22.0, 22.9, 23.6, 25.4, 30.1, 126.0, 126.9, 127.3, 127.9, 130.9, 133.7, 135.3, 137.4, 138.1, 145.3, 156.6. MS (EI): m/z 237 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 86.04; %H, 8.09; %N, 5.87; Expected: %C, 86.03; %H, 8.07; %N, 5.90.



2,6-dimethyl-3-phenylquinoline (AD108): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 4-methylaniline (107 mg, 1 mmol), 1-phenylpropyne (116 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 $^\circ C$ for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (158 mg, 68%) as a pale yellow solid. M.p.: 80-81 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 2.50 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.63 (3 H, s, CH₃), 7.37-7.39 (3 H, m, Ar-H), 7.40-7.43 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.49-7.51 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.83 (1 H, s, 4CH), 7.94-7.96 (1 H, d, 2 Hz, Ar-H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.5, 24.4, 126.2, 126.7, 127.4, 128.0, 128.3, 129.1, 131.5, 135.4, 135.6, 135.7, 140.0, 145.6, 156.2. MS (EI): m/z 233 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 87.62; %H, 6.42; %N, 5.96; Expected: %C, 87.52; %H, 6.47; %N, 6.00.



2-ethyl-5,7-dimethyl-3-(prop-1-en-2-yl)quinoline (AD112): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 3,5-dimethylaniline (121 mg, 1 mmol), 2-methylhex-1-en-3yne (94 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 °C for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (158 mg, 62%) as a pale yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.34-1.37 (3 H, t, J = 7.5 Hz ,CH₃), 2.12 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.46 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.57 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.96-3.00 (2 H, q, J = 7.5 Hz, CH₂), 4.98-4.99 (1 H, d, 1 Hz, CH), 5.27-5.28 (1 H, d, 1 Hz, CH), 7.08 (1 H, s, 5CH), 7.67 (1 H, s, 3CH), 7.89 (1 H, s, 7CH), ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 14.1, 18.3, 21.6, 24.9, 29.1, 116.1, 123.8, 125.7, 128.4, 130.7, 133.5, 135.7, 138.4, 144.5, 147.5, 160.6. MS (EI): m/z 255 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 85.32; %H, 8.53; %N, 6.15; Expected: %C, 85.28; %H, 8.50; %N, 6.22.



3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-methylbenzo[h]quinoline (AD114): In a N2 filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with naphthalen-1-amine (143 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(prop-1ynyl)cyclohex-1-ene (120 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 °C for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (101 mg, 37%) as a pale yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.74-1.76 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.82-1.84 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.23-2.25 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.30-2.32 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.81 (3 H, s, CH₃), 5.74-5.75 (1 H, m, CH), 7.61-7.66 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.69-7.73 (2 H, m, Ar-H), 7.81 (1 H, s, Ar-H). 7.86-7.88 (1 H, d, 8 Hz, Ar-H), 9.33-9.35 (1 H, d, 8 Hz, Ar-H). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 22.0, 23.0, 23.8, 25.5, 30.0, 124.2, 124.5, 125.1, 126.6, 126.7, 127.3, 127.5, 127.6, 131.2, 133.4, 134.5, 137.4, 138.4, 144.4, 155.9. MS (EI): m/z 273 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 87.81; %H, 7.03; %N, 5.16; Expected: %C, 87.87; %H, 7.01; %N, 5.12.



5,7-dichloro-3-cyclohexenyl-2-methylquinoline (AD115): In a N_2 filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 3,5-dichloroaniline (160 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(prop-1ynyl)cyclohex-1-ene (120 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 °C for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (131 mg, 45%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 56-58 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.70-1.73 (2 H, m, C CH₂), 1.77-1.80 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.18-2.23 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.23-2.26 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.65 (3 H, s, CH₃), 5.69-5.71 (1 H, m, CH), 7.46-7.47 (1 H, d, J = 2 Hz Ar-*H*), 7.87-7.89 (1 H, m, J = 3 Hz Ar-*H*), 8.06 (1 H, s, Ar-*H*), ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.9, 22.8, 23.6, 25.4, 29.9, 123.6, 126.4, 126.7, 128.3, 130.9, 131.6, 133.6, 136.7, 139.3, 147.2, 159.9. MS (EI): *m/z* 292 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 65.81; %H, 5.20; %N, 4.72; Expected: %C, 65.77; %H, 5.17; %N, 4.79.



5,7-dibromo-3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-methylquinoline (AD116): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 3,5-dibromoroaniline (248 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(prop-1-ynyl)cyclohex-1-ene (120 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 °C for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (122 mg, 32%) as a yellow solid. M.p.: 89-90 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.71-1.73 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.78-1.80 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.20-2.23 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.24-2.26 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.66 (3 H, s, CH₃), 5.71-5.72 (1 H, m, CH), 7.80-7.81 (1 H, d, J = 2 Hz Ar-*H*), 8.01 (1 H, s, Ar-*H*), 8.11-8.12 (1 H, d, J = 1.5 Hz, Ar-*H*), ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.9, 22.8, 23.5, 25.4, 29.9, 121.8, 121.9, 125.2, 128.4, 130.7, 132.1, 133.5, 136.7, 139.8, 147.4, 159.9. MS (EI): *m/z* 381 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 50.51; %H, 3.93; %N, 3.64; Expected: %C, 50.43; %H, 3.97; %N, 3.68.



3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-N,N,2-trimethylquinolin-6-amine (AD117): In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with N¹,N¹-dimethylbenzene-1,4-diamine (136 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(prop-1-ynyl)cyclohex-1-ene (120 mg, 1 mmol), and *tert*-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 °C for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (117 mg, 44 %) as a brown solid. M.p.: 81-83 °C. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.72-1.74 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.75-1.73 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.22-2.24 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.23-2.29 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.64 (3 H, s, CH₃), 3.04 (6 H, s, N(CH₃)₂), 5.68-5.70 (1 H, m, CH), 6.78-6.79 (1 H, d, J = 3 Hz, Ar-H), 7.29-7.32 (1 H, dd, J = 3 Hz, 9 Hz, Ar-H), 7.63 (1 H, s, Ar-*H*), 7.86-7.88 (1 H, d, J = 9 Hz, Ar-*H*). ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H{}$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 22.1, 23.0, 23.2, 25.4, 30.1, 40.8, 105.2, 118.8, 126.8, 128.2, 128.8, 132.7, 137.7, 138.3, 140.8, 148.2, 153.1. MS (EI): m/z 266 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 81.14; %H, 8.40; %N, 10.46; Expected: %C, 81.16; %H, 8.32; %N, 10.52.



3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-6-fluoro-2-methylquinoline (AD118): In a N2 filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 4-fluoroaniline (111 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(prop-1-ynyl)cyclohex-1-ene (120 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 °C for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (38 mg, 15 %) as a brown oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.69-1.71 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.72-1.78 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.17-2.19 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.20-2.25 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.65 (3 H, s, CH₃), 5.67-5.68 (1 H, m, CH), 7.29-7.31 (1 H, dd, J = 3 Hz, 9 Hz, Ar-H), 7.34-7.38 (1 H, ddd, J = 3 Hz, 9 Hz, 9 Hz, Ar-H), 7.70 (1 H, s, Ar-H), 7.94-7.97 (1 H, dd, J = 5.5 Hz, 9.5 Hz, Ar-*H*). ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.9, 22.9, 23.5, 25.4, 30.0, 110.0 - 110.1 (d, J_{CF} = 21.2 Hz), 118.6 – 118.8 (d, J_{CF} = 25.6 Hz), 127.4 -127.5 (d, J_{CF} = 10 Hz), 127.7, 130.5 – 130.6 (d, $J_{CF} = 9.1 \text{ Hz}$), 113.7 – 133.8 (d, $J_{CF} = 5 \text{ Hz}$), 137.0, 138.9, 143.7, 157.0 – 157.1 (d, $J_{CF} = 5 \text{ Hz}$) 2.7 Hz), 159.1. ¹⁹F NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): - 115.0 (m), MS (EI): *m/z* 241 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 79.59; %H, 6.65; %N, 5.75; Expected: %C, 79.64; %H, 6.68; %N, 5.80.



3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2,6-dimethylquinoline (AD119): In a N2 filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 4-methoxyaniline (123 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(prop-1ynyl)cyclohex-1-ene (120 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 °C for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (108 mg, 43%) as a brown solid. M.p.: 50-52 $^{\rm o}C.$ 1H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.72-1.75 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.80-1.82 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.22-2.23 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.25-2.28 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.66 (3 H, s, CH₃), 3.89 (3 H, s, OCH₃), 5.69-5.70 (1 H, m, CH), 7.00-7.01 (1 H, d, J = 3 Hz, Ar-H), 7.27-7.30 (1 H, dd, J = 3 Hz, 9 Hz, Ar-H), 7.69 (1 H, s, Ar-H), 7.89-7.91 (1 H, d, J = 9 Hz, Ar-*H*). ${}^{13}C{}^{1}H$ NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 22.0, 22.9, 23.3, 25.4, 30.1, 55.4, 104.8, 121.1, 127.2, 127.7, 129.7, 133.4, 137.4, 138.4, 142.7, 154.9, 157.1. MS (EI): *m*/*z* 253 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 80.49; %H, 7.60; %N, 5.57; Expected: %C, 80.60; %H, 7.56; %N, 5.53.



3-cyclohexyl-2,5,7-trimethylquinoline (AD109): 3-cyclohexenyl-2,5,7-trimethylquinoline (60 mg, 0.024 mmol) was dissolved in 6 mL of ethanol and hydrogenated at low pressure over 100 mg of 10% palladium on carbon at room temperature (25 °C) for an hour.⁴³ Purification was accomplished by after separation of the catalyst by filtration through neutral alumina and removal of the ethanol under reduced pressure then column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes:ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (54 mg, 90%) as a pale white liquid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.42-1.49 (4 H, m, CH₂), 1.79-1.82 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.89-1.95 (4 H, m, CH₂) 2.46 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.61 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.73 (3 H, s, CH₃), 2.79-2.81 (1 H, m, CH), 7.10 (1 H, s, 4C*H*), 7.62 (1 H, s, 6C*H*), 7.96 (1 H, s, 8C*H*). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz):18.5, 22.8, 26.2, 27.1, 29.7, 33.9, 40.1, 124.7, 125.4, 128.1, 128.4, 128.5, 133.5, 138.2, 157.3. MS (EI): *m*/*z* 253 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 85.29; %H, 9.23; %N, 5.48; Expected: %C, 85.32; %H, 9.15; %N, 5.53.



6-bromo-3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-methylquinoline: In a N₂ filled glove box, a 40 mL pressure tube, equipped with a magnetic stirbar, containing catalyst 2 (30.8 mg, 0.10 mmol) in dry toluene (2 mL) was loaded with 4-bromoaniline (172 mg, 1 mmol), 1-(prop-1-ynyl)cyclohex-1-ene (120 mg, 1 mmol), and tert-butylisonitrile (171 µL, 1.5 mmol). The pressure tube was sealed with a Teflon screw cap, taken out of the dry box, and heated for 48 h at 100 °C in a silicone oil bath. Volatiles were removed in vacuo, and glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added. The mixture was heated to 150 °C for 24 h. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 9:1, which afforded the desired compound (132) mg, 44%) as a brown liquid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.69-1.71 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.77-1.80 (2 H, m, CH₂), 2.21-2.24 (4 H, m, CH₂), 2.64 (3 H, s, CH₃), 5.67-5.68 (1 H, m, CH), 7.65-7.67 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*), 7.82-7.86 (2 H, m, Ar-*H*). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 21.9, 22.9, 25.4, 28.6, 30.0, 127.9, 128.1, 128.3, 129.2, 129.6, 130.0, 132.2, 133.4, 136.8, 139.1, 158.3. MS (EI): *m/z* 302 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 63.50; %H, 5.29; %N, 4.68; Expected: %C, 63.59; %H, 5.34; %N, 4.63.


4-(3-(cvclohex-1-en-1-vl)-2-methylquinolin-6-vl)morpholine (AD120): A pressure tube was loaded with Pd(OAc)₂ (0.4 mg, 2 nmol), 2-(dicyclohexylphosphino)biphenyl (1.4 mg, 4 nmol %), and KO^tBu (53 mg, 48 mmol) under a nitrogen atmosphere. Anhydrous toluene was added, followed by 6-bromo-3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-methylquinoline (120 mg, 40 mmol) and morpholine (41 µl, 48 mmol). The tube was sealed, and then the mixture was stirred for 18 h at 110 °C.⁴⁴ After cooling, the mixture was diluted with dichloromethane (20 mL) and washed with water (20 mL) and then brine (20 mL). The organic phase was dried over MgSO₄, and then the solvent was removed invacuo. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 19:1, which afforded the desired compound (63 mg, 51%) as a viscous brown oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.68-1.78 (4 H, m, CH₂), 2.18-2.22 (4 H, m, CH₂), 2.62 (3 H, s, CH₃), 3.21-3.23 (4 H, m, NCH₂), 3.85-3.89 (4 H, m, OCH₂), 5.63-5.67 (1 H, m, CH), 6.94-6.95 (1 H, d, 2.5 Hz, Ar-H), 7.63 (1 H, s, Ar-H), 7.88-7.90 (2 H, d, 4.5 Hz, Ar-*H*), 8.00-8.02 (2 H, d, 4.5 Hz, Ar-*H*). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 22.0, 23.1, 25.4, 29.6, 30.1, 49.6, 66.8, 121.5, 127.2, 127.8, 128.2, 128.8, 129.6, 132.9, 133.5, 138.5, 148.8, 154.7. MS (EI): *m/z* 308 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 77.81; %H, 7.80; %N, 9.01; Expected: %C, 77.89; %H, 7.84; %N, 9.08.



3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-methyl-6-(piperidin-1-yl)quinoline (AD121): A pressure tube was loaded with Pd(OAc)₂ (0.3 mg, 1.6 nmol), 2-(dicyclohexylphosphino)biphenyl (1.1 mg, 3.3 nmol %), and KO^tBu (44 mg, 39 mmol) under a nitrogen atmosphere. Anhydrous toluene was added, followed by 6-bromo-3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2-methylquinoline (100 mg, 33 mmol) and piperidine (40 µl, 40 mmol). The tube was sealed, and then the mixture was stirred for 18 h at 110 °C.⁴⁴ After cooling, the mixture was diluted with dichloromethane (20 mL) and washed with water (20 mL) and then brine (20 mL). The organic phase was dried over MgSO₄, and then the solvent was removed in vacuo. Purification was accomplished by column chromatography on neutral alumina. The eluent was hexanes: ethyl acetate 19:1, which afforded the desired compound (42 mg, 42%) as a viscous brown oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz): 1.56-1.60 (2 H, m, CH₂), 1.61-1.78 (8 H, m, CH₂), 2.17-2.23 (4 H, m, CH₂), 2.61 (3 H, s, CH₃), 3.21-3.23 (4 H, m, NCH₂), 5.64-5.65 (1 H, m, CH), 6.94-6.95 (1 H, d, 2.5 Hz, Ar-H), 7.51-7.54 (1 H, m, Ar-H), 7.60 (1 H, s, Ar-*H*), 7.82-7.84 (2 H, d, 9.5 Hz, Ar-*H*). ¹³C{¹H} NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz): 22.0, 23.0, 23.2, 24.3, 25.4, 25.7, 30.1, 50.8, 128.3, 128.6, 129.6, 130.0, 132.9, 133.3, 137.6, 138.2, 149.7, 154.2, 166.5. MS (EI): *m/z* 306 (M⁺). Elemental Analysis: Found %C, 82.36; %H, 8.49; %N, 9.15; Expected: %C, 82.31; %H, 8.55; %N, 9.14.

20S Proteasomal Activity Measurement.

The fluorogenic substrates Suc-LLVY-AMC (substrate for CT-L activity), Boc-LRRAMC (substrate for T-L activity), and Z-LLE-AMC (substrate for Casp-L activity) were used to measure proteasome activity. Assays were carried out in black, clear-bottom 96-well plates in a 200 µL reaction volume containing 1 nM purified human 20S proteasome in 50 mM Tris-HCL pH 7.5 and 0.03% SDS containing fluorogenic substrate (at concentrations corresponding to their respective Km value) at 37 °C. The rate of cleavage of fluorogenic peptide substrates was determined by monitoring the fluorescence of released aminomethylcoumarin using a SpectraMax M5e multiwall plate reader at an excitation wavelength of 380 nm and emission wavelength of 460 nm. Fluorescence per minute was used to calculate specific activities of each sample.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- (a) Balasubramanian, M.; Keay, J. G. Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Katritzky, A. R.; Rees, C. W.; Scriven, E. F. V.; Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, UK, 1996; Vol. 5, 245. (b) Jones, G. Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry II; Katritzky, A. R.; Rees, C. W.; Scriven, E. F. V.; Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, UK, 1996; Vol. 5,167.
- (a) Akbari J.; Heydari A.; Kalhor H. R.; Kohan S. A. J. Comb. Chem. 2010, 12, 137. (b) Ray, S.; Madrid, P. B.; Catz, P.; LeValley, S. E.; Furniss, M. J.; Rausch, L. L.; Guy, R. K.; DeRisi, J. L.; Iyer, L. V.; Green, C. E.; Mirsalis, J. C. J. Med. Chem. 2010, 53, 3685.
 (c) Alguinaldo, A. M.; Dalangin-Mallari, V. M.; Macabeo, A. P. G.; Byrne, L. T.; Abe, F.; Yamauchi, T.; Franzblau, S. G. Int. J. Antimicrob. Ag. 2007, 29, 738. (d) Musiol, R.; Jampilek, J.; Kralova, K.; Richardson, D. R.; Kalinowski, D.; Podeszwa, B.; Finster, J.; Niedbala, H.; Palka, A.; Polanski, J. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2007, 15, 1280. (e) Michael, J. P. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2007, 24, 223.
- 3. Zhang, X.; Shetty, A. S.; Jeneckhe, S. A. Macromolecules 1999, 32, 7422.
- 4. Das, D.; Dai, Z.; Holmes, A.; Canary J. W. Chirality 2008, 20, 585.
- 5. Skraup, H. Chem. Ber. 1880, 13, 2086.
- 6. Denmark, S. E.; Venkatraman, S. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 1668.
- 7. Steck, E. A.; Hallock, L. L.; Holland, A. J.; Fletcher, L. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1948, 70, 1012.
- (a) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Premalatha, K. Synlett. 2004, 6, 963. (b) Strekowski, L.; Czarny, A.; Lee, H. J. Fluor. Chem. 2000, 104, 281. (c) Bailliez, V.; Kaim, L. E.; Michaut, V. Synth. Commun. 2004, 34, 109. (d) McNaughton, B. R.; Miller, B. L. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 4257.
- (a) Buu-Hoie, N. P.; Royer, R.; Xuong, N. D.; Jacquignon, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1953, 75, 1209. (b) Henze, H. R; Carroll, D. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1954, 76, 4580.
- 10. Born, J. L. J. Org. Chem. 1972, 37, 3952.
- 11. Jones, C. P.; Anderson, K. W.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 7968.
- 12. Twin, H.; Batey, R. A. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4913.
- 13. Hamann, L. G.; Mani, N. S.; Davis, R. L.; Wang, X.; Marschke, K. B.; Jones, T. K. J. Med. Chem. 1999, 42, 210.

- 14. (a) Zhu J.; Bienayme, H. Multicomponent Reactions, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2005. (b) Domling, A. Chem. Rev., 2006, 106, 17. (c) Domling, A.; Ugi, I. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2000, 39, 3168. (d) Tietze, L. F.; Brasche, G.; Gericke, K. M. Domino Reactions in Organic Synthesis, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2006. (e) Tietze, L. F.; Beifuss, U. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl., 1993, 32, 131. (f) Tietze, L. F. Chem. Rev., 1996, 96, 115. (g) Arya, P.; Chou, D. T. H.; Baek, M. G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2001, 40, 339. (h) Burke, M. D.; Berge, E. M.; Schreiber, S. L. Science, 2003, 302, 613. (i) Cox, B.; Denyer, J. C.; Binnie, A.; Donnelly, M. C.; Evans, B.; Green, D. V. S.; Lewis, J. A.; Mander, T. H.; Merritt, A. T.; Valler, M. J.; Watson, S. P. Prog. Med. Chem., 2000, 37, 83. (j) Schreiber, S. L. Science, 2000, 287, 1964. (k) Schreiber, S. L.; Burke, M. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2004**, 43, 46. (1) Armstrong, R. W.; Combs, A. P.; Tempest, P. A.; Brown, S. D.; Keating, T. A. Acc. Chem. Res. 1996, 29, 123. (m) Bienayme, H.; Hulme, C.; Oddon, G.; Schmitt, P. Chem. Eur. J., 2000, 6, 3321. (n) Posner, G. H. Chem. Rev., 1986, 86, 831. (o) Weber, L.; Illgen, K.; Almstetter, M. Synlett, 1999, 366. (p) Zhu, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 1133. (q) Kobayashi, S. Chem. Soc. Rev., 1999, 28, 1. (r) Zeni G.; Larock, R. C. Chem. Rev., 2004, 104, 2285. (s) Nakamura, I.; Yamamoto, Y. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 2127. (t) Lie, J. J.; Gribble, G. W. Palladium in Heterocyclic Chemistry, Pergamon Press, New York, 2000. (u) Kirsch, G.; Hesse, S.; Comel, A. Curr. Org. Synth., 2004, 1, 47. (v) Battistuzzi, G.; Cacchi, S.; Fabrizi, G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 2671.
- 15. (a) Watanabe, Y.; Tsuji, Y.; Ohsuji, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1981**, *22*,2667. (b) Watanabe, Y.; Tsuji, Y.; Ohsugi, Y.; Shida, J. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1983**, *56*, 2452.
- 16. (a) Watanabe, Y.; Suzuki, N.; Tsuji, Y.; Shim, S. C.; Mitsudo, T. Bull.Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1982, 55, 1116. (b) Watanabe, Y.; Shim, S. C.; Mitsudo, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1981, 54, 3460.
- 17. (a) Watanabe, Y.; Tsuji, Y.; Shida, J. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1984,57, 435. (b) Larock, R. C.; Hightower, T. R.; Hasvold, L. A.; Peterson, K. P.J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 3584.(c) Larock, R. C.; Kuo, M.-Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 572.
- 18. Watanabe, Y.; Takatsuki, K.; Shim, S. C.; Mitsudo, T.; Takegami, Y. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1978, 51, 3397.
- 19. Majumder, S.; Gipson, K. R.; Odom, A. L. Org. Lett., 2009, 11 (20), 4720.
- Brooks, P.; Fuertes, G.; Murray, R. Z.; Bose, S.; Knecht, E.; Rechsteiner, M. C.; Hendil, K. B.; Tanaka, K.; Dyson, J.; Rivett, J. *Biochem. J.* **2000**. 346. 155.
- (a) Goldberg, A. L.; Akopian, T. N.; Kisselev, A.F.; Lee, D. H.; Rohrwild, M. *Biol Chem*. **1997**. 378. 131. (b) Zwickl, P.; Baumeister, W.; Steven, A. *Curr Opin Struct Biol*. **2000**. 10. 242. (c) Ciechanover, A.; Orian, A.; Schwartz, A. L. *Bioessays*. **2000**. 22. 442.
- (a) Rentsch, A.; Landsberg, D.; Brodmann, T.; Leila B.; Girbig, A. K.; Kalesse. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 5450. (b) DeMartino, G. N.; Slaughter, C. A. J Biol Chem, 1999. 274. 22123. (c) Wu, J. Am J Transplant. 2002, 2. 904. (d) Cascio, P.; Call,

M.; Petre, M.; Walz, T.; Goldberg, A. L. *EMBO J.* **2002**. 21. 2636. (e) Shringarpure. R.; Grune, T.; Mehlhase, J.; Davies, K. J. *J Biol Chem.* **2003**. 278. 311. (f) Shringarpure. R.; Grune, T.; Davies, K. J. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* **2001**. 58. 1442.

- 23. (a) Ciechanover, A. *EMBO J.* 1998. 17, 7151. (b) DeMartino, G. N.; Slaughter, C. A. J. *Biol. Chem.* 1999. 274, 22123. (c) Kisselev, A. F.; Akopian, T. N.; Castillo, V.; Goldberg, A. L. *Mol. Cell.* 1999. 4, 395.
- 24. Palombella, V.J.; Rando, O. J.; Goldberg, A. L.; Maniatis, T. Cell. 1994.78, 773.
- 25. Wojcik, C. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 2002. 6. 25.
- 26. (a) Ciechanover, A. *EMBO J.* 1998. 17, 7151. (b) Hicke, L. A. *Cell.* 2001, 106, 527. (c) Goldberg, A. L. *Nature*. 2003. 426, 895. (d) Yang, Y.; Yu, X. *FASEB J.* 2003. 17, 790.
- 27. (a) DeSalle, L. M.; Pagano, M. FEBS Lett, 2001. 490. 179. (b) Coux, O.; Tanaka, K.; Goldberg, A. L. Annu Rev Biochem. 1996. 65, 801.
- 28. (a) Tsukamoto, S.; Yokosawa, H., *Expert Opin. Ther. Targets* **2009**, 13, 605. (b) Mahindra, A.; Laubach, J.; Raje, N.; Munshi, N.; Richardson, P. G.; Anderson, K., *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* **2012**, 9, 135. (c) Shah, J. J.; Orlowski, R. Z., *Leukemia* **2009**, 23, 1964.
- (a) Meng, H. L.; Mohan, R.; Kwok, B. H. B.; Elofsson, M.; Sin, N.; Crews, C. M. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 1999, 96, 10403. (b) Groll, M.; Kim, K. B.; Kairies, N.; Huber, R.; Crews, C. M. J. Am.Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 1237. (c) Sin, N.; Kim, K. B.; Elofsson, M.; Meng, H. L.; Auth, H.; Kwok, B. H. B.; Crews, C. M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1999, 9, 2283. (d) Wei, D. H.; Lei, B. L.; Tang, M. S.; Zhan, C. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 10436.
- (a) Sekizawa, R.; Momose, I.; Kinoshita, N.; Naganawa, H.; Hamada, M.; Muraoka, Y.; Iinuma, H.; Takeuchi, T. J. Antibiot. 2001, 54, 874. (b) Arndt, H. D.; Schoof, S.; Lu, J. Y. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 6770. (c) M. N. Aminake, M. N.; Schoof, S.; Sologub, L.; Leubner, M. Kirschner, M.: Arndt, H. D.; Pradel, G. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 2011, 55, 1338. (d) Schoof, S.; Pradel, G.; Aminake, M. N.; Ellinger, B.; Baumann, S.; Potowski, M.; Najajreh, Y.; Kirschner, M.; Arndt, H. D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 3317.
- (a) Hasegawa, M.; Kinoshita, K.; Nishimura, C.; Matsumura, U.; Shionyu, M.; Ikeda, S.; Mizukami, T. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2008, 18, 5668. (b) K. Yoshida, K.; Yamaguchi, K.; Mizuno, A.; Unno, Y.; Asai, A.; Sone, T.; Yokosawa, H.; Matsuda, M. Arisawa, M.; Shuto, S. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2009, 7, 1868. (c) Vanier, S. F.; Larouche, G.: Wurz, R. P.: Charette, A. B. *Org. Lett.* 2010, 12, 672. (d) Korotkov, V. S.; Ludwig, A.: Larionov, V. O.; Lygin, A. V.; Groll, M.; de Meijere, A. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2011, 9, 7791. (e) de Meijere, A.; V. S. Korotkov, V. S.; Lygin, A. V.; Larionov, O. V.; Sokolov, V. V.; Graef, T.; Es-Sayed, M. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2012, 10, 6363.
- (a) Bogyo, M.; McMaster, J. S.; Gaczynska, M.; Tortorella, D.; Goldberg, A. L.; Ploegh, H. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 1997, 94, 6629. (b) Nazif, T.; Bogyo, M. Proc. Natl.

Acad. Sci. USA. **2001**, 98, 2967. (c) H. S. Overkleeft, H. S.; Bos, P. R.; Hekking, B. G.; Gordon, E. J.; Ploegh, H. L.; Kessler, B. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, 41, 6005.

- (a) Kisselev, A. F.; Goldberg, A. L. Chem. Biol. 2001, 8, 739. (b) Myung, J.; Kim, K. B.; Crews, C.M. Med. Res. Rev. 2001, 21, 245. (c) Braun, H. A.; Umbreen, S.; Groll, M.; Kuckelkorn, U.; Mlynarczuk, M.; Wigand, M. E.; Drung, I.; Kloetzel, P. M.; Schmidt, B. J. Biol. Chem. 2005, 280, 28394. (d) Hines, J.; Groll, M.; Fahnestock, M.; Crews, C. M.; Chem. Biol. 2008, 15, 501. (e) Lin, G.; Li, D. Y.; Chidawanyika, T.; Nathan, C.; Li, H.L. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 2010, 501, 214. (f) Shigemori, H.; Wakuri, S.; Yazawa, K.; Nakamura, T.; Sasaki, T.; Kobayashi, J. Tetrahedron. 1991, 47, 8529.
- 34. (a) Li, X.; Wood, T. E.; Sprangers, R.; Jansen, G.; Franke, N. E.; Mao, X.; Wang, X.; Zhang, Y.; Verbrugge, S. E.; Adomat, H.; Li, Z. H.; Trudel, S.; Chen, C.; Religa, T. L.; Jamal, N.; Messner, H.; Cloos, J.; Rose, D. R.; Ami Navon, A.; Guns, E.; Batey, R. A.; Kay, L. E.; Schimmer, A. D. *JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst.* **2010**. 102 (14). 1069. (b) Groll, M.; Berkers, C. R.; Ploegh, H. L.; Ovaa, H. *Structure*. **2006**, 14, 451.
- 35. Bang, S. M.; Lee, J. H.; Yoon, S. S.; Park, S.; Min, C. K.; Kim, C. C.; Suh, C.; Sohn, S. K.; Min, Y. H.; Lee, J. J.; Kim, K.; Seong, C. M.; Yoon, H. J.; Cho, K. S.; Jo, D. Y.; Lee, K. H.; Lee, N. R.; Kim, C. S., *Int. J. Hematol.* **2006**, 83, 309.
- 36. Lawrence, H. R.; Kazi, A.; Luo, Y.; Kendig, R.; Ge, Y.; Jain, S.; Daniel, K.; Santiago, D.; Guida, W. C.; Sebti, S. M., *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2010**, 18, 5576.
- 37. Li, X.; Wood, T. E.; Sprangers, R.; Jansen, G.; Franke, N. E.; Mao, X.; Wang, X.; Zhang, Y.; Verbrugge, S. E.; Adomat, H.; Li, Z. H.; Trudel, S.; Chen, C.; Religa, T. L.; Jamal, N.; Messner, H.; Cloos, J.; Rose, D. R.; Navon, A.; Guns, E.; Batey, R. A.; Kay, L. E.; Schimmer, A. D., *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* **2010**, 102, 1069.
- 38. Barluenga, J.; Cuervo, H.; Fustero, S.; Gotor, V. Synthesis, 1987, 82.
- (a) Povarov, L. S.; Mikhailov, B. M.; Izv. Akad. Nauk SSR, Ser. Khim. 1963, 953. (b) Povarov, L. S.; Grigos, V. I.; Mikhailov, B. M. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSR, Ser. Khim. 1963, 2039. (c) Povarov, L. S. *Russian Chem. Rev.* 1967, 36, 656.
- 40. Gaczynska, M.; Osmulski, P. A., Methods Mol. Biol. 2005, 301, 3.
- 41. (a) Shi, Y.; Hall, C.; Ciszewski, J. T.; Cao, C.; Odom, A. L. Chem. Commun. 2003, 586.
 (b) Novak, A.; Blake, A. J.; Wilson, C.; Love, J. B. Chem. Commun. 2002, 23, 2796.
- 42. Gokel, G. W.; Widera, R. P.; Weber, W. P. Org. Synth. 1976, 55, 96.
- 43. Cox, S. H.; Kline, G. B. J. Org. Chem., 1961, 26 (6), 1854.
- 44. Smith, J. A.; Jones, R. K.; Booker, G. W.; Pyke, S. M. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 8880.